
 

C

7:00

CITY

Tu

 

6:30

0pm UR

R
 

Y CO

esda
She

2256
Sh

  

0pm C

RA Boa

Regula
(Immediat

OUN
PA

ay, O
erwoo
60 SW
erwo

City Co

ard of 

ar City 
ely followi

 
 
 

 

NCIL
ACKE

 
FOR 

 

Octob
 

od Ci
W Pine
od, O

 
 

uncil W
 

Direct
 

Counc
ing the UR

 

L ME
ET 

ber 4,
ty Ha
e Stre

Orego

Work S

tors Re

cil Mee
RA Board M

EETI

, 201
all 
eet 
n 

Sessio

egular 

eting 
Meeting) 

NG

1 

on 

Meetinng 



 

City Council Agenda                                                                                                                                                        
October 4, 2011 
Page 1 of 2 

 
 
6:30PM CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 
 
 
7:00PM URA BOARD MEETING 
 
 
REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 

 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
 
3. ROLL CALL 
 
 
4. CONSENT: 

 
A. Approval of September 12, 2011 City Council Minutes 

 
B. Approval of September 20, 2011 City Council Minutes 

 
C. Resolution 2011-083 authorizing the City Manager Pro-Tem to sign a Leasing 

Agreement with Auto Leasing Specialists for the Leasing of Police Vehicles 
 

D. Resolution 2011-084 authorizing the City Manager to sign the 2011 IGA with 
Washington County for the purposes of continued participation in the Urban Area 
Security Initiative (UASI) 
 

E. Resolution 2011-085 authorizing the City Manager to enter into a contract with 
Environmental Science and Assessment, LLC (EA&A) for on-call Environmental 
Engineering Services 
 
 

5. PRESENTATIONS 
 
A. Eagle Scout Recognition 
B. Proclamation, Oregon Day of Culture 
C. Sherwood Library Survey Summary Presentation (Pam North, Library Manager) 
 
 

6. CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
SHERWOOD CITY COUNCIL 

October 4, 2011 
 
 

6:30pm City Council Work Session 
 

7:00pm URA Board Regular Session 
 

Regular City Council Meeting 
(Immediately following the  

URA Board Meeting) 
 

Sherwood City Hall 
22560 Pine Street 

Sherwood, OR  97140 
  

1



 

City Council Agenda                                                                                                                                                        
October 4, 2011 
Page 2 of 2 

7. NEW BUSINESS 
 

A. Resolution 2011-086 Resolution for City Manager Pro Tem to receive Out of Class Pay 
(Jim Patterson, City Manager) 

 
 

8. PUBLIC HEARING 
 

A. Ordinance 2011-011 Amending multiple sections of the Zoning and Community 
Development Code including Divisions III, V, VI, and VII 
(Michelle Miller, Associate Planner) (Continued from September 20, 2011) 
 

 
9. CITY MANAGER REPORT 

 
 

10. CITY MANAGER FAREWELL PRESENTATIONS 
 
(Farewell Reception to follow adjournment of meeting) 
 

11. ADJOURN 
 

 
How to Find Out What's on the Council Schedule: 
City Council meeting materials and agenda are posted to the City web page at www.sherwoodoregon.gov, by the Friday 
prior to a Council meeting. Council agendas are also posted at the Sherwood Library/City Hall, the YMCA, the Senior 
Center, and the City's bulletin board at Albertson’s. Council meeting materials are available to the public at the Library.   
 
To Schedule a Presentation before Council: 
If you would like to appear before Council, please submit your name, phone number, the subject of your presentation and 
the date you wish to appear to the City Recorder Sylvia Murphy by calling 503-625-4246 or by e-mail to: 
citycouncil@sherwoodoregon.gov 
  

2



City Council Min
September 12, 2
Page 1 of 2 

 
WORK SES

 
1. CALL T
 
2. COUNC

Folsom,
 
3. STAFF 

Sylvia M
 
4. TOPICS

 
A. I

f
f
 

5. ADJOU
Council 

 
 
REGULAR 

 
1. CALL T

 
2. COUNC

Robyn F
 

3. STAFF 
Hajduk a

 
4. NEW BU

 
A. R

A
 

Planning
 
Councilo
same co
 

nutes 
2011 

SSION 

TO ORDER: 

CIL PRESEN
 Bill Butterfie

AND LEGA
Murphy. City 

S DISCUSSE

nterim City
for a City M
followed. 

RNED: May
meeting. 

COUNCIL M

TO ORDER: 

CIL PRESEN
Folsom, Bill B

AND LEGA
and City Rec

USINESS: 

Resolution 2
Analysis Are

g Manager J

or Henderso
oncept idea a

SHE
22

Sep

Mayor Mays

NT: Mayor 
eld, Matt Lan

AL COUNS
Attorney Pa

ED:  

y Manager P
Manager Pro

yor Mays adj

MEETING 

Mayor Mays

NT: Mayor M
Butterfield, M

AL COUNSE
corder Sylvia

2011-076 Su
ea 5B) to the

Julia Hajduk 

on asked in 
as Area 59. 

RWOOD CI
2560 SW Pin
ptember 12,

s called the 

Keith Mays
nger and Kri

SEL PRESE
aul Elsner. 

Position.  M
o Tem to co

journed the 

s called the 

Mays, Counc
Matt Langer 

L PRESENT
a Murphy. C

upporting ad
e Regional U

explained th

regards to 
Julia confirm

TY COUNC
ne St., Sher
 2011-Spec

meeting to o

s, Council P
isanna Clark

ENT: City M

Mayor Mays 
over in the 

Work Sessi

meeting to o

cil President
and Krisann

T: City Mana
City Attorney 

dding land w
Urban Growth

he resolution

the neighbo
med and said

 

IL MINUTES
rwood, Or 
cial Meeting

order at 6:05

President D
k. Linda Hen

Manager Jim

 explained o
absence of 

on at 6:55 p

order at 7:00

t Dave Gran
na Clark. 

ager Jim Pa
Paul Elsner

west of Sher
h Boundary 

n.  

orhood com
d this area is

S 

g 

5 pm. 

Dave Grant,
nderson arriv

m Patterson 

options avai
f the City M

pm and conv

0 pm. 

nt, Councilor

tterson, Plan
r. 

rwood (A po
(UGB). 

mmercial nod
s a bit large

DRAF

 Councilors
ved at 6:12 p

and City R

ilable to the 
Manager. Dis

vened to the

rs Linda Hen

nning Manag

ortion of Met

de and if th
r. 

FT  

s Robyn 
pm.  

Recorder 

Council 
scussion 

e regular 

nderson, 

ger Julia 

tro UGB 

is is the 

3



DRAFT  

City Council Minutes 
September 12, 2011 
Page 2 of 2 

Councilor Henderson asked in regards to transit services in the area and made reference to a staff 
report. Julia replied she didn’t know about available transit services and said the Council’s 
decision informs the decisions made by Metro and other transit service providers. Julia clarified 
the resolution did not have a staff report, but an Exhibit B.  
 
With no other Council questions or comments, Mayor Mays asked for a motion. 
 
MOTION: FROM COUNCILOR LINDA HENDERSON TO ADOPT RESOLUTION 2011-076, 
SECONDED BY COUNCILOR BILL BUTTERFIELD. ALL COUNCIL MEMBERS VOTED IN 
FAVOR.  
 

5. ADJOURN 
 
With no other business to address, Mayor Mays adjourned the meeting at 7:04 pm. 

 
 

 
 
Submitted by: 
 
 
 
              
Sylvia Murphy, CMC, City Recorder    Keith S. Mays, Mayor 
 
 

4



City Council Min
September 20, 2
Page 1 of 9 

 
REGULAR 

 
1. CALL T

 
2. PLEDG

 
3. COUNC

Butterfie
 

4. STAFF 
Develop
Planning
Manage
Commu
Recorde

 
Mayor M

5. CONSE

A. App
B. Reso

over
esta
Oreg

C. Reso
Agre
an In
prov
prod
proj
is fu
agre

 

MOTION
SECOND
IN FAVO

Mayor Ma
nutes 
2011 

COUNCIL M

TO ORDER: 

E OF ALLEG

CIL PRESEN
eld, Matt Lan

AND LEG
pment Direct
g Manager 

er Tom Nels
nity Service
er Sylvia Mu

Mays addres

NT AGEND

proval of Au
olution 201
r real prop

ablishing, co
gon Street 
olution 201
eement (IGA
nterim Wate
visions for 
duction / d
ect and con
ully operat
eement betw

: FROM CO
DED BY CO
OR. (COUNC

ays address

SHE
22

MEETING 

Mayor Mays

GIANCE AN

NT: Mayor 
nger, and Kr

GAL COUN
tor Tom Pe
Julia Hajdu

son, Police 
es Director 
rphy. City At

ssed the Con

A 

gust 16, 20
1-077 Auth

perty owne
onstructing

1-078 auth
A) between
er Treatmen
interim wa

elivery of w
ntinuing un
tional, and 
ween the pa

OUNCILOR 
OUNCILOR R
CIL PRESIDE

sed the next 

RWOOD CI
2560 SW Pin

Septem

s called the 

ND ROLL CA

Keith Mays
isanna Clark

NSEL PRE
ssemier, Po
uk, Planning
Captains M
Kristen Swi
ttorney Paul

nsent Agend

11 City Cou
horizing the
d by Unio

g, and main

orizing the
 the cities o

nt and Supp
ater treatm
water to S

ntil Segmen
this agree

arties 

LINDA HEN
ROBYN FOL
ENT GRANT

agenda item

TY COUNC
ne St., Sher
mber 20, 20

meeting to o

ALL: 

s, Councilo
k. Council P

ESENT: Cit
olice Chief J
g Associate

Mark Daniel 
itzer, Admin
l Elsner. 

da asked for 

uncil Minute
e City Mana
n Pacific R

ntaining an 

 City Mana
of Sherwoo
ply Agreeme
ent and pr
herwood fo

nt 3 of the 4
ement is re

NDERSON T
LSOM. ALL
T WAS ABS

m. 

 

IL MINUTES
rwood, Or 
011 

order at 7:08

rs Linda H
resident Dav

ty Manager
Jeff Groth, F
e Michelle M
and Jim Re

nistrative As

a motion.  

es 
ager to pay 
Railroad C
at-grade pu

ager to ente
od and Wils
ent includin
roduction r
ollowing co
48 inch tran
eplaced by

TO APPRO
L PRESENT 
SENT). 

S 

8 pm. 

enderson, R
ve Grant wa

r Jim Patt
Finance Dire
Miller, Econ
eed, City En
ssistant Kirs

for and ac
Company fo
ublic road c

er into an  
sonville reg
ng a method
rates and w
ompletion o
nsmission l
y a perman

OVE THE CO
COUNCIL 

DRAF

Robyn Fols
as absent. 

terson, Com
ector Craig 
nomic Deve
ngineer Bob
sten Allen a

ccept an Ea
or the purp
crossing alo

Intergovern
arding ado
dology and
wheeling ra
of the mete
ine is in pla
nent water 

ONSENT AG
MEMBERS 

FT  

som, Bill 

mmunity 
Gibons, 

elopment 
b Galati, 
and City 

asement 
pose of 
ong SW 

nmental 
ption of 

d related 
ates for 
er vault 
ace and 

supply 

GENDA, 
VOTED 

5



DRAFT  

City Council Minutes 
September 20, 2011 
Page 2 of 9 

6. PRESENTATIONS 
 
A. Eagle Scout Recognition.  Nathan Claus came forward and described his Eagle project 

which was to construct two benches, plant five trees, add a sign and some general site work 
for the Tualatin Valley National Wildlife Refuge for an alternative Outdoor School program.  
Nathan’s project took over 170 hours to complete, which he did with the help of approximately 
twenty volunteers. Mayor Mays congratulated Nathan and presented him with a Certificate of 
Achievement. 
 

B. Introduction of Adam Keesee, Sherwood School Resource Officer.  Chief Groth 
commented on the partnership between the School District and the City and introduced 
Sherwood School Superintendent Heather Cordie and asked Police Captain Jim Reed to 
come forward.  Ms. Cordie discussed the process taken to have a School Resource Officer 
(SRO) in the schools and the impact it has already had to have Officer Keesee in the halls of 
the schools.  Ms. Cordie stated the SRO will provide a police presence in all of the schools, 
investigate offenses on campus or at school activities, serve as a role model, collaborate with 
staff, and interact with students and parents.  Ms. Cordie shared that Officer Keesee was 
raised in New York and has a degree in Fine Arts, has worked for the City since 2005 and is 
currently the head coach for the Sherwood Bowman Lacrosse team.  Ms. Cordie thanked 
Council for their diligence in making the SRO a priority.  Mayor Mays commented that the SRO 
was another great example of the City and the School District pooling resources for the 
betterment of the community. Captain Jim Reed shared with Council the type of Officer Mr. 
Keesee has been since coming to Sherwood, from his concern for the drug abuse issues to 
getting involved in Sherwood youth programs, making him a good selection for the SRO 
position.  Chief Groth commented that Officer Keesee has already made an impact as the 
School Resource Officer and gave an example.  
 

C. Sherwood High School Student Recognitions.  Mayor Mays and Council members 
recognized Sherwood High School students who achieved a 4.0 GPA for the 2010-2011 
school year and students who placed 1st in State in an athletic event as an individual or team 
sport. Members of the 5A State Championship teams in Track, Volleyball, Football and 
Baseball received Certificates of Achievement. School Superintendent Heather Cordie, 
Football Coach Lawrence and Baseball Coach Strohmaier were invited to participate in the 
student recognition. City Manager Jim Patterson commented that the citizens of Sherwood 
should be proud of our students, athletes, teacher, coaches and administrators.  Mayor Mays 
agreed that Sherwood has a lot to be proud of.  
 

D. Music on the Green Sponsor Recognitions.  Community Services Director Kristen Switzer 
thanked Event and Volunteer Coordinator Denise Berkshire for the outstanding job she did 
with this year’s Music on the Green concerts.  Ms. Switzer commented that Music on the 
Green was held on Wednesday evenings in July and August. She informed Council Music on 
the Green received $14,500 in sponsorships, and was able to reduce expenses by $4600.  
Ms. Switzer stated attendance ranged from 1200-2000 guests per concert.  Ms. Switzer 
thanked the following sponsors of this year’s event: Presenting Sponsor Sherwood Dental 
Care; Supporting Sponsors; Pacific Family Dental, Fisher Roofing, Gardner Team Real 
Estate, The UPS Store–Sherwood, Sherwood Gazette, Community Newspapers Inc. & The 
Portland Tribune; Contributing Sponsors; Cedar Creek Assisted Living, Murray Smith & 
Associates Inc., United Studios of Self Defense, and Sherwood Dance Academy; and Good 

6



DRAFT  

City Council Minutes 
September 20, 2011 
Page 3 of 9 

Neighbor Sponsors; Attrell’s Sherwood Funeral Chapel, Avamere at Sherwood, Bella Via, 
Blue Frogs Jump LLC Pre-Kindergarten, Jansen Chiropractic, Jose Avila Land Maintenance, 
Les Schwab Tire Center, Phoenix Children’s Academy, Pride Disposal, Prudential NW 
Properties, Sawatdee Thai Cuisine, Sentinel Self Storage and Silver Tree Builders Northwest 
Inc.  

 
Mayor Mays addressed the next agenda item. 
 

7. CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
Holly Sanborn, 22275 SW Orland Street, came forward and explained that she has lived in 
Sherwood for four and a half years and expressed concerns about chickens.  Ms. Sanborn stated 
that she believes society is moving toward liking the idea of local resources, stating that chickens 
are an economical way to process food waste, get eggs for consumption, and provide compost. 
Ms. Sanborn recommended 3-6 chickens per residence and stated that she felt it was a 
reasonable thing to have backyard chickens and that it was not necessary to cut off an avenue of 
self-sufficiency.  Mayor Mays stated that the City hasn’t suggested banning chickens, but that a 
permit is required by law.  Mayor Mays explained regarding the discussion in Planning 
Commission about allowing chickens, but that the commission did not make a recommendation to 
Council. The Mayor stated that Council did briefly discuss chickens in a work session that 
suggested there was not enough support to change the law.  Mayor Mays stated that Council was 
concerned about neighbor to neighbor conflict and other reasons that prevented the issue moving 
forward with Council. Mayor Mays explained that there had been discussion about removing the 
current vehicle for farm scale operation for chickens.  Mayor Mays stated that he appreciated Ms. 
Sanborn’s advocacy and stated that if interest increases within Council more discussion will follow.   
Ms. Sanborn commented that a farm scale operation does not address the topic and observed 
that people keep doves as pets, why not backyard chickens as pets.  Ms. Sanborn offered to do 
more research on the subject and to canvas to verify interest.  Mayor Mays stated that laws evolve 
over time and he would not discourage Ms. Sanborn from advocating for her cause.   
 
Amanda Stanaway, 16103 SW 2nd Street, told the Council that she worked in green and 
environmental living and was a chicken advocate.  Ms. Stanaway stated that backyard birds were 
a friendly and sustainable way to provide for and teach children, and suggested 4-6 chickens.  Ms. 
Stanaway stated that all of the surrounding areas allow chickens except for Tualatin. Ms. 
Stanaway stated that chickens create an organic way to provide food that creates a small 
ecosystem in back yards.  Mayor Mays thanked Ms. Stanaway for her comments.  
 
Mayor Mays addressed the next agenda item. 

8. NEW BUSINESS 
 
A. Resolution 2011-079 Designating the Community Development Director Tom Pessemier 

City Manager Pro Tem  
 

City Manager Jim Patterson explained the resolution, stating that the City Charter calls for 
a City Manager Pro Tem when the City Manager is absent or the position is vacant which 
will happen after October 6th.   Mayor Mays commented regarding the leadership and 
management skills that Tom Pessemier has demonstrated that makes him an outstanding 
choice for the City Manager Pro Tem position.  

7



DRAFT  

City Council Minutes 
September 20, 2011 
Page 4 of 9 

 
Mayor Mays asked for questions or comments from the Council.  Having none, the Mayor 
asked for a motion.   

 

MOTION: FROM COUNCILOR LINDA HENDERSON TO ADOPT RESOLUTION 2011-079, 
SECONDED BY COUNCILOR BILL BUTTERFIELD. ALL PRESENT COUNCIL MEMBERS 
VOTED IN FAVOR. (COUNCIL PRESIDENT GRANT WAS ABSENT). 

Mayor Mays addressed the next agenda item. 

 
B. Resolution 2011-080 authorizing staff to apply for a Washington County Community 

Development Block Grant   
  

Community Services Director Kristen Switzer explained that the resolution was the 
authorization for staff to apply for the Community Development Block Grant from Washington 
County.  Ms. Switzer explained that grant funds would be used to upgrade the Senior Center 
restrooms and lobby area, areas which were identified in a recent feasibility study.  The project 
estimate is $220,000 and staff is hoping to apply for $179,600, with the City pledging $41,000.  
Ms. Switzer stated that if Sherwood receives the grant, staff will know in February and can 
budget the remainder for the following Fiscal Year.  

  
Mayor Mays commented that the City owns the Senior Center and this is a great application to 
try to obtain money to expand and improve the Senior Center, explaining that the CDBG is a 
federal grant.  Mayor Mays asked for Council questions.   

 
Councilor Robyn Folsom asked Finance Director Craig Gibons if he could envision where the 
matching funds might come from.  Craig answered that he could not, but that it becomes part 
of the budget process and should be attainable.  Councilor Folsom asked if the fund for asset 
depreciation would be used.  Mr. Gibons reminded Councilor Folsom that the Asset 
Depreciation Fund had been eliminated, but that the Capital Construction Fund might be 
where the money comes from.  Councilor Folsom thanked Kristen and the steering committee 
at the Senior Center for their efforts and commented that she is aware of the need to upgrade 
the bathrooms. 

 
With no other questions or comments, Mayor Mays asked for motion on the resolution.   

 
MOTION: FROM COUNCILOR ROBYN FOLSOM TO ADOPT RESOLUTION 2011-080, 
SECONDED BY COUNCILOR KRISANNA CLARK. ALL PRESENT COUNCIL MEMBERS 
VOTED IN FAVOR. (COUNCIL PRESIDENT GRANT WAS ABSENT). 

Mayor Mays addressed the next agenda item.  
 
C. Resolution 2011-081 Adopting the Sherwood Broadband Business Plan  
 

IT Director Brad Crawford explained the resolution was for the Sherwood Broadband Business 
Plan as a utility, establishing a mission, some objectives, strategies for moving forward, 
performance, and a repayment plan to reimburse an inter-fund loan from 2009.  

 
Mayor Mays commented that the community could learn more about the business plan and 
that Sherwood Broadband was a great asset to the community;  providing a high level of 

8



DRAFT  

City Council Minutes 
September 20, 2011 
Page 5 of 9 

service at low cost for government facilities, connectivity for the schools, and an asset to 
support businesses in town.  

 
Mayor Mays asked for Council discussion or a motion.   

 
MOTION: FROM COUNCILOR BILL BUTTERFIELD TO ADOPT RESOLUTION 2011-081, 
SECONDED BY COUNCILOR ROBYN FOLSOM. ALL PRESENT COUNCIL MEMBERS 
VOTED IN FAVOR. (COUNCIL PRESIDENT GRANT WAS ABSENT). 

Mayor Mays addressed the next item on the agenda. 
 
D. Resolution 2011-082 of the Sherwood City Council approving a minor amendment to the 

Sherwood Urban Renewal Plan dated August 29, 2000 to allow for the acquisition of 
additional property  

 
Economic Development Manager Tom Nelson explained that the City needs to construct a 
storm water facility in the next five years that requires the purchase of property.   Mr. Nelson 
stated that the purchase of property is a multi-step process that begins with City Council 
amending the Urban Renewal Plan and said the Urban Renewal Agency (URA) will also need 
to amend the plan by resolution, and the final step being the URA adopting a resolution to 
purchase the property.   

 
Mayor Mays asked for Council questions.  Mayor Mays explained that there will be more 
discussion later in the URA Board Meeting to follow the Council meeting this evening.  With no 
questions from council the following motion was received.   

 
MOTION: FROM COUNCILOR LINDA HENDERSON TO ADOPT RESOLUTION 2011-082, 
SECONDED BY COUNCILOR ROBYN FOLSOM. ALL PRESENT COUNCIL MEMBERS 
VOTED IN FAVOR. (COUNCIL PRESIDENT GRANT WAS ABSENT). 

Mayor Mays addressed the next agenda item and asked the City Recorder to read the 
required public hearing statement. 

 
9. PUBLIC HEARING 

 
A. Ordinance 2011-011 Amending multiple sections of the Zoning and Community 

Development Code including Divisions III, V, VI, and VII 
 

Associate Planner Michelle Miller came forward and provided handouts to the Council (see record, 
Exhibit A) explaining that the document was the same as received in the packet, but with the 
correct color code that was not evident in the original packet due to a technical issue. Michelle 
stated, in addition there was a graphic that is currently in the municipal Code that was requested 
by Council.  Michelle stated the ordinance was part of the code clean up concerning multiple 
changes to the development code regarding land use applications, site plan modifications, and the 
land division process. Michelle explained the process included meeting with the Planning 
Commission, consulting with the City Engineering Department, and brown bag sessions with 
developers and consultants, resulting in the Planning Commission’s recommendation. Michelle 
covered some of the substantive changes regarding site plan modifications, changes to public 
infrastructure requirements and roadway designs, when a transportation study was required, and 
proportions for land dedication.  Michelle noted that there were additional charts and tables and a 

9



DRAFT  

City Council Minutes 
September 20, 2011 
Page 6 of 9 

request to move street renaming to another portion of the Municipal Code. Clarifications were 
made for platting and subdivisions for easier reference in a more chronological order.  Michelle 
explained the allowance for lot averaging to allow for lots below the minimum lot size enabling 
developers some flexibility.   
 
Mayor Mays asked what the maximum allowance was for a lot to be below the minimum lot size.   
 
Michelle replied that it was 20%.  Michelle explained that a process was created for platting, re-
platting, and vacating lots that was not previously in the code, and smaller subdivisions between 
four and ten lots would be allowed as a staff process.  Michelle identified a few Scribner’s errors 
and asked Council if they had any questions.  
 
Before any questions from Council were received, Mayor Mays opened the Public Hearing to 
receive testimony from the public.  
 
Holly Sanborn, 22275 SW Orland Street, came forward and expressed concern regarding the time 
frame for public input on upcoming planning and development and it being shortened and stated 
she believes this time frame has come and gone. Mayor Mays replied he is not aware of any 
alterations in Council actions.  
 
Mayor Mays thanked Ms. Sanborn and asked for any additional testimony.  With none received, 
Mayor Mays closed the Public Hearing and requested staff return to the table.   
 
Mayor Mays stated that he has a tremendous problem with lot averaging, specifically going below 
5000 square feet lot minimum that has been established in the community.  Mayor Mays stated he 
can support lot averaging in less dense zoning types to have a good effect, but for a single family 
detached, he is a big proponent of keeping the floor at 5000 for that zone. 
 
Mayor Mays stated he appreciates a lot of the language such as the private streets section and 
commended staff for the language.   
 
Mayor Mays asked for Council comments or questions of staff. 
 
Councilor Bill Butterfield asked if the lot size determines the roadway size. Michelle answered no; 
the street size is determined by local street standards.  Michelle commented about the lot size 
issue, and said that PUD’s utilize lot averaging and this proposed modification allows developers 
to use lot averaging without a PUD.  Michelle gave the example of the Woodhaven area. 
 
Councilor Matt Langer asked and said, in the manner this is worded, if somebody could take 
advantage of lot averaging by creating one large lot and many small lots.  Mayor Mays answered 
that the proposed ordinance would allow 80% of the lots to go below the minimum and 
compensate with larger lots.  Mayor Mays stated that there was a lot of thought in support of 
subdivisions with varying lot sizes.  Michelle referenced section E-1 and added that the average 
lot size is determined by the zoning district and a lot size could only be 20% below the minimum 
lot size, but there is no maximum lot size so it might be possible.   
 
Councilor Linda Henderson referenced page 120 of the meeting packet and asked about the 
additional setback requirement that would increase the setback based on the street size. Michelle 
verified and stated that it was corresponding with the Transportation System Plan.  Michelle 

10



DRAFT  

City Council Minutes 
September 20, 2011 
Page 7 of 9 

directed Council to the neighborhood routes map on page 113 of the packet that showed the 
impacted streets.   
 
Councilor Robyn Folsom asked for a synopsis of the difference between the collector and 
neighborhood streets.  Michelle explained that there is one principle arterial, which is 99W; the 
arterials are major internal streets like Sherwood Blvd and Tualatin Sherwood Rd.  Michelle 
explained that the size of the streets determine the driveway drops and on street parking all the 
way down to the local or neighborhood streets.  
 
Mayor Mays stated that he has significant concerns about lot averaging and going below 5000 for 
the highest density of single family lot zoning and asked Michelle or City Attorney Paul Elsner for a 
recommendation of language to put a floor on lot averaging.  City Attorney Paul Elsner stated that 
he could provide language but not tonight and would work on drafting language for staff. Mr. 
Elsner said he had other issues in regards to the performance bond being insufficient.  
 
Mayor Mays asked if Mr. Elsner was suggesting a continuance of the ordinance to allow for 
amended language. Mr. Elsner stated relevant to the performance bond, currant language in the 
code, he would suggest we increase the amount currently stated. Mr. Elsner referenced page 131 
of the meeting packet and said the performance bond is to make sure the work is actually done 
and said if the city were to take over the project it then becomes a public project and the costs 
associated with the public actually doing the work are increased due to the bid process and 
prevailing wage. Mr. Elsner stated 100% of the performance bond will not cover the city’s cost 
associated with putting in the infrastructure. Mr. Elsner suggested increasing this bond number to 
a minimum of 125-150% and stated this has been his recommendation to other jurisdictions.  
 
Mayor Mays stated that he will be requesting the ordinance be continued to the next City Council 
meeting and request staff return with language options for Council’s consideration.  
 
Mayor Mays asked for other concerns from the Council on the proposed language. 
 
With no other Council comments, Mayor Mays made the following motion. 
 
MOTION: FROM MAYOR MAYS TO CONTINUE THE PUBLIC HEARING FOR ORDINANCE 
2011-011 TO THE OCTOBER 4TH CITY COUNCIL MEETING AND ASK STAFF TO OFFER 
SUGGESTIONS FOR LANGUAGE THAT COUNCIL CAN CONSIDER TO ADDRESS 
CONCERNS ABOUT HAVING LOTS IN OUR MOST DENSE SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED 
NEIGHBORHOODS GOING BELOW THE 5000 AS WELL AS NEW LANGUAGE ADDRESSING 
PAUL’S CONCERN ON BONDING OF PROJECTS. 

Prior to receiving the second to the motion and calling for a vote, Michelle Miller suggested adding 
language regarding a minimum lot size regardless of the zone. 

Mayor Mays stated this staff suggestion was great and commented regarding PUD’s.  

Mayor Mays noted that the public testimony portion of the Public Hearing has already been 
closed, but may be re-opened at Council’s discretion.  

MOTION SECONDED BY COUNCILOR LINDA HENDERSON.  ALL PRESENT COUNCIL 
MEMBERS VOTED IN FAVOR. (COUNCIL PRESIDENT GRANT WAS ABSENT). 

Mayor Mays addressed the next agenda item.  

11



DRAFT  

City Council Minutes 
September 20, 2011 
Page 8 of 9 

 
10. CITY MANAGER REPORT 

 
City Manager Jim Patterson commented on the challenge that the Police Department has in 
maintaining a vehicle fleet in good working order, and asked Police Chief Groth to provide 
comments.  Chief Groth stated that a lease opportunity has been found that will enable the City to 
lease four vehicles for the price of one, and informed the Council this decision was time sensitive. 
Chief Groth offered to bring legislation forward at a future meeting for Council consideration.  

City Attorney Paul Elsner added that many jurisdictions use lease agreements, but require a letter 
from council, written by the City attorney, showing that there is authority to perform the lease.  

Mayor Mays asked if the lease was for four vehicles now, to be paid for over the next four years.  
Chief Groth confirmed.  Mr. Elsner added that the funds are budgeted.   

Mayor Mays asked Council for concerns with the request. As no concerns were raised or 
comments received, Mayor Mays informed Chief Groth to move forward.   

Mayor Mays addressed the next agenda item. 
 

11. COUNCIL ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
Councilor Robyn Folsom commented on the activities from BOOTS and thanked Tom Nelson for 
his efforts.  Ms. Folsom announced a junior musical, Into the Woods, to be performed at 
Sherwood Middle School by the Voices for Performing Arts (VPA) and thanked the Sherwood 
School District for allowing the VPA to use their facilities after school.  Ms. Folsom stated that over 
a hundred kids are involved in after school programs through the VPA.   
 
Councilor Matt Langer commented regarding the crowd drawn to the BOOTS branding event and 
stated that more volunteer opportunities will be available.  Mr. Langer stated BOOTS is working on 
a paver project using the old pavers from the road in old town and placing them in the plaza.  Mr. 
Langer informed Council that the Chamber has moved around the corner to Washington Street 
with the BOOTS offices located in the back.  Mr. Langer stated BOOTS meetings are held on the 
third Monday at 8 am and 4 pm and Chamber breakfasts are usually the second Tuesday of the 
month at the Police Facility.   
 
Councilor Linda Henderson commended staff for their support at the Music on the Green concerts 
this year.  Ms. Henderson commented that it was the best Music on the Green series and she 
heard only positive feedback, giving praise to Community Services and Public Works.  
 
With no other announcements Mayor Mays adjourned the Council meeting and convened to a URA 
Board meeting. 
 

12. ADJOURN 
 
Mayor Mays adjourned the Council meeting at 8:50 pm to convene to a URA Board of Directors 
meeting (See URA Board Meeting record), to be followed by a Council Executive Session. 

 
 

12



DRAFT  

City Council Minutes 
September 20, 2011 
Page 9 of 9 

CITY COUNCIL EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER: Mayor Mays called the Executive Session to order at 9:07 pm. 
 
2. COUNCIL PRESENT: Mayor Keith Mays, Councilors Linda Henderson, Robyn Folsom, Bill 

Butterfield, Matt Langer and Krisanna Clark. Council President Dave Grant was absent. 
 
3. STAFF AND LEGAL COUNSEL PRESENT: City Manager Jim Patterson, City Recorder Sylvia 

Murphy and City Attorney Paul Elsner. 
 

4. OTHERS PRESENT: Sally Ho with the Oregonian. 
 

5. TOPIC DISCUSSED: Exempt Public Records, pursuant to ORS 192.660 (2)(f). 
 
6. ADJOURNED: Mayor Mays adjourned the Executive Session at 9:50pm.   

 
 
 
 
Submitted by: 
 

 

              
Sylvia Murphy, CMC, City Recorder    Keith S. Mays, Mayor   
 
 

13



 

Resolution 2011-083, Staff Report 
October 04, 2011 
Page 1 of 1 
 

Council Meeting Date:  October 04, 2011 
 

Agenda Item:  Consent Agenda 
 
TO:  Sherwood City Council 
 
FROM: Mark Daniel, Police Captain 
 
SUBJECT:  RESOLUTION 2011-083 AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER 
PRO TEM TO SIGN A LEASING AGREEMENT WITH AUTO LEASING 
SPECIALISTS FOR THE LEASING OF POLICE VEHICLES 
 
ISSUE:  The City of Sherwood is ready to begin leasing police vehicles from an 
established vendor, Auto Additions, through the State Bid. The financing arm of 
the vendor is called Auto Leasing Specialists. The City Manager/Pro-Tem needs 
to sign a leasing agreement with Auto Leasing Specialists to secure the lease. 
 
BACKGROUND:  In keeping with the City Council goal of fiscal responsibility, 
staff continues to look at several different options for the procurement of police 
vehicles and has identified an option for leasing vehicles through the same 
established vendor that we purchase cars from. 
 
Signing the leasing agreement would allow staff to pursue leasing through this 
vendor as an additional option for the procurement of police vehicles. 
 
The leasing agreement and leasing program has been reviewed and approved 
by legal counsel. 
 
FINDINGS:  Staff has looked into this leasing program, has reviewed the 
conditions and found them favorable for the City of Sherwood and has spoken to 
other police agencies that have used the program and received favorable reports 
from those agencies. 
 
The City of Sherwood may enter into this agreement based on existing State 
Law. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  STAFF RECOMMENDS COUNCIL AUTHORIZE THE 
CITY MANAGER PRO TEM TO SIGN THE LEASE AGREEMENT WITH AUTO 
LEASING SPECIALISTS FOR THE LEASING OF POLICE VEHICLES. 

14



 

Resolu
Octob
Page 

 
A RE
SIGN
THE 
 
WHE
havin
the p
 
WHE
Spec
throu
to sig
polic
 
 
NOW
 
 
agre
 
 
adop
 
Duly
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attes
 
 
 
Sylvi

ution 2011-083
er 04, 2011 
1 of 1 

ESOLUTIO
N A LEASI
LEASING 

EREAS, Th
ng been pre
procuremen

EREAS, Th
cialists pro
ugh an esta
gn a leasing

ce vehicles. 

W, THEREF

Section 
ement with

Section 2
ption. 

y passed by

  
  

st: 

  
ia Murphy, 

3 

ON AUTHO
ING AGRE
OF POLIC

he duly elec
esented wi

nt of police 

he Sherwo
ovides a v
ablished ven
g agreeme
 

FORE, THE

1.  The Cit
 Auto Leas

2. This R

y the City 

 
 

 
City Record

RESOLU

RIZING TH
EEMENT W
CE VEHICL

cted govern
th informat
vehicles; a

ood City C
iable optio
ndor and th
nt with Auto

E CITY OF S

ty Manager
sing Specia

Resolution 

Council th

 
 

  
der 

 
UTION 2011

HE CITY M
WITH AUTO

ES 

ning body o
ion about t
nd 

Council here
on for the 
hereby auth
o Leasing S

SHERWOO

r Pro Tem
lists. 

shall be 

his 4th day o

 
 K

 

1-083 

ANAGER 
O LEASING

of the City 
the need fo

reby resolv
procureme

horizes the 
Specialists

OD RESOL

is authoriz

in effect u

of October

Keith S. Ma

PRO TEM 
G SPECIA

of Sherwo
or additiona

ves that Au
ent of poli
City Manag
for the pro

LVES AS FO

zed to sign

upon its ap

r 2011. 

  
ays, Mayor 

DRAF

TO ENTER
ALISTS FO

od, Oregon
al options fo

uto Leasin
ice vehicle
ger/Pro-Tem
ocurement o

OLLOWS:

 the leasin

pproval an

 

T  

R 
R 

n, 
or 

ng 
es 
m 
of 

ng 

nd 

 

15



  

Resolution 2011-084, Staff Report 
October 4, 2011 
Page 1 of 1 
 

Council Meeting Date:  October 4, 2011 
 

Agenda Item:  Consent Agenda 
 
TO:  Sherwood City Council 
 
FROM: Mark Daniel, Police Captain 
 
 
 
SUBJECT:  Resolution 2011-084 authorizing the City Manager to sign the 2011 IGA 
with Washington County for the purposes of participation in the Urban Area Security 
Initiative (UASI)  
 
ISSUE:  The City of Sherwood has become an equal partner in the security and 
safety/preparedness of the Portland Metropolitan Area (otherwise known as the Urban 
Area consisting of Clark, Clackamas, Multnomah and Washington Counties), increasing 
our ability to be prepared and equipped as a regional asset in preparedness. It is critical 
we maintain this partnership by signing the 2011 IGA. 
 
BACKGROUND:  The Portland, Oregon urban area was awarded its first grant under the 
federal Urban Areas Security Initiative (UASI) program in 2003. Pursuant to the grant 
guidance, the urban area created a management team called the Urban Area Points of 
Contact (UAPOC) Group to guide and direct program implementation. Recognizing the 
need for highly specific, expert-level assistance with program implementation, the UAPOC 
Group created regional discipline working groups.  
 
The Law Enforcement Working Group (LEWG), as one example, was formed by the 
UAPOC Group as one of these discipline working groups to increase the regional 
coordination of public information. Other working groups include Public Works and 
Communications.  Membership is open to agencies from the six Portland UASI partners 
(Clackamas, Clark, Columbia, Multnomah and Washington Counties and the City of 
Portland), cities within those counties, states of Oregon and Washington, federal 
government, transit agencies, and port districts.  
 
FINDINGS:  In the interest of public safety, The City of Sherwood has become an equal 
partner in the security and safety/preparedness of the Portland Metropolitan Area 
(otherwise known as the Urban Area consisting of Clark, Clackamas, Multnomah and 
Washington Counties), becoming an organization which may receive grant funding, and 
various assets which will be used by the city of Sherwood in order to keep our critical 
infrastructure and assets secure, while becoming a regional resource of qualified staff, with 
unique assets, which may be utilized as a regional asset, for use in the event of a 
significant event. Signing the 2011 IGA maintains this partnership. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends that we sign the 2011 IGA with Washington 
County for the purposes of participation in the Urban Area Security Initiative (UASI). 

16



 

Resolu
Octob
Page 

 
A RE
IGA 
PAR
 
WHE
havin
safet
(UAS
 
WHE
interg
need
sign 
the U
 
 
NOW
 
 
with 
 

adop
 
 
Duly
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attes
 
 
 
Sylvi

ution 2011-084
er 4, 2011 
1 of 1, with Exh

ESOLUTIO
WITH WA

RTICIPATIO

EREAS, Th
ng been p
ty with reg
SI); and 

EREAS, Th
governmen

ds of the cit
the 2011 I

Urban Area 

W, THEREF

Section 
Washingto

Section 2
ption. 

y passed by

  
  

st: 

  
ia Murphy, 

4 

hibit A (18 page

ON AUTHO
ASHINGTON
ON IN THE 

he duly elec
resented w

gard to its 

he Sherwo
ntal agreem
tizens of the
IGA with W
Security In

FORE, THE

1.  The Cit
n County, a

2. This R

y the City 

 
 

 
CMC, City 

es) 

RESOLU

ORIZING TH
N COUNTY
URBAN AR

cted govern
with inform

involveme

od City Co
ment with W
e City of Sh

Washington 
nitiative (UA

E CITY OF S

ty Manage
attached he

Resolution 

Council th

 
 

  
Recorder 

 
UTION 2011

HE CITY M
Y FOR TH
REA SECU

ning body o
ation abou

ent with the

ouncil here
Washington
herwood an
County fo

ASI).   

SHERWOO

r is authori
ereto as Ex

shall be 

his 4th day o

 
 K

 

1-084 

MANAGER
E PURPOS

URITY INIT

of the City 
ut the need
e Urban A

eby resolve
n County m
nd authoriz
r the purpo

OD RESOL

ized to sig
hibit A. 

in effect u

of October

Keith S. Ma

R TO SIGN
SES OF C
IATIVE (UA

of Sherwo
d for enha
Area Secur

es that co
meets the p

es the City
oses of par

LVES AS FO

n the 2011

upon its ap

r 2011. 

  
ays, Mayor 

DRAF

N THE 201
CONTINUED
ASI) 

od, Oregon
anced publi
rity Initiativ

ntinuing th
public safet
y Manager t
rticipation i

OLLOWS:

1 agreemen

pproval an

 

T  

1 
D 

n, 
ic 

ve 

he 
ty 
to 
in 

nt 

nd 

 

17



bcc tt491g

INTERGOYERNMENTAL AGREEMENT

Between

WASHINGTON COUNTY, OREGON

and

THE CITY OF SHERWOOD, OREGON

THIS IS an intergovernmental agreement (Agreement) between Washington County
(County) and the city of Sherwood (City) entered into pursuant to the authority granted in
Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) Chapter 190 for the coordination of activities related to use of
the United States Department of Homeland Security's Urban Areas Security Initiative (UASÐ
grant program funds for addressing the unique planning, organization, equipment, training, and

exercise needs of high-threat, high-density urban areas to assist in building an enhanced and

sustainable capacity to prevent, protect against, respond to, and recovet from acts of terrorism.

Recitals

V/HEREAS, the United States Department of Homeland Security, Federal Emergency
Management Agency (FEMA) Grant Programs Directorate, provided UASI grant funding in the

amount of $7,178,800 in Fiscal Year 2010 to the state of Oregon (State) for distribution to the

Portland Urban Area (PUA); and

WIIEREAS, the State awarded UASI Grant #10-170 (CFDA #97.008) to the city of
Portland, Office of Emergency Management (POEM), as subgrantee, for Fiscal Year 2010 in the
amount of $6,8'74,736, a copy of which is attached to this Agreement and incorporated herein as

Exhibit A; and

V/HEREAS, UASI Grant #10-170 is intended to increase the capabilities of the PUA,
which includes jurisdictions, agencies, and organizations in Multnomah, Clackamas, Columbia,
and'Washington counties in Oregon and Clark County in Washington, to prevent, protect against,

respond to, and recover from threats and acts of terrorism; and

WHEREAS, a list of equipment, supplies, professional services, training, and exercises to

be funded by the grant has been developed through the application process and coordination with
the State; and

WHEREAS, POEM, as Grant Administrator, is required to oversee and coordinate the

expenditure of the UASI grant funds and has developed procedures to guide the procurement,

delivery, and reimbursement processes; and

18



WHEREAS, POEM, as Grant Administrator, is required to make periodic reports to the
State regarding the expenditure of the UASI grant funds and has developed procedures to
coordinate the collection and submission of information and documents needed to support the
reporting process; and

V/HEREAS, the city of Portland and all other PUA jurisdictions, agencies, and
organizations that receive direct benefit from UASI grant purchases are required to comply with
all terms of the UASI Grant # 10-170 award including, but not limited to, obligations regarding
reporting, access to records, financial tracking and procurement, and supplanting of funds; and

'WHEREAS, 
the city of Portland has entered into an agreement with Washington County

to secure the County's commitment to follow the city of Portland-developed procurement,
delivery, reimbursement, and reporting procedures, to ensure its compliance with all terms of the
grant, and to obligate it to coordinate with and obtain similar assurances from directly benefiting
jurisdictions, agencies, and organizations within the County.

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows:

1. The County agrees:

To coordinate grant-related procuremont, reimbursement, and reporting activities
with directly benefiting jurisdictions, agencies, and organizations in the County
consistent with the processes developed by the city of Poftland to manage those
activities.

2. The City agrees:

a) That it has read the award conditions and certifications for UASI Grant #10-
I7O, that it understands and accepts those conditions and certifications, and
that it agrees to comply with all the obligations, and be bound by any
limitations applicable to the city of Porfland, as grantee, under those grant
documents.

b) To comply with all city of Portland and State financial management and
procurement requirements, including competitive bid processes, and to
maintain accounting and financial records in accordance with Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and financial, administrative, and
audit requitements as set forth in the most recent versions of the Code of
Federal Regulations (CFR) and Office of Management and Budget (OMB)
circulars. A nonexclusive list of regulations commonly applicable to DHS
grants includes:

i. Administrative Requirements:44 CFR Part 13 (State and Local
Governments) and 2 CFR P art 27 5 (Non-Profi t Or ganizations).

2 19



ii. Cost Principles: 2 CFR Part225 (State, Local, and Tribal Governments);
P art 230 (Non-Profi t Or ganizations) ; and Federal Acquis ition Re gul ati ons
(FAR) Parf 31.2 (Contracts with Commercial Organizations).

iii. Audit Requirements: OMB Circular A-133.

c) That all equipment, supplies, and services provided by the city of Portland are

as described in the approved grant budget documents, which the City has seen.

d) That it will not deviate from the items listed in the approved grant budget
documents without first securing written authority from the city of Portland

e) To comply with all property and equipment tracking and monitoring processes

required by the grants, this Agreement, the city of Portland, and the State.

Ð To treat all single items of equipment valued over $5,000 as fixed assets and
to provide the city of Portland with a list of such equipment. The list should
include, but is not limited to, dates of purchase, equipment description, serial
numbers, and locations where the equipment is housed or stored. Atl
requirements for the tracking and monitoring of fixed assets are set ïorthin 44
CFR Part 13.

g) To maintain and store all equipment and supplies, provided or purchased, in a
manner that will best prolong its life and keep it in good working order at all
times.

h) That regardless of how it is procured, all equipment and supplies purchased

shall be owned by the City until proper disposition takes place. The City shall
be responsible for inventory tracking, maintenance, and storage while in
possession of such equipment and supplies.

Ð That any request or invoice it submits for reirnbursement of costs is consistent
with the items identified in the approved grant budget documents.

j) That it understands and accepts full financial responsibility and. may not be
reimbursed for costs incurred which have not been approved by the city of
Portland, State, and the U.S. Department of Homeland Security, FEMA Grant
Programs Directorate.

k) That all publications created with funding under this grant shall prominently
contain the following statement: "This document was prepared under a grant
from FEMA's Grant Programs Directorate, U.S. Department of Homeland
Security. Points of view or opinions expressed in this document are those of
the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position or policies of
FEMA's Grant Programs Directorate or the U.S. Department of Homeland
Security."

3 20



l) That all financial records and supporting documentation, and all other records
pertinent to this grant or agreements under this grant, shall be retained for a

minimum of six years following termination, completion, or expiration of this
Agreement for purposes of city of Portland, State, or federal examination and
audit.

m) To obtain a copy of 44 CFR Part 13 and all applicable OMB circulars, and to
apprise itself of all rules and regulations set forth.

n) Not to supplant its local funds with federal and to, instead, use the federal
funds to increase the amount of funds that, in the absence of federal aid,
would be made available to fund programs within the UASI grant program
guidelines.

o) To list the city of Portland as a party to be held ha¡mless and, subject to the
limits of the Oregon Tort Claims Act and the Oregon Constitution,
indemnified by the City and any contractor or subcontractor thereof, for any
injury to person or propefiy arising out of the equipment, supplies, or services
provided under this Agreement, and as a party to whom a listed duty is due.

p) To comply with National lncident Management System (NIMS) objectives
identified as requirements by the State.

q) To comply with all applicable federal, state, and local environmental and
historic preselvation (EHP) requirements and provide information requested
to ensure compliance with applicable laws.

r) To provide timely compliance with all reporting obligations required by the
grant's terms and the city of Portland.

s) To provide the city of Portland with Performance Reports, Financial
Reimbursement Reports, and Audit Reports when required by the city of
Portland and in the form required by the city of Portland.

i. Performance Reports are due to POEM biannually on June 15th and
December 15th during the term of the grant agreement. Late Performance
Reports could result in the suspension and/or termination of the grant.

ii. Financial Reimbursement Reports are due no less frequently than
quarterly during the term of the grant agreement. Late Financial
Reimbursement Reports could result in the suspension and/or termination
ofthe grant.

4 21



iii. Per UASI Grant #10-170, Section K.zb., reimbursement for expenses may
be withheld if performance reports are not submitted by the specified dates

or are incomplete.

Ð To follow the travel expense and per diem guidelines set forth by the U.S.
General Services Administration (GSA) as well as the guidelines of the city of
Portland and State. Per UASI Grant #10-170, Section K.2.c., reimbursements
rates for travel expenses shall not exceed those allowed by the State. Requests

for reimbursement for travel must be supported with a detailed statement

identifying the person who traveled, the purpose of the travel, the dates, times,
and places oftravel, and the actual expense or authorized rates incurred.

GSA per diem rates can be found on the GSA website:
http : / / w w w . qs a. gov / p or tal I c ate go r:/ / 2 I 287 .

The city of Portland's guidelines can be found on the Office of the City
Auditor's website:
BCP-FIN-6.13 Travel:

auditor

BCP-FIN-6.14 Non-travel Meals, Light Refreshments and Related
Miscellaneous Expenses:
htto ://www.ooltlandonline. com/au ditor /index.cfm?&a= I 6 0283&.c=347 47

u) To comply with all of its obligations under this Agreement and any
applicable, incorporated document or documents.

Effective Date and Duration. This Agreement shall be effective from the date
both parties have signed and shall be terminated on December 3I,2Ol2 unless
otherwise extended by the parties in writing or terminated due to failure of one of
the Parties to perform.

Amendment. This Agreement may be modified or amended only by the written
agreement of both parties but must remain consistent with the requirements of the
UASI program grant, the agreement between the State and the city of Portland,
and the city of Portland's UASI graît agreement with the County.

Termination. Either party may terminate this Agreement in the event the other
fails to comply with its obligations under the Agreement. ff the Agreement is
terminated due to the City's failure or inability to comply with the provisions of
the grant or the Agreement, the City will be liable to the city of Portland for the
full cost of any equipment, materials, or services provided by the city of Portland
to the City, and any penalties imposed by the State or Federal Government. Each
party will notify the other, in writing, of its intention to terminate this Agreement
and the reasons therefore. The other party shall have fourteen days, or such other
time as the parties may agree, from the date of the notice in which to correct or
otherwise address the compliance failure which is the subject of the notice.

1

Ĵ

4.

5

5 22



6 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State, without regard to principles of conflicts of
law. Any claim, action, suit or proceeding that arises from or relates to this
Agreement shall be brought and conducted exclusively within the Circuit Court of
Washington County for the state of Oregon. In the event a claim is brought in a
federai forum, then it shall be brought and conducted solely and exclusively in the
United States District Court for the District of Oregon.

Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterpffts, each
of which shall be an original, all of which shall constitute one and the same
instrument.

Survival. The terms, conditions, representations, and all warranties in this
Agreement shall survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement,

Force Majeure. Neither party shall be held responsible for delay or default
caused by fire, riot, acts of God, or war where such cause was beyond reasonable
control. Each party shall make all reasonable efforts to remove or eliminate such
a cause of delay or default and shall, upon cessation of the cause, diligently
pursue performance of its obligations under this Agreement.

10. Indemnification.

a) Subject to the conditions and limitations of the Oregon Constitution and the
Oregon Tort Claims Act, ORS 30.260 through 30.300, the City shall
indemnify, defend and hold harmless the County, its commissioners,
employees and agents from and against any and all liability, claims, damages,
losses, and expenses, including but not limited to reasonable attorneys fees
arising out of or resulting from the acts of the City, its officers, employees,
and agents in the performance of this Agreement.

b) Subject to the conditions and limitations of the Oregon Constitution and the
Oregon Tort Claims Act, ORS 30.260 through 30.300, the County shall
indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City from and against all liability,
loss and costs arising out of or resulting from the acts of the County, its
officers, employees, and agents in the performance of this Agreement.

11. Third Party Beneficiaries. The County and the City are the only parties to this
Agreement and are the only parties entitled to enforce its terms. Nothing in this
Agreement gives, or is intended to give, or shall be construed to give or provide
any benefit or right, whether directly, indirectly, or otherwise, to third persons
unless such persons are individually identified by name herein.

Successors in Interest. The terms of this Agreement shall be binding upon the
successors and assigns ofeach party hereto.

7

8

9

b

12

23



I3

t4.

15.

t6.

t]

Washington Countv

APPROVED AS TO FORM

Entire Agreement. The parties agree and acknowledge that this Agreement is a
complete, integrated agreement that supersedes any prior understandings related

to implementation of the FY-10 UASI program grant and that it is the entire

agreement between them relative to that grant.

Worker's Compensation. Each party shall be responsible for providing
woLker's compensation insurance in compliance with ORS 656.017, which
requires subject employers to provide Oregon workers' compensation coverage

for all their subject workers (contractors with one or more employees, unless

exempt under ORS 656.027). Neither palty shall be required to provide or show

proof of any other insurance coverage.

Nondiscrimination. Each party shall comply with all requirements of federal

and state civil rights and rehabilitation statutes and local non-discrimination
ordinances.

Access to Records. Each party shall maintain, and shall have access to the

books, documents, papers, and other records of the othel party which are related

to this Agreement for the purpose of making audit, examination, excerpts, and

transcripts. Copies of applicable records shall be made available upon request.

Access to records for Oregon Emergency Management (OEM), the Oregon

Secretary of State, the Office of the Comptroller, the General Accounting Office
(GAO), or any of theil authorized fepresentatives, shall not be limited to the

required retention period but shall last as long as records are retained.

Subcontracts and Assignment. Neither party will subcontract or assign any

part of this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party.

Notwithstanding County approval of a subconttactor, the City shall remain

obligated fol full performance hereunder, and the County shall incur no

obligation other than its obligations to the City hereunder'

Date Ç o - tl

6/tz/Þt¡
APPROi/ED IA/ASHINGTO}J COUN'f T

BO.ARD OF CO¡4MISSIONERS

îvilNUrE ORDER s .......1.t..::.
()

ÐÃTE

7

Attorney

Þ1¡
CLERE OF lHE

-6- il

24



Citv of Sherwood

Date

APPROVED AS TO FORM

Attorney

I 25



$unç'r;iå¡"¿$iÈ üÐPY

ORE GON MILIT^ARY DEPARTMENT
OFFICE OF EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT

URBA}{ AREA SECURITY TNITIATT\IE GRANT FROGRAM -
CFDA # 97.008

GRANT AVARD CONDITIONS AND CERTIFIUTIONS

PROGR,{M N,A.ME:

SUBGRÂNTEE:

,{.DDRESS:

PROGRAM CONT,TCT:

FISCAL CONTACI:

Pottland Utban A.rea Secutity
Initiative (UÁ.SI) Ptogtam

City of Ponland

Potland. Office of Emergency
Managemetrt (POEM)
1001SW FiffhAve, Suite 650
Portland,pR972A4

Catmen Metlo
camrcn nerlo@portlandorcgon, gov

ShelliTompkÌns
ehcllitompt ¡n¡@por¡laadorcgon gov

GR,A.NT NO: # 10-170

FEDERALÂ\7,tRD: ç6,874,73,6

A\íARDPERIOD: 2/15ft1tur12/W12

TELEPHONE:

TELEPHONE:

(503) 823-2691

(503) 823-4187

BUDGET

Equipment
CBRNE Incident Resp onse Vehicles'
CBRNE Opeiaianal/Seatch and Rescue
Detection
Ex¡rlo sive Device Mitigation
Info¡nation Tecbnology
Intetopeable Communications
Medical
Othet AuthorÞed, Equipment
Pers onal Ptotective Fquipment
Physical S ecutity Enhancement
Powet

Exetcíses
Planning
Ttaining (ODP-apptoved)
Âclmìnìstration

$1,296,000
fi725,472

$ó0,000
$40,000

fi7,339,747
$1,300,000

$190,500
fi42,750
$79,500

$110,000
$85,000
$66,000

$1,192,159
$61,063

$287,152

l==t

ÐiiL¡

Total fi6,874,736 "

Page I - Oty of Portland 26



I.

GRÄNT AWARD AGREEMENT AÀID PROYTSIONS

Ptovisions of Awaid

Å. rlgteement Parties.. This Agteement is Ëetwee¡r the State of Otegoo, aaing by and tfuough the Otegon Miiitar¡
Departmen! Of6.ce of Emetgency lvfaaagement (OElvf) and the Subgrantee.

B. Effective Date. This å.gteement shall becosre effectiye on. ttre date this Àgteementhas been fully executed by every
partf. Ä$eement ûe¡iri¡ation shall not extinguish ot prejudice OEMs tight to e¡fo¡ce this ÂgteemeaÉ witb tespect
to any default by Subgtantee that has o'ot been cuted'

C. Soutce of Funds, Payment fot this Ptogram will be from the FiscatYeat 2010 U¡ban Ârea Secudty Ioitiative
Ptogtam,

D, Meiget Clause: Vaivet. This Ågteement and teferenced documents constitute the entiie rlçeement between the

Parties ot the subject mattet heteof. There are no uadetstaadings, agteerÌ¡eots, ot teptesentationsl oral ot written,
not specited hereia regatdiag ttris agteement, No waivet, consea! modifications o¡ char¡ge <jf tetrns of this
agteemeÂt shall be binding unless agteed ¡o ¡rr q¡¡iti¡g and sþed by both the Subgtaatee and OEM. Such waiver,
consent, morìification ot çþange, if made shall be effective only in the,speciEc instance a¡d fot ti.e specific pu4rose
given.

E. ¿\cknowledgment The Subgtantee, by signatue of its autho¡ized tepresentative, heteby acknowledges that he/she
has read this agteemeat, rurdetstaads ig and agrees to. be bound by its temrs and conditions faclu.ling all references
to othet documents). Failure to comply with this agteement aod with applicable state and fedetal rules and
guidelines may tesult in the wíthholding of teimbutsement, the termioatio¡ ot suspension of the agteemeng denial
of futu¡e gtants; aod/ot damages to OEM.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

il. Condítions of,{watd

Å. The Subgtaatee ¿gtees to oper4te the ptogram as descdbed in the Potdand Urban ¡\tea Homeland Secwity Sttategy
and to expeod fi¡nds in acco¡dance with the apptoved budget unless the Subgtantee teceives prior written apptoval
by OEM to modify the ptogtam ot budgel OEM may witlrhold funds fot aoy expenditute ootwithin the apptoved
budget ot in excess of amounts apptoved by OEM Failute of the Subgrantee to opetate the ptogtam io. accordaûce

' with the written agleed upoû objectives contained in the gtant application and budgetwill be gtouods fot immediate
suspension and,/ot temrination of fhe grart agreemeût.

B. To ensu¡e consistency anong statewide planning effotts, the Subgtao.tee aglees to cootdinate gant firaded planning
ptojects wìth OEIVI to ioclude assistaace .¡itï thê c¡eation of a scope of rvodq teview and apptoval of service
ptoviders, aad ovetall ptoject ditection

C, The Subgraotee âgrees that ñ¡nds utilized. to establish or enhaoce state and local fi¡sior centers must support the
deveþment of aitatewide fr¡sion process that cortesponds i¡ith the GlobalJusticè/Homelar.d SecudÇ Aavisory
Council ÉIS¿.C) Fusion Ceutet Guidelines and achievement of a baseline level of capability as defined by the
Fusion Capabilíty Plaaning Tool.

D, The Subgrâû.tee agrees that all publications qeated with.funding uade¡ this gtant shall ptomìneotly contain the
follovring stateruenü "This document q/as ptepâred under a gurt fiorn EEIVA's Gtant Ptogtams Ditectorate, U.S,
Department of Homeland Secutity. Points of view or opinions expressed in this docusre¿t a¡e those of the authots
and do ûot û.ecessatily reptesent the official position ot policies of FEI\4.{.'s Gtant Ptogtams Ditectorate or the U.S.
Depanmeot of Homela¡d Secudty."

E, The Subgtaotee âgrees to coopente with any assessments, natioaal evaluation effofis, ot infotrnation ot datl
collection tequests, including but not linited to, the provision of anyinforoation required for the assessment or

of any activities within this agreement

F. By accepting FY 2010 fi:rrds, the SubpâÍtee certifies that it has met NIMS compliânce activities outlined in the
NIMS Impletnentation Matdx for State, Tribal, ot LocirlJurisdiétíons. Âddíúonal information oû âchieviflg
cooplia{'ceis available tltough the NIMS Resoruce Centet at htçt/ /www.fema,gov/emetgenq/ntms/,

Page2-CityofPortland
27



G, Àdministtative Requitementi, Retention and.{ccess to Records. aàd,A,udits.

7. Àdministtative Réqufuemenis. The Subgantee agrees to comply with all finánciat managemeflt ard.
ptocüemerit tequitements, including competitive Èid process.es and other procuement tèquiremeo-ts, and to
maintain accormting and financial tecotds in accotdance with Genetally Accepted r\ccounting Ptinciples
(GAr{P) aod financial administtativg and audit requitements as set fotth in tle most recent versions of the
Code of FedetalRegulations (CFR) andthe Office of ManagementandBudget (OMB) Circula¡s. .À
rionexclusive üst of regulations commooly applicableto DHS grants includes:

ø- .¡\dministrative Reouirement$.. 44 CFR Part 13 (StatE atdl-oczl Govemments) a¡d 2 CFR Part 215 (Non-
' Profi.t OrganÞations).

b. Cost Principles. 2 CFRPar. 225 (State, Local, and Tribal Govemoeots) ;Pat 230 Q{on-Profit
Otganizations); arrd Fede¡alÅcquisitionRegdätions @.{,R) Port37,2 (Coattacts with Commercial
Otgantzatíons).

c. ÅuditR-eouirements. OMB Circulat¡\-133.

2. Retention of Recotds, All financial tecotds, supportiag documentation, and all othet tecords pefinent to this
gfant or agteements undet this gtant shall be retained by the Subgrantss fo¡ ¿ ñini'nrrn of six yeats following
termination, completion'or e:rpiration of this Ågrer erit for pur1,oses of State of Oregon ot Federal
examination and audit. ft is the tesponsibility of the Subgt.a-tee to obtain a copy of 44 CFR Patt 13 aod all
appJicable OMB Citculars, and to apprise itself of all rules a.r:'d tegulations set forth.

3. -A.ccess to Records. OEN{, Oregoa Secteta¡y of State, Ofúce of Iaspector General (OIG), Department of
Hooeland Secutity (DHS), FederalEmergeocyManagementÀgco.y GEÀ4,t), ot anyof their authorized

, tepresentatives, shallhave the rþht of access to any pertioent.books, documents, papers; or ottrer records of
the Subgantee arid aûy coûtracto¡s ot subcoottacto¡s of the Subgtantee, which are pettinent to the gtaat, in
oidet tó make audits, e¡nmin¿1is¡1s, excerpts, ard üaûscripts. The tigþt of access is not lif,ited to the tequLed
retention period but shall l¿st as long as the ¡ecotds a¡e retai¡ed.

4. Âudits. If the Subgrantee expends $500,000 ot more i¡. Fedetal funds (ftom all soutces) in iæ fiscal year, the
Subgtantee shall have a siogle otganiz¿¡ien-wide ¿udit conducted in accordance with the ptovisions of OMB

, GfuculatÀ-133,. Copies of all audits mwtbe submitted to OEMwithin 30 days of completioo. If the
Subgrantee expends less thao.$500,000 inits fiscalyear io Fedetal fi:nds,.the Subgtaotee is exenrpt from
Federal audit requitements for that yeat, Recotds must be available fot revierp ot audit by apptoptiate officials
as provided in Section ILG3 herein.

5. Âudit Costs. Àudit costs fot audits not requited ia accordaûce with OlvfB Citcular Â-133 a¡e uoallowable. If
the Subgtantee did not expend $500,000 o¡ mote in Fede¡al 6¡nds i¡ its fiscal year, but conttacted with a
cetified public accouûtart to perfo¡rn ar audit, costs fot pètformaoce of that audit shall not be chatged to the
grart.

H. Ptocutement Standards.

1. The Subgtantee shall follow the same policies and ptocedures used for procu¡ement from its aoa-Federal
. funds. The Subgtaotee shall use thefu ovrn ptocu¡emert piocedutes and regulatioos, provided that the

procureÉent conforrns to applicable Federal and State law and sta¡dards,

2, .r\ll ptocurlment ttansaètions, whefhet negotiated o¡ competitively bid and without regatd to dollar value, shall
. be conducted in a maflner so as to ptovide maximr¡m open ard free competitiorr. All sole-source

pfocutemcûts in excess of $100,000 must teceive pdot written apptoval from OEM h additional to any
othet apptovals tequited bylaw applicable to tle Subgtantee. Justification fot sole.-sou¡ce procrüerûeot i¡.
excess of $L00,000 should inclu¿" r ¿secription of the progmm and wlrat is being contracted for, an
explaaatioa of why it is necessaty to coûtrâct flonçs-Fetitivd time constraints and alry other Bettinent

. 'i¡formation, Intetagency agreemeûts between udts of govemmeot a¡e exçluiled ftom this ptovision.

.3. The Subguntee shall be alett to otganizaiotnJ conflicts of intetest ot not-competitive practices among
cortr¿ctots tÏat may testdct ot elimiozte competition ot othetwise testraia ftade. Conüactors that develop or
draft specifications, tequirements, stâtements of wod aad/ot Requests fot Ptoposals (R.FP) for a ptoposed

Pago 3 - City of Fbrtland
28



ptoflúemeflt shall be excluded ftom bidding ot'submittiag a ptoposal to compete fot the aq¡atd of such

Procurement. Àay iequest for exemptiorl must be submitted in witing to OEM.

4. The Subgrantee agrees tha! to the exteot they use contractors ot subconttactots, such recipieots shall use small,
mineli¡y, ¡po¡¡en-owned ot disadvantaged business cof,cerris ¿nd cont¡acto¡s o¡ subconttactors to the exteat
ptacticable.

L Ptoperty/Equipment Management and Records Cont¡ol- aod Retention of Recotds.

7. P¡operqv/EquipmentÀ4znagement and Reco¡ds Cont.ol. The Subgtantee agrees to cornplywith all
rcquirements set fotth in 44 CFR Pat 13 fot the active ttacking and monitoting of ptoperty/equipment

' Ptocedutes fot maoaging property/.equipment, vhetì.et acquLed in whole ot in part with grant ñrnds, until
disposition takes place, wi[ at a minimurn, meet the following reguiternents:

a. À11 propetyl equÞmert putchasedl under this agteemenÇ wletber by the Subgtantee or a subcoriüactor,
will be recotded and maintained in tåe Subgtantee's property,/eguipment inveûtory system.

b. The Subgtantee shall mai¡taio ptoperty/equipmert records that includel a description of the

PloPetty/equipmeng the manufacturer's serial nuobet, model number; or otl.et identiEcatior numbeç the
souce of the propertf/equipment, iûclûding the Catalog of.Fedetal Domestic,{ssistance (CF'DA)

' nurnbet; who hólds title; the acErisition date; the cost of the ptoperty/ equi¡rment aad the petcentage of
Federal patticipation j¡ the cosg the location, use'and condition of tle ptoperty/equipment and any' 
ultimate diçosition data induding ttre dãte of disposal and sale ptice of the ptopetty/equipment.

c. r\ physical inventory of the ptoperty/equipmert ¡nust be taken ard the tesults reconciled with the

, Ptopetty/equipment tecotds, at least once evefy two yeaÍs.

d. A conttol system ous't be develoþed to ersu¡e adequate safeguatds to ptevent loss, darnage, ot theft of the
:'. propeff/equipmeû.t Âny loss, d4gage, or,theft shall þe iovestigated.

e. Àdequate mainteoance ptocedures mrrst be developed to keep tle ptoperty/equipment ia good coodition.

f. If the Subgtantee is authorized to sell the property/equipmert, ptopet sales procedutes must be
. esablished to eflsure the highest possible ¡eh¡m.

S. The Subgrantee âgrees that, when practicâble, 
^rry 

ptoPer,ty/eçipment purchased rvith gtant fimr+ing shall
be promineotly marked as follows: '?urchäsed with firnds ptovicled by the U.S. Departrnent of Homeland
Security",

h. The Subgtantee shall pass on propety/equipment mariagemeot tequirements that meet or exceed tlie
teqtritements outlined above fot all subconttactots, consultants, aod the subgtâritees who teceive pass-
tbrough firnding ftom this gtant agteement

2. Retention of Ptope4v/Eqiúpment Recotds, Recotds fotptopetty/equipmeat shall be ¡etained fot a petiod of
six yeats f¡om the date of the disposition ot replacemenf or ttansfet at the disctetion of the awarding 

^geîc¡.Title to all propetty/equi. pment and supplies purchagefl with funds made available undet the Homelaad
Secutity Grant Ptogtam shall vest in the Subgtante e 

^geørcy 
that putchased the propetty/equipment, if it

, ptovides wdtten certifi.cadon to OEM that it will use the ptopetty/equipment fot pu¡poses.coosiste¡rt with the
Flomeland Secutity Gtant Ptogtam

I, Funding

1, Ìvfatching Fuûds. This Gtant does rot tequfue na¿lshing funds.

2. Âllowable Co sts. The Subgrantee agtees that all allocations and use of ftnds undet tlis :\gteement will be in
acco¡dance 'pith the Fiscal Year 2010 Homeland Secuity Grant ?rogram guidance and application kit.

3. Srþplanting. The Subgtantee ceftifies thai fedetal firuds will'not be used to súpplant state or local âmds, but
will be used to inc¡ease the amoünt of fi¡nds that, in the absence of fedetal aid, would be made available to the
Subgturtee to fund progams consiste¡.t with Homeland Secutity Graot Ptogtam - Utban,{tea Security
Initiatives (UÂSÐ guidelines.

Page4-CityofPortland
29



Ii Reoorts, Failute of the Subgtantee to submitthe requitedptogtaûrfinaneial, ot audittepofts, oito resolve
ptogtam, financial, 'ot audit issues may tesult il the suspelsion of gtant payments aad/ot terminatio¡ of
the gtaat agreeme¡t,

L PerfotnanceReoorts.

' The Subgtantee aglees to submit pedofinâûce reports on its progtess in meeting each ofits agteed upon goals
and objectives. The natt¿tive reports will add¡ess lpecrfic inforrnatiou regatding the activities carded out u¡der
the FY 2010 Homela¡.d Security Gtaot Ptogtam - U¡ban Åte¿ Secwities Initiative ßlÄSÐ aod how they
address identified p¡oiect spe-cific eoâIs and obiectives.

Reports are due to OEM by the e¡d ofeaêh calendat yeat quartec.

.årry Petformance Repott that is outsiandi¡g for mote úan one morrth past the d¡re date may cause
the suspensÍoû and/or teñinatiou of dre gtaot The Subgrantee nust teceive ptior wtitten apptoval ftom
OEM to extend a petfonnâflce teport tequirement pastits due date.

2.ry
à. In otdet to receive tebbursemenq the Subgtantee âgtees to submit a "ìg.ed Request fot Reimbu¡seùent

(RER) which includes s s..RHRs may be suÞmitted
. montllybut rio less fte €orett,. At a minimum,

' RFRg mu6t bé suhmittcd no l;ater tha¡r one Donth following the e¡d of each calendat yeat quafter,

. anil a fiaal RFR must be submitted no later tå ?ñ one moôth followiag the ead of the gtant period.

b. Reimbusements for'expenses will bewithh.la if pr.fo*rarce reports âre not submitted by the specified
dates ot are incomplete.

Ç; . Reimbu¡semeat ¡ates for travel erpenses shall ¡ot exceed those allorned by the State of Otegon. Requests
. for teimbu¡semeot fot travçl must be supported with a detailed statemeü ideffifying the petsoowho

taveled, the pu4lcise of the travel, the daæs,'iaes, and places of trave! pd the acfual eqlenses or
- .authotized rates incured.

d. Reimbut¡eoents wiJI only be aade fot ach¡al enpeases ino¡ted during the gtatt petiod. The Subgnntee
agtees that no gtant frrnds oay be used fot erçenses incuted before February 15, 201tr or after
Decembet 3112012.

e.

3. ,\udit Rbpottp. The Subgantee shall provide OEM copies of all audit ieports pertaining to this G¡a¡t
r\greement obtrined by the Subgtantee, whethet or not the audit is teguired by OMB Cfucula¡ ¿{-133.

L. Indem¡ification.

The Subgantee shall, to tlle extent perrrired by the Oregon Constitution and by the Oregon Tort Claìms Âct,
defend, save, hold hatrnless, and indern¡i$ tho State.of Oregbo, OEi\4 aod theit offi.cers, employees, âgents, and
rnembers ftom all claims, suits aad actions of vhatsoevÊr ûatìrre resulting ftom or atising out of the activities of the
Subgraotee, its officets, employees, subcoltrâctors, or ageûts under this gtant.

The Subgraotee shall require any ofits coûtractors ot subcont¡actots to defead, save, hold hatmless aad ioderrnify
the State of Oregon, OEM, aod tleit officers, employees, agents, and membets, ftom all claims, sirits ot actions of
'whatsoevet ¡atue resulting from or arisiag out of the activities of subcoatractor u¡.det or putsuant to this gtant,

The Subgrantee shalt if liability insutance is requited of any of its cortractots or subconttastors, also requke such
coiltractors or iubcoaftactors to provide that the State! of Oregon, OEI\4, and theit officets, émployees aad
membets are Àdditioaal Insweds, but only with rerpect to the contractot's ot sul¡coottactor's services petfolmed
under this grant.

Tte Subgrantee shall be accouotatle fo¡ and shall tepay any ovetpaymen! audit disallowances ot any otler
bteach of graat that results in d debt owed to the Federal Govemment OEM shzill apply interest,
penalties, and administt¿tive costs 1s ¿ deÏìnquent debt owed by a debtor pursuaat to the Federal Claims

. Collection Staodards and OMB Circular Å-129.

Page 5 - City of Portlard
30



M CoovdshtandPatents.

l, Copftight. If this agreement ot.any program ñrnded by this agteement tesults in a copydght, OEM and the
U.S. Departneot of Homelaad Securityresen-e atoyaTty-ftee,nonexclusive and irrevocable license to

. teptoduce, publish ot otheflrise use, and authotize othets to use, fot govemme'ûtpu4)oses, the-wo¡k or the
copyright to any wôtk developed uodel this âgreement and any righæ of copytight to which the Subgtantee, ot
its contr4ctot ot subcont¡actot, putchases ownership with gant suppolt,

2. Patent If this agteemeût or aûy prograo firnded by this agteement tesults in the production of patentable
items, patent dghts, ptocesses, ot inventions, the Subgtantee or âny ofits contractots or subconttactots shall
immediately notify OEM, OEM will ptovide the Subgantee with fiuthet inst¡uction on 

',v-hethet ptotection on
the item vill be sought and how the tights to the item rrill be allocated aod adminìsteted in order to ptotect the
public intetesg in accotdance..rith federal guidelines,

N. Govetning Law: Venue: Consent toJutisdiction. T'his r\gteernent shall be goveraed by and coasi¡ued in
acco¡dance q¡ith the larrs of the State of Oregon without tegard to pdnciples of corflicts ôf law' .r{ny çlaim, action,
suig ot ptoceeding (colleitivel¡ "Claim') between OEM (and/or âûy ot¡e1 agency or depattmeot ofthe St¿te of .

Otegon) a¡d the Subgrantee tlat arises from o¡¡elates to this.rlgreeare¡t shall be brougbt and conducted soJely and
. exclusiveþ within the Circuit Cou¡t for tle State of Oregoq provided, howevet, if the CI¿im must bê btought in a

fedetal fotum, then it shall be btought and conducted soleþ ánd.exclusively within the United'St¿tes District Court
fot the Disttict of Otegon. [n no event shall this Section be corstruêd as a waiver by the State of Otegoa of any

. form of defense ot iomunity, vhetler sovereþ iomunity, govemraental immunity, immunity b¿sed orl the
eleventlr amendment to the Constitution of the United States o¡ otlerwise, ftom ary cTaim or from the ju¡is¿iç¿¡oo
of ary court, The Subgtantee, by executioû of this agreement, heteby conserrtF to the fn Petsonam
Jutisdiction of said coutts, waives any objectioa to vinue, and waives any claim that such forun is an
inconveníent fotum,

O. Notices. Except as,othérwise exptessly provided in this Section, any communications betweea tlie patties he¡eto or
notice to be giveo heteuadet shatl be given in wdting by persooal deliverf, facsimile, or mailing tLe same by

. tegiSteted or cettified oait pobtage prepaid to the Subgt tee ot OEM at the addtess or nr:mber set forth on page 1

of this Ågteeoen! or to such other add¡esses ot numbers as either patty may heteaftet indicate pursu¡f fe this
sectiorl, Àny communication ot notice so addressed and sentby registeted ot cetified mail shall be deemed

- dèliveted upon feceþ ot tefusal of teceipt. Âny communic¿tiofl oî riotice delivered by facsimile shall be deemed to
be given when receþt of fte tranbmissioa. is generated by the transmitting machiûe. Åny communicatioo. or ¡.ofice
by petsonal delivety shall be dee¡ned to be giveo when actually delivered. The patti.es also may communicate by
teþhong tegulat oail or othel meafls, but such communic¿tions shall f,ot be deemed Notices under this Section
r;-aless teceipt by the other patty is e<pressly àckáowledged in wtiting by the ieceiving party.

P. Successots and Âssigni, This Ågreement shall be biud;ngì¡por aad inure to the benefit of OEl{ the Subgtantee,
and their respective successors and assigns, except thatt¡e Subgtantee may ûot assign of transfer its tights ot
obligations hetér¡¡der ot any interest heteio without tÏe priot conseat in wtiting of OEM.

Q. Sutvíval. AII provisions of this Âgteement set fotth ia the follovdng sections, shall survive termination of this
Àgteemenh Section [. G (r\dministmtive Requiréments, Retention and ,{ccess to Recotds, and Äudits); Section
II.H (Ptocuremeût Stafldards); Section tLI @ropetty/EquipmentMånagement aûd Records Control and Retention
of Recotds); Section ILK S.eports); aad Section If.L $ndemnification).

R' Severability. ffanytermorprovisionofthisr\gteementisdiclaredbyacouttofcompeterit¡dsdictiontobeillegal
ot in conflict v¡ith any law, the validity of the remainiag terms and provrsions shall not be affected, and the tìghts
and obligations of the parties shall be construed arrd enfotced as if this .{greemert did aot contain the pa-tticulat
term or ptovision held to be invalid.

S. Relationshþ of Patties, The patties agtee and a"k'iowledge that theit t"1n¿isnshiF is that of independent conttacting
'parties and neithet party hereto shaÌl be deemed ân âgeût, partrret, joint venturer or related entity of the other by
teasoa of this .A.greement,

Page6-CityofPortland
31



III. Subgrantee Compliance and Cetifications

,\. Debarment Sus¡ensioà- Ineli-øibiliw and Voluntarv E:tclusion. The Subørantee cettifi.esbv acceotins fr¡nds uider
this Ågteement that neither it nót its prin'cipals ate preseotly debarred, suspended, þtoposed for debamrent,

' declatecli¡eligiblq nor voluaadly exduded ftom p ipation in this tta¡sacEon by aoy Federal departrnent or
agency. (Ihis certificatiotr, is teqr¡ired by tegulaúons published lvfay 26, L988, iøplemeoting Executive Otdet 12549,
Debatment an'd Suspension, 44 CFR Patt 17) The Subgranteq shall establish ptocedues to ptovide for effective use
arrdf ot dissemination of the Excluded Parties List (http:/^rrwv.epls.gov/) to assure that theit coûeâctots a¡e notin
violatìon of tle noaptocurement clebameot ancl suspension common ¡ule,

B, Staudatd Àssu¡ances and Cetifications Reguding Lobbyi¡g. The Subgtantee is requfued to comply with,î4 CFR
Part 18, Naz E¿¡ticlìott¡ o¿Lobbt tgþttp:/ /w*rv.access.gþo.gov /¡øta/cft/vlusidx-07 /44eft18-07.htrnl). The
re¡üictions on lobbþg ate enfotceable via large civil pen¿lties, with civil 6nes between $10,000 and $100,000 per
expenditute. The Subgraatee understands and agçes that it co'l'ot use any federal fonds, either ditectly ot

' inditectl¡ irr suppott of the eûacûÌreng repeal, nodificâtioo or adoption of any law, tegulation ot policy, at aay level
of govemment, without tlie express ptior wtitteir apptoval of GPD,

C. Co¡',npliance with r\pplic¿bJe Lav¡. The Subgaotee âgrees to comply with dl airpticable laws, regulations, progtao
guidancq and guidelioes of the State of Oregoa, the Federal Govemment and OEMin the perfotrnance of this
agreernent, including but not limited to:

1.. .¿\dministrative Requitemenæ iet forth in ,14 CFR Patt 73;2 CBF'Patt27S.

2. CostPtincíples set forthin 2CFB.PanZ2S;Patt?301, aqdFedetalÀcquisitíon Regulation F¿,R) Part 31,2,

3, Àudit Requfuements set forth in OMB Circular À-133.

4. ihe provisioas set forth i¡ 44 CFR Part 7; Pa¡t 9; Part 10; aod Fedetal laws ot iegulations applicable to Fedetal
assistaoce progtams.

5. The F¡eedorn qf Ioformatioartct @OIÅ),5. U.S.C. 5552 with considetation of State asd local laws and
tegulations regadiog the telease of infotmation and tegulations goveming Sensitive Secutity Information (49

CFR Part 1520).

D,'
Limited Enslish Proficient f[,EP\ Petsons.

1: Non-disê¡imination and Civil Rigbts Compliance. The Subgrantee, and all its contractors ând subcontractors,
certifies that ao persor shall be excluded ftom participation in, denied the benefità of, subjected to
discdminationundet, ot denied emplo¡rnerrt i¡r connectio¡ wrth any activity frr¡ded r¡odet ihis agreement on
the basis of tace, color, age, rcþion, national otigin, disability, otgender, Tbe Subgrantee, aod allits
coûüactors and subcontractors, assures compliance with all applicable nondisctimioation laws, includingbut
not limited to:

. q. Nondiscdminatioo. Regulation 44 CFR Part 7;

. b. Title II of the Âmedcaas with Disabilities Act (.\DÀ) of 1990;

In the eveot that a Fedetal or Stâte court or adúir¡istrative agÇncy makes a finding of discrimíoation aftet a due
process hsering on the grormds of tace, color, age, religion, national orieiq disability or gendet against the
Subgtantee ot any ofits conü:¿ctors or subiontractots, ttre Subgraatee oi.any ofits coûtractois or
subconüactots will forwa¡d a copy of tlre .finding to OEM.

2, Eoual EmoLovment Oooort¡rnitv Prosram. Tbe Subqrantee, and any of its conttactors a¡rd subcontractors,
.

cettifies that a¿ equal ernployment oppoihrnity program will be i¡ effect on ot befote the effective date of this
agteement Th9 Subgtantee must maintain a cuffent copy or file,

3. Services to Limited English Ptoficient (LEP) Persons, National origin disctimination iocludes discrimination
, on the basis of límited English proficieney. Recipients of federal financial essistânce have an obligation to

. teduce languagebardets that cao preclude meaoiagftl access by LEP persorrs to importaatbeneEts, programs,
infotrnation and sèryices. For additiooal iaformatioq please see htç://.wuiwlep,gov. '

Page 7-City ofPortland 32



E. 'Environmental and Histotic Prese¡vation.

1, The Subgtantee shall cornply with all applicable Federal State, and local envi¡onmental and historic

it.esetyation (EHP) requiremeûts ao.d shall pronide any ioformation requested by FEMA to eixure compliance
with applicable errvito.mental and historic presewatiod laws includíngbût ûotliúited to:

^- N¿tional Envito.mental Policy Act,
b. NationalHistoricPreseration,{ct,
c. Endangeted Species Àct, and
d. Execuúve Orde¡s on Floodplains (11988), Iledands (11990) and EnvironmentalJustice (12898),

. Failute of the Subgrantee to meet Federal, State, and local EHP tequLements and obtain applicable permits
may jeoplrr&? Fedetal fuodi"g.

2, ' T\e Subgtantee shall ¡ot undettake any ptoiect without ptiot EHP apptoial by FEMA' ¡¡çl¡rti¡g but
. not limited to colnmunications towets, physical secuirity cnhanceme¡ts, new consffuction, dnd

modificatio¡s to buildings, structuree, and objects that ire 50 yeats old ot gteatet. The Subgrantee mì¡st
comply with ail coaditions placed on the pioject as thc result of the EHP teview. Âny change to the approved
ptoject scope ofwotk dl tequire re-evaluation fot compliance with these EHP requiremeats, If ground
distrrbing activities occur duting ptoject implementation, tle Subgraotee mr¡st ensuie morritoting of ground

' distutbance aod tf +y potential atcheológical rcsources ate discovered, the Subgtaatee will immediateþ cease
constmction ic that^teã and¡.otit FEMÄ aod the apptopriate State Historic Preservation Office. r{ny
const¡uction activities that have been initiated without the oecessary EHP ¡evrew a¡d approval will tesult in a
non-compliaa." 6¡dì¡g and will not be eligible fot EEIVÍA frroding-

3. Fot any of the Subgtantee's o¡ its contractors' or subcoattactots' eisting programs ot actþities that \¡¡ìll be
finded by these $aût furids, the Subgraotee, upon speiific rcquêst ftom the U.S. Depattment of Homeland
Security, agrees to coopr,t?¡te wjth tbe US, Departûrent of Hoaeland S eøuty m arty ptepatztot by the U.S.
Deparqent of Hooeland Secutity of a national or prograru envüo.-ental assessment of tt'¡t funded ptogam

' or activity.

F. Drug Ftee Wotkplace Requitements. Tl.e Subgtaotee ce¡tifies that it will provide a dng-ftee.wotLFlace. There ate
' two general tequitements ifyou are a recipient othet than an individual

1. You ¡núst make a good faith effotf, on a continuing basis, to maintain a drug-ftee wod¡place, Briefl¡ those
measu.tes are to:
a. Publish a drug-ftee workplace statem.eût à¡d est¿blish a drug-free awareress ptogmm for yout employees

(see 44 CFRPart 77.Q;ota
b, Take actions concening employees who ate convicted sf ¡¡iol¿ting dnrg statutes io the wotkplace.

,2, You rnust identify all known workplaces under yout Fedetal awards.

Additional infomation can be.referenced at htqr://w\¡¡rv.access,gpo.gov /nata/cfr./waisidx:-O8/44círo1-08åtÞ1.

G, Classified National SecudtL-Info¡rnation, No frrndiog uadet thís arva¡d shall be used to support a corüact,
subawa¡d ot otler agreement for goods or services that rpill include access to dassified national security informatioa
if the awatd æcipie¡rt h¿s not been approved fot and h¿s access tô such info¡mation. Classified national security
info¡matioh as defined in E:recutive Otdet (EO) 12958, as amended, mea¡s iûformation that has þ¿6¿ dçfetmined
pursuâût to.EO 72958 or any predecessot ordet to requhe protection against uoauthodzed disclosue and is matked
to indicate its classified statuq when in documentary foun.

H. Human TrafEcking. The Subgrantee, employees, contâcto¡s and subtecipients under this au'atd and tieit respective
employees máynot;

1. Engage in seve¡e fo¡ms of ftaffickíûg ir persons dudng the pedod of the ti¡ne the award is in effec!
2, Procu¡e a comme¡cial sex act dutiflg the period of time the a¡ra¡d is in effecg ot
3. Use forced labor io the petformance of the award or subawards unde¡ the award.

The -Subgantee must infotrr OEM immediateþ of any informatio¡ the Subgrantee receives from any sogrce
alleginþ a violation of any of the above prohiÉitions in this award teffr. OEM's dghf to terrnioâte ulilatetally is in
additioaal to all other remedies uirder this a\¡/ard, The Subgmntee ¡rust include these tequiremeats in any subawatd
made to pubüc ot private entities.

Pago I - City of Portland
33



ry. Suspension otTetmination of Funding

OEM may suspeod 6.nding io whole or in patt, temrinate ñrndþg, ot impose arother sanction on ¿ Homeland Secudg
Grant Ptogtam. recipi'ent fot any of the following reasoûs:

Å, Failure to comply substantially with the requíranents or itatutoty objectiv'es óf the Homel¿nd Secutity Gtaat
Progtam - Utb¿¡.tkea Secutities Initiaúve guidelines issued thereundet, ot other provisious of fedetal law,

B, Failu¡e to male satisfactory ptogess towatd the goals and objectires set forth in the approved Project

Justificatioo(s).

C, Failute to adhere to the requiremeots of the graot arrard aad standard ot special conditions.

' D. Proposing ot imFleoenting substantial plao changes to the extent that, if otigin¿lly sùbmitted, tle application rrould
not have been selected.

E. Failing to comply substaotially with any othet applicable fedetal or state statute, tegulation" or gnideline. Befo¡e
imposiag sa-octions, OEM will ptovide teason¿ble notice to the Subganfee of its iateot to impose sancÉioas a¿d wrll

- attempt to resolve the ptoblem inforrnally.

V. Terninatioû of .Agteement

OEM may unilatetally tetminate all ot part of this Àgteement or may teduce its scope of wotk if thete is:

À. .å. ¡eductioo i¡ federal ñ¡nds t¡hich are the basis fo¡ this:{.greernent

B, Ä matetial misrepreseûtatioo, ertor, ot iraccutacy in Subgtantee's application,

C. .t charge, modificatioo ot interptetation of State ot Federal lan's, tegulations or grridelines that deptives OEM of
authotity to provide grant fi;rrds fot the prograo or provide fi¡nds ftom the planned ñ:nding souce,

Page 9 - City of Portla¡d
34



YI. Subgrantee Rcpresent.itions andWaranties

' The Subgtantee represetrts and warrants to OEM as follows:

À. Existegge and Power. The Subgtaatee is a political subdivision of the State of Oægon. The Subgtaatee has fi¡lI
power and authotity to trans¿ct the business in which it is engaged aod fi:ll power, authotity, and legal right to
execute and deliver this Ågteement a¡d i¡cur an'd petfotm its oblþtions he¡er¡ndet,

B. .Authodty. No Conttaventio¡u The making and petforrnance by the Subgtantee of this,{gteement (a) have been
duly authorized by all aecessty acfioro of the Subgtantee, (b) do not aad will not violate auy provision of ary

. Épplicable law, nrle, or tegulation ot ordet of any coutt, regulator¡ commission, boatd or otÏer administrative
agency or any provision of tìe Subgtantee's articles of inco¡poraUon or bylaws and (c) do not arrd will not tesult i¡

_ ttre bteach of, or'coostitute a default or tequite arry coflsent rmdet any othet agreement ot ìnst¡¡oent to which tle
Subgtaotee is a patty ot by which the Subgrantee or arÌy ofits properties ate bound ot affected-

C. Binding Oblìætion. This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and deli.vered on behdf of the Subgantee
and constitutes the legal valid, and binding oblþtion of the Subgtantee, enforceable in accordance v¿ith its tetms.

D. Âpprovals. No authorÞation, consen! licerise, apptoval of, filing or registration witl, ot notification to, aîy
governmental bocly ot regulatory or supervisOry authotity is tequired fot tle execution, delivery or performance by
the Subgraatee of this r\gteement,

Plans and-Ttairri¡g Section Ditector Date
MilitaryDepa¡tment

of Emetgency Management
PO Box 14370
Salem, OF*97309-5062 -,

Date

a

ç 4"/o*i r/4 o^-^-C1

Name/Tíde ,l
/

Sþatute of AuthotÞed Reptesentative of Subgrantee Agency

Approved for Legal Sufficíency:

Steven rt. WolFbv email

I
Date

Feb¡ran¡ 23.201,7

DateÂssistant Attomey Genetal

Page l0 - City ofPortland
35



Resolution 2011-085, Staff Report 
October 4, 2011 
Page 1 of 1 

Council Meeting Date: October 4, 2011 
 

Agenda Item: Consent Agenda 
            
TO:  Sherwood City Council 
 
FROM:  Bob Galati, P.E., City Engineer, Engineering Department 
 
 
SUBJECT: RESOLUTION 2011-085, AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO A 
CONTRACT WITH ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE AND ASSESSMENT, LLC (ES&A) FOR ON-
CALL ENVRONMENTAL ENGINEERING SERVICES. 

ISSUE:  Shall the City Council adopt Resolution 2011-085 which authorizes the City Manager to enter 
into a contract with Environmental Science and Assessment, LLC (ES&A) for On-Call Environmental 
Engineering Services? 
 
BACKGROUND: Environmental engineering is a specialized branch of civil engineering in which the 
City’s Engineering Department staff does not have extensive experience or skillsets to provide this 
service in-house.  The best way for the City to acquire this capability is to contract with a consulting 
engineering firm for these services. 
 
The Community Development Division will utilize the on-call environmental engineering services in 
planning review and approval process for private development submittals, and for development and 
amending the City’s Ordinances related to environmental impacts on an as-needed basis.  The 
Engineering Department may also utilize the environmental engineering consultant on the 
development of minor capital improvement projects (CIP’s) on an as-needed basis. 
 
FINDINGS: On May 2nd, 2011, staff solicited proposals from qualified consulting firms for on-call 
environmental engineering services.  Proposal submittals were to be submitted on May 19th, 2011.  
Eight environmental engineering consulting firms responded with submittals of their qualifications and 
proposals. 
 
A review committee comprised of staff from the engineering and planning departments reviewed and 
ranked the proposals based on a simple point system.  Four of the consultants with the highest 
ranking were then asked to attend an interview with City review committee.  Interviews were held over 
a 2 day period with the interviewees being ranked by a simple point system based on their 
presentations and responses to questions. The highest ranking consulting firm, Environmental 
Science and Assessment, LLC (ES&A), was selected to provide the on-call environmental 
engineering services to the City. 
 
Negotiations with ES&A took place and a scope of work letter was defined and agreed to.  ES&A 
provided an Escalated Salary Rate Schedule which will be used to determine payments.  Both 
documents are attachments to the professional services contract. 
 
The On-Call Environmental Engineering Services contract will run for a period of three years with a 
lump sum contract amount not to exceed $75,000.00.  The contract period may be extended twice in 
one year increments if the remaining budget will cover the expected consultant time during the 
extension. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: MOTION TO APPROVE RESOLUTION 2011-085  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT WITH 
ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE AND ASSESSMENT, LLC (ES&A) FOR ON-CALL 
ENVIRONMENTAL ENGINEERING SERVICES. 

36



DRAFT 

Resolution 2011-085   
October 4, 2011 
Page 1 of 1 with Exhibits A (2 pgs) & Exhibit B (1 pg) 

 
 

RESOLUTION 2011-085 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT 
WITH EVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE AND ASSESSMENT, LLC (ES&A) FOR ON-CALL 
ENVIRONMENTAL ENGINEERING SERVICES 
 
WHEREAS, the City solicited proposals for in-call environmental engineering services 
supporting staff in private development reviews and very small capital improvement projects 
where issuance of a professional services RFP is not warranted or cost effective; and 
 
WHEREAS, the request for proposal (RFP) was publicly advertised and eight qualified 
consulting firm proposals were received, evaluated and ranked based on a simple point system, 
with the top four ranked consulting firm proposals receiving invitations to be interviewed and to 
make a presentation to City staff; and  
 
WHEREAS, interviews and presentations were conducted by City staff with the four consulting 
firms being ranked based on a simple point system; and 
 
WHEREAS; the highest ranked consulting firm, Environmental Science and Assessment, LLC 
was selected to provide the on-call environmental services to the City. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF SHERWOOD RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1:  The City Council authorizes the City Manager to enter into a contract with 
Environmental Science and Assessment, LLC (ES&A), for on-call environmental engineering 
services.  The Scope of Work letter is attached as “Exhibit A” and an Escalated Rates Schedule 
is attached as “Exhibit B”. 

 
Section 2:  The Contract for On-Call Environmental Services will have a “not to exceed” amount 
of $75,000 for a term of three (3) years.  The contract may be extended twice (2x) in one (1) 
year increments if remaining budget will cover the expected consultant time during the one year 
contract extension period. 
 
Section 3:  This Resolution shall be in effect upon its approval and adoption. 
 
 Duly passed by the City Council this 4th day of October 2011. 
 
 
        _________________________ 
        Keith S. Mays, Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 
      
Sylvia Murphy, CMC, City Recorder 

37



38



39



40



 DRAFT 

Resolution 2011-086 
October 4, 2011 
Page 1 of 1  

 
 

RESOLUTION 2011-086 
 

A RESOLUTION FOR CITY MANAGER PRO TEM TO RECEIVE  
OUT OF CLASS PAY 

  
 WHEREAS, the City Manager position will become vacant after October 5, 2011 
and Tom Pessemier has been selected as City Manager Pro Tem, and 
 
 WHEREAS, The City of Sherwood has regularly paid a 5% out of class incentive 
for staff working significantly outside of their regularly assigned duties, 
   
 NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF SHERWOOD RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.   Provide a 5% out of class payment premium during the period that 

Tom Pessemier fills the City Manager Pro Tem position. 
 
 Section 2.   The Human Resources and Finance Staff shall prepare the 

appropriate paperwork for the Mayor to sign to enact the out of class pay. 
 
 
Duly passed by the City Council this 4th day of October 2011. 
 
 
        ________________________ 
        Keith S. Mays, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Sylvia Murphy, CMC, City Recorder     

41



 

Ordinance 2011-011 
October 4, 2011  
Page 1 of 1 

            Council Meeting Date: October 4, 2011 
               Agenda Item:  Public Hearing 

TO:  Sherwood City Council 
FROM:  Michelle Miller, AICP Associate Planner 
Through: Tom Pessemier, Community Development Director 
Subject: Development Code Clean-Up: Public Infrastructure, Land Division, and Site Plan Modification 

 
 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
Summary: As part of a multi-phase code clean-up project with the goal of providing a more clear and usable 
code for both citizens and developers alike, the proposed amendments include updates to: 1) public 
infrastructure with added, tables and figures, 2) the land division process including subdivisions, partitions and  
lot line adjustments, and 3) site plan modifications.  The Planning Commission held a public hearing on August 
23, 2011 and forwarded a recommendation (Exhibit 1) of approval to the City Council. The Planning 
Commission’s recommended code amendments are attached as Exhibit 1-A showing the scrivener error 
corrections from the September 20, 2011 Council hearing. The Council continued the hearing order to discuss 
lot averaging for subdivisions and the construction bond amount.  
 
Previous Council Action: The City Council held a hearing on September 20, 2011 and continued the 
deliberations to October 4, 2011 in order to address the issue of lot averaging and the appropriate amount to 
calculate for a construction bond for the public improvements. 
 
Background/Problem Discussion: The City began the multi-phase code update in April 2010, with updates 
to multiple sections of the Sherwood Zoning and Development Code. Council held a public hearing regarding 
land divisions, public infrastructure and site plan modifications. Council requested staff propose alternative 
language to the Council regarding lot averaging for subdivisions and address the appropriate construction 
bond amount for public infrastructure.  Attachment 2 includes more detailed discussion of the lot averaging 
language and options for Council to consider. 
 
Alternatives: Approve, approve with modifications or deny the Planning Commission recommendation.  
 
Financial Implications: There will be costs associated with making the Code updates available online and 
also updates to forms and providing informational materials to the public.  
 
Recommendation: Staff recommends that the City Council discuss the proposed amended language on lot 
averaging and construction bond amount in order to adopt the attached Ordinance or direct staff to make 
additional modifications to the proposed text changes.   
 
Attachments:   

Attachment 1: Alternative Proposed Code language regarding lot average and response to construction 
 bond amount  

Ordinance: Ordinance 2011-011 
Exhibit 1:   Planning Commission Recommendation 
Exhibit 1-A:  Proposed Development Code Amendments with “Track Changes” as amended 
 
. 
 
 

42



 
 

 

 

 

 

M E M O R A N D U M  
 

 
To: City Council 

From: Michelle Miller, AICP Associate Planner 

Date: October 4, 2011 

RE: Analysis of Lot Averaging and Construction Bond Amount 

 

At the hearing on September 20, 2011, staff introduced the Planning Commission 
recommendation for proposed amendments to the Sherwood Zoning and Development Code 
regarding site plan modifications, public infrastructure and land divisions. PA 11-03. Council 
appeared generally supportive of most of the proposed code amendments, but requested 
further information and evaluation on the issue of lot averaging and the construction bond 
amount received prior to construction of the public infrastructure. 

Lot Averaging 

The current Development Code has several alternatives in place to provide flexibility to the 
minimum lot size requirements in residential zones.  An applicant may use Infill Development 
standards (§ 16.68) and Planned Unit Developments (PUD) § 16.40 to reduce some lots below 
the minimum lot size so  long as the average size of all of the lots meets the minimum lot size 
for the entire development. 

The proposed lot averaging code language creates another flexible alternative for 
developments rather than a planned unit development or infill when the only flexibility needed 
is a slight modification to the minimum lot size standard for some of the lots but keeps the 
development within an “average” lot size that meets the minimum lot size requirements 
overall.  The lot size averaging is not uncommon among neighboring jurisdictions and grants the 
ability to provide a better site layout than might otherwise be available if strict adherence to 
the minimum lot size is required. 

The following table reflects the minimum lot size per residential zone, the twenty percent 
reduction allowance for average lot size, the infill development standard for comparison 
purposes and describes a maximum lot size if lot averaging is used.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

43



Residential Zone Minimum Lot 
Size-single 
family 

20 % Reduction 
in min. lot size 

Infill 
Development 
15% reduction 
(sites less than 5 
acres)  

Maximum Lot 20 % 
over min. lot size 

Very low density 

(VLDR) 

40,000 32,000 34,000 48,000 

Low Density  

(LDR) 

7000 5600 5950 8400 

Medium Density 
Residential Low 

(MDRL) 

5000 4000 4250 6000 

Medium Density 
Residential High 

(MDRH) 

 

5000 

 

4000 

 

4250 

 

6000 

High Density (HDR) 5000 4000 4250 6000 

 
Planning Commission Recommendation Proposed Language: 
 
16.120.020 General Subdivision Provisions 
 
E. Lot averaging  
Lot size may be averaged to allow lots less than the minimum lot size allowed in the underlying 
zoning district subject to the following regulations: 
 1.  The average lot area for all lots is not less than allowed by the underlying zoning 
 district.  
 2. No lot created under this provision shall be less than 80% of the minimum lot size 
 allowed in the underlying zoning district. 
 
 
Proposed Language Alternatives 
 

1. Add a provision that the minimum lot size cannot fall below 5000 square feet (or other 
minimum amount.) 

 This would result in the lot size averaging only being a viable option in LDR and VLDR 
 zones; however the remaining zones would have some flexibility if the infill or PUD 
 standards were used and there would also be the opportunity for multi-family 
 developments with smaller lot sizes. 
 

2. Add a provision that the maximum lot size cannot be greater than 20% of the minimum 
lot size. This would ensure that the development does not have only one or a few 

44



disproportionately large lots compared to the remaining smaller lots being less than the 
minimum lot size. 

 
     3.  Add a provision that all existing setback requirements are to remain in effect. 
 This would specify that while the lot size may be less than the minimum lot size, all 
 setbacks remain in effect. 
 
     4.  Change the percentage of minimum lot size to 85% so that it is the same as the infill  
 standards. 
 
 
      5.  Modify the minimum lot size average overall to 10% 
 
 
Staff recommendation: 
Based on the discussion of the alternatives, it is recommended that the Council modify the 
proposed code amendments to incorporate both alternatives 1 and 2.  Doing so would maintain 
the benefits of infill standards for MDRL, MDRH and HDR properties, while ensuring that the 
intent of the lot averaging is met.  The following reflects the staff recommended change: 
 
 
E. Lot averaging  
Lot size may be averaged to allow lots less than the minimum lot size allowed in the underlying 
zoning district subject to the following regulations: 
 1.  The average lot area for all lots is not less than allowed by the underlying zoning 
 district.  
 2. No lot created under this provision shall be less than 80% of the minimum lot size 
 allowed in the underlying zoning district. 
 3. The minimum lot size cannot fall below 5000 square feet. 
 4. The maximum lot size cannot be greater than 20% of the minimum lot size. 
 
 
Construction Bond Provision 
At the hearing on September 20, 2011 City Attorney Elsner recommended that the bond 
amount be raised to 125% of the construction costs in order to ensure that the City has 
adequate funds available to complete the public infrastructure should the developer be unable 
to complete the project.  Staff has reviewed this recommendation and concurs.   
 
 
 
 
Staff recommendation: Change 16.108.020 to reflect the following: 
 
16.108.020 Construction Permit 

45



D.  Improvement Guarantees  
Prior to issuance of a construction permit the applicant shall file the following documents with the City: 
 1. Liability Insurance  
 Evidence of liability and property damage insurance adequate to protect the applicant and the 
 City from all claims for damage or personal injury. 
 
 2. Performance Bond  
 To assure full and faithful performance in the construction of required improvements in 
 accordance with approved construction plans, the applicant shall provide security in an amount 
 equal to one hundred-twenty-five percent (100125%) of the estimated cost of the 
 improvements. In the event the applicant fails to carry out all provisions of the approved 
 improvements plans and the City has non-reimbursed costs or expenses resulting from such 
 failure, the City shall call on the security for reimbursement. Security may be in the form of a 
 surety bond executed by a surety company authorized to transact business in the State of 
 Oregon, a cash deposit, or irrevocable standing letter of credit. 
 
 
 

 

46



 

Ordinance 
October 4, 
Page 1 of 2

AN ORD
DEVELO
 
 W
compreh
 
 W
compreh
and  
 
 W
amendm
 
 W
related t
process; 
 
 W
with the 
and 
 

W
review an

 
 W
to the Cit
  
 W
recomme
  
 W
determin
Compreh

 
 
NOW, TH
 
 S
Commiss
hearing, 

2011-011 
2011 

2, with Exhibits

DINANCE A
OPMENT CO

WHEREAS, 
ensively upd

WHEREAS, 
ensively upd

WHEREAS, 
ents after ex

WHEREAS, t
o the public
and 

WHEREAS, t
Comprehen

WHEREAS, 
nd a public h

WHEREAS, 
ty Council fo

WHEREAS, 
endation are

WHEREAS, 
ed that th

hensive Plan

HEREFORE

Section 1. F
sion recomm

the Counc

s 1-Planning Co

AMENDING 
ODE INCLUD

The Sherwo
dated in man

the City 
date the dev

the Plannin
xtensive pub

this phase i
c infrastruct

the propose
nsive Plan, r

the propos
hearing was 

the Planning
or the propos

the analy
e identified in

the City C
e proposed

n criteria and

E, THE CITY

Findings.  A
mendation, 
cil adopts t

ommission Rec

ORDINA

MULTIPLE 
DING DIVIS

ood Zoning 
ny years; an

has unde
velopment co

ng Commis
blic outreach

ncludes am
ure, land d

ed amendme
regional and

ed amendm
held before

g Commissi
sed Develop

ysis and f
n the attache

Council held
d changes 
d continued t

Y OF SHERW

After full and
the record,

the findings

commendation

 
ANCE 2011-

 
SECTIONS
IONS III, V, 

and Comm
nd 

ertaken a 
ode to ensur

sion helped
h and opport

endments to
ivisions, site

ents were re
d state regu

ments were 
e the Plannin

on voted to 
pment Code 

findings to 
ed Exhibit 1;

d a public 
to the De

to be consis

WOOD ORD

d due consid
, findings, a
s of fact co

 (4 pgs) and 1-

 

-011 

S OF THE Z
VI, AND VII

munity Devel

multi-phase
re that it is c

d guide the
tunity for pub

o Divisions 
e plan mod

eviewed for 
ulations and 

subject to 
ng Commiss

forward a r
modification

support t
 and 

hearing on 
evelopment 
stent with reg

DAINS AS FO

deration of t
and evidenc
ontained in 

-A, Code Amen

ZONING AN
I 

opment Cod

e, multi-ye
clear, consist

e developme
blic input; an

III, V, VI and
ifications an

compliance 
found to be

full and pr
ion on Augu

recommenda
ns; and  

the Planni

Septembe
Code met

gional and s

OLLOWS:  

the applicati
ce presente

the Plann

DR

ndments (55 pg

ND COMMU

de has not 

ear program
tent, and cu

ent of prop
nd 

d VII, specif
nd administr

and consist
e fully comp

roper notice
ust 23, 2011;

ation of app

ng Commi

r 20, 2011
t the applic
tate standar

ion, the Plan
ed at the p
ing Commi

RAFT 

gs)  

NITY 

been 

m to 
rrent; 

posed 

fically 
rative 

tency 
pliant; 

e and 
; and 

proval 

ssion 

 and 
cable 
rds. 

nning 
public 
ssion 

47



 DRAFT 

Ordinance 2011-011 
October 4, 2011 
Page 2 of 2, with Exhibits 1-Planning Commission Recommendation (4 pgs) and 1-A, Code Amendments (55 pgs)  

recommendation attached as Exhibit 1 finding that the text of the SZCDC shall be amended as 
documented in Exhibit 1-A.  
 
 Section 2. Approval.  The proposed amendments for Plan Text Amendment (PA) 11-03 
identified in Exhibits 1-A is hereby APPROVED. 
 
 Section 3 - Manager Authorized.  The Planning Department is hereby directed to take 
such action as may be necessary to document this amendment, including notice of adoption to 
DLCD and necessary updates to Chapter 16 of the municipal code in accordance with City 
ordinances and regulations. 
 
 Section 4 - Applicability.  The amendments to the City of Sherwood Zoning and 
Community Development Code by Sections 1 to 3 of this Ordinance apply to all land use 
applications submitted after the effective date of this Ordinance. 
 
 Section 5 - Effective Date. This ordinance shall become effective the 30th day after its 
enactment by the City Council and approval by the Mayor. 
 
  
 
Duly passed by the City Council this 4th day of October 2011.  
 
 
 
       _________________________ 
       Keith S. Mays, Mayor 
 
Attest:   
 
 
      
Sylvia Murphy, CMC, City Recorder     
 
              AYE  NAY 
         Clark      ____  ____ 
         Langer       ____  ____ 
         Butterfield  ____  ____ 
         Folsom      ____  ____ 
         Henderson ____  ____ 
         Grant        ____  ____ 
         Mays        ____  ____ 

48



 

Exhibit 1 - Staff Report to City Council  
PA 11-03, Public Infrastructure, Subdivisions and Partitions, and Site Plan Modifications  Page 1 of 4 

 
City of Sherwood        September 9, 2011 
Staff Report Following Planning Commission  
Recommendation to the City Council   
File No: PA 11-03 Land Divisions, Public Infrastructure and Site Plan 
Modifications 
 
Proposal: Amendments to the Development Code on this phase of the “Code Clean-Up” project include 
updates to: 1) site plan modifications, 2)public infrastructure with added, tables and figures, and the 3) the land 
division process including subdivisions, partitions and lot line adjustments.   
 
The Planning Commission held a hearing on August 23, 2011.  After discussion of the various topics 
within the sections, the Commission recommended several minor alterations to the proposed language. 
After consideration of the public testimony and staff recommended changes, the Commission voted to 
forward the proposed amendments to the Council for approval. 
 
 
I. BACKGROUND 
 

A. Applicant: This is a City-initiated text amendment; therefore the applicant is the City of 
Sherwood. 

  

B. Location:  The proposed amendment is to the text of the development code and, therefore applies 
citywide.   

 
C. Review Type: The proposed text amendment requires a Type V review, which involves public 

hearings before the Planning Commission and City Council.  The Planning Commission will make a 
recommendation to the City Council who will make the final decision.  Any appeal of the City 
Council decision would go directly to the Land Use Board of Appeals. 
 

D. Public Notice and Hearing:  Notice of the August 23, 2011 Planning Commission hearing on the 
proposed amendment was published in The Gazette on 8/1/11 and The Times on 8/18/11.  Notice 
was posted in 5 public locations around town and on the web site on 7/22/11. Regular updates were 
provided in the City newsletter.   

 
While this does apply citywide, it does not affect the permissible uses of any property; therefore 
Measure 56 notice was not required or provided. DLCD notice was provided 7/1/11. 

 
E. Review Criteria:  

The required findings for the Plan Amendment are identified in Section 16.80.030 of the Sherwood 
Zoning and Community Development Code (SZCDC). 
 

F. Background: 
The city began the comprehensive code clean-up project in 2010 as a way to update all sections of 
the code to provide clarity to citizens and developers and to address any local, county, regional or 
state standards that have gone into effect and that require changes to the code.  The Planning 
Commission has reviewed and the City Council has adopted multiple sections of the Code recently 
including the topics: residential uses, variances, street trees, and open space requirements for 
subdivisions. 

 
 
 

49



 

Exhibit 1 - Staff Report to City Council  
PA 11-03, Public Infrastructure, Subdivisions and Partitions, and Site Plan Modifications  Page 2 of 4 

II. AFFECTED AGENCY, PUBLIC NOTICE, AND PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 

Agencies: 
The City sent request for comments to the standard agency notification list.  The City has received no 
responses to date.  

 
Public:  
No formal public comments have been received to date on the proposed amendments; however the 
City and Commission have received input from the public during informal listening sessions and via 
public surveys.  In addition, staff held a “brown bag” lunch meeting with private consultants and 
developers to get feedback on these issues. 

 
III. REQUIRED FINDINGS FOR A PLAN TEXT AMENDMENT 
The applicable Plan Text Amendment review criteria are 16.80.030.1 and 3. 
 
16.80.030.1 - Text Amendment Review 

An amendment to the text of the Comprehensive Plan shall be based upon the need for such an 
amendment as identified by the Council or the Commission.  Such an amendment shall be 
consistent with the intent of the Comprehensive Plan, and with all other provisions of the Plan 
and Code, and with any applicable State or City statutes and regulations. 

 
Need Identified 
As discussed briefly above, the following proposed Code amendments were identified to clarify and 
create greater flexibility and organization for those that are seeking land use approval or modifications to 
existing site plans. The Planning Commission held a series of work sessions to discuss the proposed 
changes and considered public input before the changes were recommended. The following analyzes 
separately how the relevant chapters and divisions meet the need requirement.  
 
 Site Plan Modification § 16.90.030  

Currently, the Sherwood Zoning and Community Development Code, Section 16.90.020.3.0, requires 
all “proposed changes” to approved site plans to be “submitted for supplemental review together with a 
fee equal to one-half (1/2) the original site plan review fee”.  This ambiguous, one-size-fits-all language 
has been a stumbling block to developers making changes, including improvements, to approved site 
plans.  It has also resulted in staff reports in excess of 30 pages for a simple change to the parking 
layout or addition of a very small, accessory building to the site. While some proposed modifications to 
approved plans do warrant a full re-review, others can be processed quickly and efficiently at little cost 
to the developer or the community. 
 

Division VI. Public Infrastructure   
 This chapter regulates and describes standards for public improvements to the City’s infrastructure 
 when development occurs. Several of the provisions included in this chapter need reorganizing, 
 updating or removal because they are better suited in other sections of the Municipal Code or are 
 technical design standards better addressed in the Engineering Design and Standards Detail Manual. 
 For example, the Street Renaming procedure is Council policy design and not a land use decision. The 
 Street Design Modifications process is arbitrary and confusing so a clearer process that is initiated at 
 the time of land use submittal has been developed.  
 
 Other steps that have been taken to improve the clarity of the document include:  

• Technical street design standards have been removed  
• Language was inserted to refer to the Transportation System Plan and Engineering Design 
 Manual instead of a specific criteria described in the development code 
• Language requiring a rough proportionality finding  
• New requirements for when a Transportation Study is required 

50



 

Exhibit 1 - Staff Report to City Council  
PA 11-03, Public Infrastructure, Subdivisions and Partitions, and Site Plan Modifications  Page 3 of 4 

     
 
 Division VII. Subdivisions, Partitions and Lot Line Adjustments 

The current chapters are divided between the preliminary plat approval and the final plat approval.  
There is also a property or lot line adjustment chapter along with a chapter on lot design standard 
requirements. This has led to confusion regarding which standards and criteria apply to partitions, 
subdivisions and lot line adjustments. The proposed Code amendments reorganize these chapters into 
“subdivision” “partition” and “lot line adjustment” rather than “preliminary plat,” “final plat” and 
“partitions.” Currently, there is no specific subdivision chapter and the requirements for subdivisions are 
intermixed among the three chapters, causing confusion and misinterpretation of the requirements and 
order of the process for the particular land division process. By reorganizing the chapters, it will make 
the submittal requirements, process and criteria easier for the applicant to locate based on the type of 
land division requested. It also helps to clarify the appropriate process for recording the final plat at 
Washington County and provides the appropriate deadlines for processing these applications.  Other 
changes help provide greater flexibility in the development process including allowing the entire 
subdivision to have an overall “average lot size” rather than a minimum lot size for each individual lot.  
The provisions retain a maximum amount that a lot size can be “flexed” to ensure that lot sizes do not 
get reduced below a buildable or acceptable amount.  The proposed changes also allow smaller 
subdivisions (4-10 lots) to follow a Type II (staff review) process. Finally, a new process was developed 
for re-platting and vacating plats to help make the process clear as the current code is silent on the 
issue. 

  
Upon review of the Comprehensive Plan, the following policies or strategies relate to all or some of the 
proposed amendments:  
 
Comprehensive Plan and Code 

 Chapter 6 Transportation Goal 2 
 Develop a transportation system that is consistent with the City’s adopted comprehensive land use 
 plans and with the adopted plans of state local and regional jurisdictions.  The proposed amendments 
 to the public infrastructure chapter were evaluated to ensure that they were consistent with the adopted 
 local, state and regional jurisdictions. Specifically, the amendments provide for added reference to the 
 Transportation System Plan and clearer requirements for transportation studies. 
 

Applicable Regional (Metro) standards 
There are no known Metro standards that this proposed amendment would conflict with.  
 
Consistency with Statewide Planning Goals   
Goal 1- “Citizen Involvement” 
The purpose statement of Goal 1 is “to develop a citizen involvement program that insures the opportunity for 
citizens to be involved in all phases of the planning process.”  

 
The proposed code changes do not include changes to the City’s citizen involvement program, which is in 
compliance with Goal 1.  Public outreach for this project includes informal listening sessions and staff held 
a “brown bag” lunch meeting with private consultants and developers to get feedback on these issues.  

 
Goal 2- “Land Use Planning” 
The purpose statement of Goal 2 is “to establish a land use planning process and policy framework as a 
basis for all decision and actions related to use of land and to ensure an adequate factual base for such 
decisions and actions”. 
 
The proposed code changes affect the land use process by making it easier to follow and use but do not 
change the way the land use application Code requirements are applied or the policy framework for which 
they are established.  The City’s land use planning process and policy framework, which are in compliance 
with Goal 2, will not change. 

51



 

Exhibit 1 - Staff Report to City Council  
PA 11-03, Public Infrastructure, Subdivisions and Partitions, and Site Plan Modifications  Page 4 of 4 

 
 
 

16.80.030.2 – Transportation Planning Rule Consistency 
A. Review of plan and text amendment applications for effect on transportation facilities. 
Proposals shall be reviewed to determine whether it significantly affects a transportation facility, 
in accordance with OAR 660-12-0060 (the TPR). Review is required when a development 
application includes a proposed amendment to the Comprehensive Plan or changes to land use 
regulations. 

 
FINDING: The amendments will not result in a change of uses otherwise permitted and will have no 
impact on the amount of traffic on the transportation system; therefore this policy is not applicable to the 
proposed amendment.  

 

52



 

   
 

Added Code language to the chapters are identified with blue underline and deletions are identified 

with a red strikethrough   Moving text from one section to another is identified with green double 

strike through and where the language moved to is identified with green double underline.  

16.90.020 Site Plan Review 

A.   Site Plan Review Required 

Site Plan review shall be required prior to any substantial change to a site or use, issuance of building 

permits for a new building or structure, or for the substantial alteration of an existing structure or use, 

and prior to the issuance of a sign permit for the erection or construction of a sign 

For the purposes of Section 16.90.020, the term "substantial alterationchange" and “substantial 

alteration” shall mean any development activity as defined by this Code that generally requires a 

building permit and may exhibit one or more of the following characteristics: 

1.   The activity alters the exterior appearance of a structure, building or property and is not considered 

a modification. 

2.   The activity involves changes in the use of a structure, building, or property from residential to 

commercial or industrial and is not considered a modification. 

3.   The activity involves non-conforming uses as defined in Chapter 16.48. 

4.   The activity constitutes a change in a City approved plan, as per Section 16.90.020 and is not 

considered a modification. 

5.   The activity involves the cutting of more than five (5) existing mature trees per acre, per calendar 

year. 

6.   The activity is subject to site plan review by other requirements of this Code. 

7.  The activity increases the size of the building by more than 100% (i.e. the building more than doubles 

in size), regardless of whether it would be considered a major or minor modification. 

7.   Review of any proposed activity indicates that the project does not meet the standards of Section 

16.90.020 

B.  Exemption to Site Plan Requirement 

1. Single and two family uses 

2. Manufactured homes located on individual residential lots per Section 16.46.010, but including 

manufactured home parks, 

3. Major modifications  

4. Minor modifications  

53



 

   
 

 

B.   Exemptions 

The City shall make an initial determination whether a proposed project requires a site plan review or 

whether the project is exempt. The City Manager or his or her designee is authorized to waive site plan 

review when a proposed development activity clearly does not represent a substantial alteration to the 

building or site involved. The findings of the City Manager or his or her designee shall be made in writing 

to the applicant. The action of the City Manager or his or her designee may be appealed as per Chapter 

16.76. 

CB.   Plan Changes16.90.030 Site Plan Modifications and Revocation  

1A..   ChangesModifications to Approved Site Plans 

Construction, site development, landscaping, tree mitigation, habitat preservation, and other 

development activities shall be carried out in accordance with the site development plans per Chapter 

16.72. Any proposed changes to approved plans shall be submitted for review to the City. Changes that 

are found to be substantial, as defined by Section 16.90.020, that conflict with original approvals, or that 

otherwise may conflict with the standards of Section 16.90.020, shall be submitted for supplemental 

review together with a fee equal to one-half ( 1/2) the original site plan review fee. 

1. Major Modifications to Approved Site Plans 

a. Defined.  The review authority shall determine that a major modification(s) review is required if 

one or more of the changes listed below are proposed: 

(1) A change in land use (i.e. residential to commercial, commercial to industrial, etc.); 

(2) An increase in density by more than ten (10) percent, provided the resulting density does 

not exceed that allowed by the land use district; 

(3) A change in setbacks or lot coverage by more than 10 percent, provided the resulting 

setback or lot coverage does not exceed that allowed by the land use district; 

(4) A change in the type and/or location of access-ways, drives or parking areas negatively 

affecting off-site traffic or increasing Average Daily Trips (ADT) by more than 100; 

(5) An increase in the floor area or height proposed for non-residential use by more than 10 

percent; 

(6) A reduction of more than 10 percent of the area reserved for common open space; or 

(7) Change to a condition of approval that was specifically applied to this approval (i.e. not a 

“standard condition”), or a change similar to items (1)-(2) as determined by the Review 

Authority. 

54



 

   
 

 b. Approval Criteria.  An applicant may request a major modification as follows: 

 (1) Upon the review authority determining that the proposed modification is a major 

 modification, the applicant shall submit an application form, filing fee and narrative, and a site 

 plan using the same plan format as in the original approval. The review authority may require 

 other relevant information, as necessary, to evaluate the request. 

(2) The application shall be subject to the same review procedure (Type II, III or IV), decision 

making body, and approval criteria used for the initial project approval, except that adding a 

conditional use to an approved project shall be reviewed using a Type III procedure. 

(3) The scope of review shall be limited to the modification request and does not open the 

entire site up for additional review unless impacted by the proposed modification.  For example, 

a request to modify a parking lot shall require site design review only for the proposed parking 

lot and any changes to associated access, circulation, pathways, lighting, trees, and landscaping.   

(4) Notice shall be provided in accordance with Chapter 16.72.020. 

(5) The decision maker shall approve, deny, or approve with conditions an application for major 

modification based on written findings of the criteria. 

2. Minor Modifications to Approved Site Plans 

a. A Minor Modification is any modification to a land use decision or approved development plan 

that is not within the description of a major modification as provided, above. 

b. Minor Modification Review Procedure.  An application for approval of a minor modification shall 

be reviewed by the review authority using a Type I review procedure under Section 16.72.010.A.  

Minor modifications shall involve only clear and objective code standards. 

c. Minor Modification Applications.  An application for minor modification shall include an 

application form, filing fee and narrative, updated Clean Water Services (CWS) Service Provider 

Letter or equivalent acknowledgement from CWS, and a site plan using the same plan format as in 

the original approval if possible. The review authority may require other relevant information, as 

necessary, to evaluate the request. 

d. Minor Modification Approval Criteria. The review authority shall approve, deny, or approve with 

conditions an application for minor modification based on written findings that the modification is in 

compliance with all applicable requirements of the Development Code and conditions of approval 

on the original decision, and the modification is not a major modification as above.  

B.   Revocation 

Any departure from approved plans shall be cause for revocation of applicable building and occupancy 

permits. Furthermore if, in the City's determination, a condition or conditions of site plan approval are 

not or cannot be satisfied, the site plan approval, or building and occupancy permits, shall be revoked. 

55



 

   
 

Division VI. 
 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTSINFRASTRUCTURE 
Chapter 16.104 
 
GENERAL PROVISIONS*  
Sections: 
16.104.010 Standards Purpose 
16.104.020 Future Improvements 
16.104.030 Improvement Procedures 
* Editor's Note: Some sections may not contain a history. 
16.104.010 Standards Purpose 

To ensure the health, safety, and the economic stability of the community, and to establish a quality 

system of public improvements, the City shall require any proposed construction of buildings and or 

other development for which public facilities and public rights-of-way are not fully provided or improved 

to current City standards, to install said improvements.. The Council may establish specifications to 

supplement the standards of this Code and other applicable ordinances.  Except as otherwise provided 

or authorized, private improvements serving substantially the same function as equivalent public 

facilities, shall generally be provided and improved at to the standards established by this Code and 

other City regulations.  

Green Street elements such as bioswales and porous pavement are encouraged where appropriate and 

feasible. Where a specific design standard supporting a green street concept is not included in the 

Construction Standard DrawingsEngineering Design and Standard Details Manual (Engineering Design 

Manual), the design will be considered by the Engineering Department, provided additional 

documentation is provided to the Engineering Department that documents the design is appropriate, 

has a design life equal to a traditional paved street, and the maintenance costs to the City are 

comparable to traditional streets. can be maintained easily in that location.  

(Ord. 2006-021; 2005-006 § 5; Ord. 86-851) 

16.104.020 Future Improvements  

The location of future public improvements including water, sanitary sewer, storm water, streets, 

bicycle and pedestrian paths, and other public facilities and rights-of-way, as depicted in the 

Transportation System Plan (TSP) Chapters 4, 5, 6 and 7 of the Community Development Plan, are 

intended as general locations only. The precise alignments and locations of a  public improvements shall 

be established during the actual developmentland use process and shall be depicted on public 

improvement plans submitted and approved pursuant to § 16.106 and108 and other applicable sections 

of this Code.  

(Ord. 2005-006 § 5; Ord. 86-851) 

16.104.030 Improvement Procedures  

56



 

   
 

Except as otherwise provided, all public improvements shall conform to City standards and specifications 

found in the Engineering Design Manual and shall be installed in accordance with Chapter 16.10106.8. 

The Council may establish additional specifications to supplement the standards of this Code and other 

applicable ordinances. Except for public projects constructed consistent with an existing facility plan, 

Nnoa public improvements shall not be undertaken until land use approval has been granted, an a 

public improvement plan review fee has been paid, all improvement plans have been approved by the 

City, and an improvement permit has been issued.  

(Ord. 2005-006 § 5; Ord. 86-851) 

  Chapter 16.106 

IMPROVEMENT PLAN REVIEW*  

Sections: 

16.106.010 Preparation and Submission 

16.106.020 Construction Permit 

16.106.030 Construction 

16.106.040 Acceptance of Improvements 

* Editor's Note: Some sections may not contain a history. 

16.106.010 Preparation and Submission  

Required improvement plans shall be prepared and stamped by a Registered Civil Engineer certifying 

compliance with City specifications. Two (2) sets of said plans shall be submitted to the City for review. 

Improvements plans shall be accompanied by a review fee as per this Section. 

  A. Review Fee  

 Plan review fees are calculated as a percentage of the estimated total cost of improvements and 

 are set by the "Schedule of Development and Business Fees" adopted by Resolution of the 

 Council. This schedule is included herein for the purposes of information, but is deemed to be 

 separate from and independent of this Code. 

  B. Engineering Agreement  

 A copy of an agreement or contract between the applicant and Registered Civil Engineer for: 

  1. Surveying sufficient to prepare construction plans. 

  2. Preparation of construction plans and specifications. 

  3. Construction staking, and adequate inspection. 

  4. Construction notes sufficient to develop accurate as-built plans. 

57



 

   
 

  5. Drawing of accurate as-built plans and submission of reproducible mylars to the City. 

  6. Certificate stating that construction was completed in accordance with required plans  

  and specifications.  

 (Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 91-922, § 3; Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

16.106.020 Construction Permit 

 A.  Approval  

 The City will return one (1) set of plans to the applicant marked "approved" or "modify and 

 resubmit." Plans marked for re-submittal must be corrected in accordance with notations or 

 instructions. After correction and approval, additional plans shall be provided the City for office 

 use, field inspection and submittal to affected agencies. 

 B.  Permit and Fee  

 Upon approval the applicant shall obtain a construction permit. The construction permit fee is 

 set by the "Schedule of Development Fees", adopted by Resolution of the Council. This schedule 

 is included herein for the purposes of information, but is deemed to be separate from and 

 independent of this Code. 

 C.  Easement Documents  

 Necessary construction and/or permanent easements shall be provided in a form acceptable to 

 the City prior to issuance of a construction permit. 

 D.  Improvement Guarantees  

 Prior to issuance of a construction permit the applicant shall file the following documents with 

 the City: 

  1. Liability Insurance  

 Evidence of public liability and property damage insurance adequate to protect the applicant 

 and the City from all claims for damage or personal injury. 

  2. Performance Bond  

 To assure full and faithful performance in the construction of required improvements in 

 accordance with approved construction plans, the applicant shall provide security in an amount 

 equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the estimated cost of the improvements. In the event 

 the applicant fails to carry out all provisions of the approved improvements plans and the City 

 has non-reimbursed costs or expenses resulting from such failure, the City shall call on the 

 security for reimbursement. Security may be provided in the form of a surety bond executed by 

58



 

   
 

 a surety company authorized to transact business in the State of Oregon, a cash deposit, or 

 other form of security acceptable to the City.  

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 91-922, § 3; Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

16.106.030 Construction 

 A.  Initiation of Construction  

Actual improvements shall not begin, or after a discontinuance, be restarted until the City is notified in 

writing. 

 B.  Inspection  

All construction shall be done to the City's specifications. The City shall perform inspections to verify 

compliance with approved plans and shall make a final inspection of the construction at such time as the 

improvements are complete. The City may require changes in typical sections and details, if unusual 

conditions warrant the change. 

 

 C.  As-Built Plans  

A complete set of reproducible plans showing the public improvements as built shall be filed with the 

City upon completion of the improvements. 

 D.  Suspension of Improvements Activity  

The City shall have the authority to cause a suspension of improvement construction or engineering 

when, in the opinion of the City, work is not being done to the City's satisfaction.  

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

 

16.106.040 Acceptance of Improvements 

 

 A.  Final Inspection  

At such time as all public improvements, except those specifically approved for later installation, have 

been completed, the applicant shall notify the City of the readiness for final inspection. 

 

 B.  Notification of Acceptance  

59



 

   
 

The City shall give written notification of the acceptance of the improvements upon finding that the 

applicant has met the requirements of this Chapter and the specifications of all approved plans. 

 C.  Maintenance Bond  

At the time of City acceptance of public improvements, the applicant shall file with the City a 

maintenance bond computed at ten percent (10%) of the full value of the improvements, to provide for 

correction of any defective work or maintenance becoming apparent or arising within one (1) year after 

final acceptance of the public improvements.  

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

  Chapter 16.108 

STREETS* Chapter 16.106  

TRANSPORTATION FACILITIES 

Sections: 

16.108106.010 Generally 

16.108106.0230 Required Improvements 

16.108106.040 030 Location  

16.108106.050 040 Street Design 

16.108106.060 050 Sidewalks 

16.108106.070 060 Hwy. 99W Capacity Allocation Program (CAP) 

16.108106.080 070 Bike Paths  

* Editor's Note: Some sections may not contain a history. 

16.108106.010 Generally 

A.  Creation  

Public streets shall be created in accordance with provisions of this Chapter. Except as otherwise 

provided, all street improvements and rights-of-way shall conform to standards for the City's functional 

street classification of said streets, as shown on the Transportation Plan(TSP) Map and in, shown in 

Figure 1, of Chapter 6 of the Community Development Plan, and in other applicable City standards. The 

following table depicts the guidelines for the street characteristics.  

 

 

 

 

60



 

   
 

Type of Street Right 
of 
Way 
Width  

Number 
of Lanes  

Minimum 
Lane 
Width 

On Street 
Parking 
Width 

Bike 
Lane 
Width  

Sidewalk 
Width 

Landscape 
Strip  
(exclusive 
of Curb) 

Median 
Width 

Principal 
Arterial (99W) 

122’ 4-6 12’ Prohibited 6’ 6’ 5’ 14’ 

Arterial 60-
102’ 

2-5 12’ Limited 6 feet 6-8 f’ 5’ 14’ if 
required 

Collector 58-92’ 2-3 11’ 8’ optional 6’ 6-8’ 5’ 14’ 
median 

turn lane 

40’ 
Commercial/Indu
strial 
Not Exceeding 
3000 vehicles 
per day 

64’ 2 20’ 8’ none 6’ 5’ none 

50’ 
Commercial/ 
Industrial 
Exceeding 
3000 vehicles 
per day 

64’ 2 12’ 8’ 5’ 6’ 5’ none 

Neighborhood
1,000 vehicles 
per day 

64’ 2 18’ 8’ None 8’ 5’ with 1’ 
buffer 

none 

Local 52’ 2 14’ 8’on one 
side only 

None 6’ 5’ with 1’ 
buffer 

none 

Alley 16-25’ 1-2 10-12’ One side if 
20’ 

none none none none 

Downtown 
Street 
Standard 

60’ 2 11’ 7’ none 12’ 
pedestria

n zone 

4’ 
(included 

in 
pedestrian 

zone 

none 

 

B.  Street Naming 

1. All streets created by the subdivision or partition process will be named prior to  submission of 

the final plat. 

2. Any street created by a public dedication shall be named prior to or upon acceptance of   

 the deed of dedication. 

 3. An action to name an unnamed street in the City may be initiated by the Council or by a   

 person filing a petition as described in this Section. 

61



 

   
 

 4. All streets named shall conform to the general requirements as outlined in this Section. 

 5. Private streets, aAt the request of the owner(s), a private may be named and addresses issued 

with the approval of the Citythe City may approve a private street name and address. Private streets are 

subject to the same street name standards as are public streets. All private street signs will be provided 

at the owner(s) expense. 

 C.  Street Renaming *Note: Move to Municipal Code Title 12 on Streets, Sidewalks and 

Public Places 

  1. An action to rename a street in the City may be initiated by the Council: 

  a. On its own action; or 

  b. If a person files a petition as described in this section accompanied by a fee reasonably 

 related to the costs of the process. 

 

  2. A petition for naming or renaming a street shall include the following: 

  a. A statement of the reasons for the proposed name change. 

  b. The names and addresses of all persons owning any real property abutting the road 

 proposed to be renamed. 

  c. Signatures of either owners of sixty percent (60%) of the land abutting the subject road 

 or sixty percent (60%) of the owners of land abutting the subject road. 

  3. Notice and Hearing 

  a. When a proceeding has been initiated under this section, the Council shall establish a 

 time and place for a hearing to consider whether the proposed name change is in the public 

 interest. 

  b. At least ten (10) days prior to the date of hearing, notice of the proposed name change 

 shall be provided as follows: 

  (1) Notice by posting in no less than two (2) conspicuous places abutting the subject road; 

 and 

  (2) Notice by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the area of the subject 

 road. 

  c. During or before a hearing under this section, any person may file information with the 

 Council that alleges any new matter relevant to the proceedings or controverts any matter 

 presented to the Council. 

62



 

   
 

  d. After considering the matters presented under this section, the Council shall determine 

 whether the name change is in the public interest and shall adopt findings and an ordinance 

 granting or denying the request. 

  e. When the ordinance becomes final, the Council shall cause the ordinance to be 

 recorded with the County Clerk who shall cause copies of the ordinance to be filed with the 

 Department of Public Works, the Department of Assessment and Taxation and with the County 

 Surveyor. 

  f. For the purposes of this section, "owner" means the record holder of legal title to the 

 land, except that if there is a purchaser of the land according to a recorded land sale contract, 

 the purchaser is the owner. 

DC.  Street Name Standards 

 1. All streets named or renamed shall comply with the following criteria: 

  a. Major streets and highways shall maintain a common name or number for the entire  

  alignment. 

  b. Whenever practicable, names as specified in this Section shall be utilized or retained. 

  c. Hyphenated or exceptionally long names shall be avoided. 

  d. Similar names such as Farview and Fairview or Salzman and Saltzman shall be avoided. 

  e. Consideration shall be given to the continuation of the name of a street in another  

  jurisdiction when it is extended into the City. 

 2. The following classifications (suffixes) shall be utilized in the assignment of all street names: 

  a. Boulevards: North/south arterials providing through traffic movement across the  

  community. 

  b. Roads: East/west arterials providing through traffic movement across the community. 

  c. Avenues: Continuous, north/south collectors or extensions thereof. 

  d. Streets: Continuous, east-west collectors or extensions thereof. 

  e. Drives: Curvilinear collectors (less than 180 degrees) at least 1,000 feet in length or  

  more. 

 f. Lanes: Short east/west local streets under 1,000 feet in length. 

  g. Terraces: short north/south local streets under 1,000 feet in length. 

  h. Court: All east/west cul-de-sacs. 

63



 

   
 

  i. Place: All north/south cul-de-sacs. 

  j. Ways: All looped local streets (exceeding 180 degrees). 

  k. Parkway: A broad landscaped collector or arterial. 

 3. Except as provided for by this section, no street shall be given a name that is the same   

 as, similar to, or pronounced the same as any other street in the City unless that street   

 is an extension of an already-named street. 

 4. All proposed street names shall be approved, prior to use, by the City. 

ED.  Preferred Street Names  

Whenever practicable, historical names will be considered in the naming or renaming of public roads. 

Historical factors to be considered shall include, but not be limited to the following: 

 1. Original holders of Donation Land Claims in Sherwood. 

 2. Early homesteaders or settlers of Sherwood. 

 3. Heirs of original settlers or long-time (50 or more years) residents of Sherwood. 

 4. Explorers of or having to do with Sherwood. 

 5. Indian tribes of Washington County. 

 6. Early leaders and pioneers of eminence. 

 7. Names related to Sherwood's flora and fauna. 

 8. Names associated with the Robin Hood legend.  

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 2005-006, § 5; Ord. 92-947, § 1; Ord. 91-922) 

 Note: Section 16.108.020, Street Systems Improvement Fees (SIF) was repealed by Ordinance 

 91-922 § 19) and permanently relocated in the Municipal Code). 

 

16.108106.030 020 Required Improvements 

A.  Generally  

 Except as otherwise provided, all developments containing or abutting an existing or proposed 

 street, that is either unimproved or substandard in right-of-way width or improvement, shall 

 dedicate the necessary right-of-way prior to the issuance of building permits and/or complete 

 acceptable improvements prior to issuance of occupancy permits. The following figure provides 

64



 

   
 

the depiction of the functional classification of the street network as found in the Transportation System 

Plan, Figure 8-1. 

 

B.  Existing Streets  

 Except as otherwise provided, when a development abuts an existing street, the improvements 

 requirement shall apply to that portion of the street right-of-way located between the 

 centerline of the right-of-way and the property line of the lot proposed for development. In no 

 event shall a required street improvement for an existing street exceed a pavement width of 

 thirty (30) feet. 

C.  Proposed Streets 

 1. Except as otherwise provided, when a development includes or abuts a proposed street, 

 in no event shall the required street improvement exceed a pavement width of forty (40) feet. 

 2. Half Streets: When a half street is created, a minimum of 22 feet of driving surface shall  be 

 provided by the developer. 

D.  Extent of Improvements  

1. Streets required pursuant to this Chapter shall be dedicated and improved consistent with 
Chapter 6 of the Community Development Plan, the Transportation System PlanTSP and 

65



 

   
 

applicable City standards and specifications included in the City of Sherwood Construction 
Standards., and Streets shall include curbs, sidewalks, catch basins, street lights, and street 
trees. Improvements shall also include any bikeways designated on the Transportation System 
Plan map. An aAApplicants may be required to dedicate land and build for required public 
improvements only when the exaction is directly related to and roughly proportional to the 
impact of the development. 

 

2.  If the City could and would otherwise require the applicant is required to provide street 

 improvements, the City Engineer may accept a  future improvements guarantee in lieu of street 

 improvements if one or more of the following conditions exist, as determined by the City:  

 a. A partial improvement is not feasible due to the inability to achieve proper design standards; 

 b. A partial improvement may create a potential safety hazard to motorists or pedestrians. 

c. Due to the nature of existing development on adjacent properties it is unlikely that street 
improvements would be extended in the foreseeable future and the improvement associated 
with the project under review does not, by itself, provide a significant improvement to street 
safety or capacity; 

d. The improvement would be in conflict with an adopted capital improvement plan;  

 e. The improvement is associated with an approved land partition on property zoned residential 
 use and the proposed land partition does not create any new streets; or  

 f. Additional planning work is required to define the appropriate design standards for the street 
 and the application is for a project which that would contribute only a minor portion of the 
 anticipated future traffic on the street. 

 

Catch basins shall be installed and connected to storm sewers and drainage ways. Upon completion of 

the improvements, monuments shall be re-established and protected in monument boxes at every 

public street intersection and all points of curvature and points of tangency of their center lines. Street 

signs shall be installed at all street intersections and street lights shall be installed and served from an 

underground source of supply unless other electrical lines in the development are not underground. 

E.  Street Transportation Facilities Modifications 

 1. A mModifications to a standards contained within this Chapter and Section 16.58.010 and the 

 standard cross sections contained in Chapter 8 of the adopted Sherwood Transportation System 

 Plan (TSP) may be granted in accordance with the procedures and criteria set out in this section. 

 2. Types of Modifications. Requests fall within the following two categories: 

 a. Administrative Modifications. Administrative modification A mModification requests 

concerns a deviation from the  construction of facilities, rather than their general design 

66



 

   
 

standards for of ,public facilities, and are  limited to the following when  a deviating 

deviation from  standards in this Chapter, Section  16.58.010, the l or  Chapter 8 

contained  iin the adopted Transportation System Plan:. The following standards that 

 may be modified through the  following process include but are not limited to:  

  (1) Surfacing materials for roads or pedestrian facilities. 

  (2) Asphalt and/or base rock thickness less than required. 

  (3) Pavement marking layout. 

  (4) Exceeding the maximum street grade. 

  (5) Type and/or location of signage. 

  (6) Channelization. 

  (7) Intersection interior angles and curb radii less than required. 

  (8) Utilizing the current set of standards in lieu of the standards that were in place when 

 the applicant's proposed project was vested. 

  (9) Access-related modifications onto collectors, arterials, and state routes provided other 

 substantive criteria such as sight distance and limited access points are met; and provided 

 further that access to a lesser classification of road is not available. 

  (10) Needed changes as a result of a field investigation during construction. 

  (11) Similar revisions to the standards. 

  b. Design Modifications. Design modifications deal with the vertical and horizontal 

 geometrics and safety related issues and include the following when deviating from this 

 Chapter, Section 16.58.010 or Chapter 8 cross sections in the adopted Transportation System 

 Plan:(1) 

 a. Reduced sight distances. 

  (2)b. Vertical alignment. 

  (3)c. Horizontal alignment. 

  (4)d. Geometric design (length, width, bulb radius, etc.). 

  (5)e. Design speed. 

  (6)f. Crossroads. 

  (7g. Access policy. 

67



 

   
 

  8)h. A proposed alternative design which provides a plan superior to these standards. 

  (9)i. All other standards.Low impact development.  

 j. Access Management Plans  

  3. Procedure. A modification request shall be classified as an administrative decision by 

 the City Engineer. When a modification is requested to provide a green street element that is 

 not included in the Construction Standards, the below process shall be followed, however no fee 

 shall be required. 

  a. Administrative Modification. Administrative modifications may be requested at any time 

 and are processed as Type II applications, unless defined under (C)(2) below. The application 

 shall include sufficient technical analysis to enable a reasoned decision and shall include a letter 

 of concurrency from the City Engineer. 

 b3. . Design Modification Procedure  

 a. Design MmA modifications shall be proposed with the submittal application for land use 

approval.land use approval.  

    in conjunction with the   application for the underlying 

 development proposal and   

 b.  A The modification is processed as a Type III application. Design mModification requests  

  shall  be processed in conjunction with the underlying development proposal. unless  

  it is submitted  subsequent to the decision for the underlying  development proposal.  

  The design modification  application shall: 

 c.  When a modification is requested to provide a green street element that is not included  

  in the Engineering Design Manual, the modification process will apply, but the   

  modification fee will be waived. 

  (1) Include a written request stating the reasons for the request and the factors which 

 would make approval of the request reasonable. 

  (2) Include a letter of Concurrency from the City Engineer. 

  (3) Be accompanied by a map showing the applicable existing conditions and proposed 

 construction such as contours, wetlands, significant trees, lakes, streams and rivers, utilities, 

 property lines, existing and proposed roads and driveways, existing and projected traffic 

 patterns, and any unusual or unique conditions not generally found in other developments. 

  (4) In the case of modification requests based upon alleged disproportionality, include an 

 engineering analysis of the standard sought to be modified which contrasts relevant traffic 

 impacts from the development with the cost of complying with the standard. 

68



 

   
 

  (5) For crossroad and frontage construction and right-of-way dedication, the application 

 shall include information indicating whether there are geographic or other factors which render 

 connection/completion of the road unfeasible. 

 4.  Criteria for Modification: Street modifications Modifications may be granted when criterion 4a 

and any one of  criteria 4b through 4f 4e are met: 

  a. A letter of concurrency is obtained from the City Engineer or designee.  f 

 a. In reviewing a modification request, c shall  Consideration shall be given to public  

  safety,  durability, cost of maintenance, function, appearance, and other appropriate  

  factors, such as  to advance the goals of the adopted Sherwood  Comprehensive Plan  

  and Transportation System Plan as a whole. Any modification shall be the minimum  

  necessary to alleviate the hardship or disproportional impact.  

 b. Topography, right-of-way, existing construction or physical conditions, or other   

  geographic conditions impose an unusual hardship on the applicant, and an equivalent  

  alternative which can accomplish the same design purpose is available. 

  c. A minor change to a specification or standard is required to address a specific design or  

  construction problem which, if not enacted, will result in an unusual hardship. Self- 

  imposed hardships shall not be used as a reason to grant a modification request. 

  d. An alternative design is proposed which will provide a plan equal to or superior to the  

  existing street standards. 

  e. Application of the standards of this chapter to the development would be grossly  

  disproportional to the impacts created. 

  f. In reviewing a modification request, consideration shall be given to  public safety, 

durability, cost of maintenance, function,  appearance, and other appropriate factors, such as to 

advance the goals of the adopted  Sherwood Comprehensive Plan and Transportation System Plan 

as a whole. Any modification  shall be the minimum necessary to alleviate the hardship or 

disproportional impact. (Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 2006-021; Ord. 2005-009 § 5; Ord. 91-

922; Ord. 86- 851, § 3) 

16.108106.040 030 Location  

A.  Generally  

The location, width and grade of streets shall be considered in their relation to existing and planned 

streets, topographical conditions, and proposed land uses. The proposed street system shall provide 

adequate, convenient and safe traffic and pedestrian circulation, and intersection angles, grades, 

tangents, and curves shall be adequate for expected traffic volumes. Street alignments shall be 

consistent with solar access requirements as per Chapter 16.156, and topographical considerations. 

69



 

   
 

B.  Street Connectivity and Future Street Systems 

1. Future Street Systems. The arrangement of public streets shall provide for the continuation and 

 establishment of future street systems as shown on the Local Street Connectivity Map contained 

 in the adopted Transportation System Plan (Figure 8-8).  

 

2. Connectivity Map Required. New residential, commercial, and mixed use development 

 involving the construction of new streets shall be submitted with a site plan that implements, 

 responds to and expands on the Local Street Connectivity map contained in the TSP. 

a.    A project is deemed to be consistent with the Local Street Connectivity map when it  

 provides a street connection in the general vicinity of the connection(s) shown on the  

 map, or where such connection is not practicable due to topography or other physical  

 constraints; it shall provide an alternate connection approved by the Review  

 Authoritydecision-maker.  

 b.  Where a developer does not control all of the land that is necessary to complete a  

  planned street connection, the development shall provide for as much of the   

  designated connection as practicable and not prevent the street from continuing in  

  the future.  

 c.  Where a development is disproportionately impacted by a required street connection,  

  or it provides more than its proportionate share of street improvements along property  

70



 

   
 

  line (i.e., by building more than 3/4 width street), the developer shall be entitled to  

  System Development charge credits, as determined by the City Engineer. 

 3. Block Length. For new streets except arterials, block length shall not exceed 530 feet. The 

 length of blocks adjacent to arterials shall not exceed 1,800 feet. 

 4. Where streets must cross water features identified in Title 3 of the Urban Growth 

 Management Functional Plan (UGMFP), provide crossings at an average spacing of 800 to 1,200 

 feet, unless habitat quality or length of crossing prevents a full street connection. 

 5. Where full street connections over water features identified in Title 3 of the UGMFP cannot be 

 constructed in centers, main streets and station communities (including direct connections from 

 adjacent neighborhoods), or spacing of full street crossings exceeds 1,200 feet, provide bicycle 

 and pedestrian crossings at an average spacing of 530 feet, unless exceptional habitat quality or 

 length of crossing prevents a connection. 

 6. Pedestrian and Bicycle Connectivity. Paved bike and pedestrian accessways consistent with cross 

 section standards in Figure 8-6 of the TSP shall be provided on public easements or right-

 of-way when full street connections are not possible, with spacing between connections of no 

 more than 300 feet. Multi-use paths shall be built according to the Pedestrian and Bike Master 

 Plans in the adopted  TSP.Transportation System Plan. 

 7. Exceptions. Streets, bike, and pedestrian connections need not be constructed when any of the 

 following conditions exists: 

  a. Physical or topographic conditions make a street or accessway connection   

  impracticable. Such conditions include but are not limited to freeways, railroads, steep  

  slopes,  wetlands or other bodies of water where a connection could not reasonably be  

  provided. 

  b. Buildings or other existing development on adjacent lands physically preclude a   

  connection now or in the future considering the potential for redevelopment; or 

  c. Where streets or accessways would violate provisions of leases, easements, covenants,  

  restrictions or other agreements existing as of May 1, 1995, which preclude a required  

  street or accessway connection. 

C.  Underground Utilities  

All public and private underground utilities, including sanitary sewers and storm water drains, shall be 

constructed prior to the surfacing of streets. Stubs for service connections shall be long enough to avoid 

disturbing the street improvements when service connections are made.  

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 2006-021; Ord. 2005-017 § 5; Ord. 2005-009, § 5; Ord. 91-922; 
Ord. 86-851) 
 

71



 

   
 

D. Additional Setbacks  
Generally Additional additional setbacks apply when the width of a street right-of-way abutting a 
development is less than the standard width under the functional classifications in Section VI of the 
Community Development Plan. Additional setbacks are intended to provide unobstructed area for 
future street right-of-way dedication and improvements, in conformance with Section VI. Additional 
setbacks shall be measured at right angles from the centerline of the street. 
TABLE INSET: 
 

      Classification    Additional Setback    

1.    Major Principle Arterial   (99W) 61 feet    

2.    Minor Arterial    37 feet    

3.    Collector    29 feet   32 feet 

4.    Local   Neighborhood Route 26 feet  32 feet  

5. Local  26 feet 

16.108106.050 040 Street Design  

Standard cross sections showing street design and pavement dimensions are located in the City of 

Sherwood Transportation System Plan, and City of Sherwood’s  DesignEngineering Design and Standard 

Details Construction Manual. 

 A. Reserve Strips  

Reserve strips or street plugs controlling access or extensions to streets shall are not be allowed unless 

necessary for the protection of the public welfare or of substantial property rights. All reserve strips 

shall be dedicated to the Cityappropriate jurisdiction that maintains the street. 

 B. Alignment  

All proposed streets shall, as far as practicable, be in alignment with existing streets. In no case shall the 

staggering of streets create a "T" intersection or a dangerous condition. Street offsets of less than one 

hundred (100) feet will are not be allowed. 

 C. Future Extension  

Where necessary to access or permit future subdivision or development of adjoining land, streets shall 

extend to the boundary of the proposed development and provide athe required roadway 

widthnecessary for the future development. Dead-end streets less than 100' in length shall either 

comply with City cul-de-sac standards of Section 16.108.060, or shall provide an interim hammerhead 

turnaround at a location that is aligned with the future street system as shown on the local street 

connectivity map.the Engineering Design Manual.  

72



 

   
 

A durable sign shall be installed at the applicant's expense. These signs shall notify the public of the 

intent to construct future streets. The sign shall read as follows: "This road will be extended with future 

development. For more information contact the City of Sherwood at 503-625-4202.” 

 D. Intersection Angles 

  1. Streets shall intersect as near to ninety (90) degree angles as practical, except where  

  topography requires a lesser angle. In no all cases, the applicant shall comply with refer 

to the Engineering Design Manual. shall the permitted angle be less than eighty (80)  degrees 

without an approved special intersection design. Streets which contain an acute angle  of less than 

eighty (80) degrees or which include an arterial street shall have a minimum corner  radius sufficient 

to allow for a roadway edge radius of twenty (20) feet and maintain a uniform  width between the 

roadway and the right-of-way line. 

2. Arterial, collector streets, or neighborhood routes intersecting with another street shall  have at 

least one hundred (100) feet on tangent adjacent to intersections unless topography  requires a 

lesser distance. Local streets, except alleys, shall have at least fifty (50) feet on  tangent adjacent to 

intersections. 

E. Cul-de-sacs 

 1. All cul-de-sacs shall be no more than one hundred (100) feet in length, shall not provide  access 

to more than 15 dwelling units and shall be used only when exceptional topographical 

constraints, existing development patterns, or compliance with other standards in this code 

preclude a street extension and circulation.  A cul-de-sac  and shall not be no more than two 

hundred (200) feet in length and shall not provide access to more than 25 dwelling units. 

 2. All cul-de-sacs shall terminate with a circular turnaround no more than 40 feet in radius (i.e. 

from center to edge of pavement) or hammerhead turnaround in accordance with the 

specifications in the Engineering Design and Construction Manual. The radius of circular 

turnarounds may be larger when they contain a landscaped island, parking bay in their center, 

Tualatin Valley Fire and Rescue submits a written request, or an industrial use requires a larger 

turnaround for truck access. 

 the near side of the intersecting street to the farthest point of the cu4.3. Public easements, 

tracts, or right-of-way shall provide paved pedestrian and bicycle access ways at least 6 feet 

wide where a cul-de-sacs or dead-end streets are is planned, to connect the ends of the streets 

together, connect to other streets, and/or connect to other existing or planned developments in 

accordance with the standards of this Chapter, the TSP,  and other the Engineering Design and 

Standards Detail Manual or other provisions identified in this Code for the preservation of in 

order to preserve trees. 

 F. Grades and Curves  

73



 

   
 

Grades shall  be evaluated by the City Engineer and comply with the Engineering Design Manual.not 

exceed six percent (6%) for arterials, ten percent (10%) for collector streets or neighborhood routes, and 

twelve percent (12%) for other streets. Center line radii of curves shall not be less than two hundred 

(200) feet for arterials or one hundred (100) feet for other streets. Where existing conditions, such as 

topography, make buildable sites impractical, steeper grades and sharper curves may be approved. 

Finished street grades shall have a minimum slope of one-half percent ( 1/2%). 

  

G. Streets Adjacent to Railroads  

Streets adjacent to railroads shall run approximately parallel to the railroad and be separated by a 

distance suitable to allow landscaping and buffering between the street and railroad. Due consideration 

shall be given at cross streets for the minimum distance required for future grade separations and to 

provide sufficient depth to allow screening of the railroad. 

 H. Buffering of Major Streets  

Where a development abuts Highway 99W, or an existing or proposed principal arterial, arterial or 

collector street, or neighborhood route, adequate protection for residential properties shall be provided 

and through and local traffic shall be separated and traffic conflicts minimized. In addition, visual 

corridors pursuant to Section 16.142.030, and all applicable access provisions of Chapter 16.96, shall be 

met. Buffering may be achieved by: parallel access streets, lots of extra depth abutting the major street 

with frontage along another street, or other treatment suitable to meet the objectives of this Code. 

 I. Median Islands  

As illustrated in Chapter 8 of the adopted Transportation System Plan, Chapter 8, median islands may be 

required used on arterial or collector streets for the purpose of controlling access, providing for 

pedestrian  orsafety or for aesthetic purposes. 

J. Curbs   

Except in the Old Town Overlay District where curbless (woonerf) streets are permitted, or as otherwise 

approved by the City Engineer, curbs shall be installed on both sides of public streets and shall be at 

least six (6) inches in height.  K. 

J. Transit Facilities  

Developments along an existing or proposed transit routes, as illustrated in Figure 7-2 in the TSP, shall 

be is required to provide areas and facilities for bus turnouts, shelters, and other transit-related facilities 

to Tri-Met specifications. Transit facilities shall also meet the following requirements: 

 1. Locate buildings within 20 feet of or provide a pedestrian plaza at major transit stops. 

74



 

   
 

 2. Provide reasonably direct pedestrian connections between the transit stop and building   

 entrances on the site. 

3. Provide a transit passenger landing pad accessible to disabled persons (if not already   

 existing to transit agency standards). 

4. Provide an easement or dedication for a passenger shelter and underground utility   

 connection from the new development to the transit amenity if requested by the public   

 transit provider. 

 5. Provide lighting at a transit stop (if not already existing to transit agency standards). 

 LK. Traffic Controls  

1.  For An application for a proposed residential developments that will generate more than  with 

 over an estimated 200 average daily vehicle trips (ADT)For developments of five (5) acres or 

 more, the City may requirerequires must include a traffic impact analysis to determine the 

 number and types of traffic controls necessary to accommodate anticipated traffic flow. Such 

 analysis will be completed according to specifications established by the City. Review and 

 approval of the analysis by the City, and any improvements indicated, shall be required 

 prioissuance of a constructi 

2.  For all other proposed developments including commercial, industrial or institutional  

 uses with over an estimated 400 ADT, or as otherwise required by the City Engineer, the 

 application must include a traffic impact analysis to determine the number and types of traffic  

 controls necessary to accommodate anticipated traffic flow.  

 ML. Traffic Calming 

 1. The following roadway design features, including internal circulation drives, may be   

 required by the City in new construction in areas where traffic calming needs are   

 anticipated: 

  a. Curb extensions (bulb-outs). 

  b. Traffic diverters/circles. 

  c. Alternative paving and painting patterns. 

  d. Raised crosswalks, speed humps, and pedestrian refuges. 

  e. Other methods demonstrated as effective through peer reviewed engineering studies. 

2. With approval of the City Engineer, traffic calming measures such as speed humps and   

 additional stop signs can be applied to mitigate traffic operations and/or safety    

 problems on existing streets. They should not be applied with new street construction   

 unless approved by the City Engineer and Tualatin Valley Fire & Rescue. 

75



 

   
 

 M.N. Vehicular Access Management  

All developments shall have legal access to a public road. Access onto public streets shall be permitted 

upon demonstration of compliance with the provisions of adopted street standards in the City of 

Sherwood Transportation Technical Standards and the standards of this Division Engineering Design 

Manual. 

 1. Measurement: See the following access diagram where R/W = Right-of-Way; and P.I. =   

 Point-of-Intersection where P.I. shall be located based upon a 90 degree angle of   

 intersection between ultimate right-of-way lines. 

  a. Minimum right-of-way radius at intersections shall conform to city standards. 

  b. All minimum distances stated in the following sections shall be governed by sight  

  distance requirements according to the City Engineering Design and Construction  

  Manual. 

  c. All minimum distances stated in the following sections shall be measured to the nearest  

  easement line of the access or edge of travel lane of the access on both sides of the  

  road. 

  d. All minimum distances between accesses shall be measured from existing or approved  

  accesses on both sides of the road. 

  e. Minimum spacing between driveways shall be measured from Point "C" to Point "C" as  

  shown below: 

 GRAPHIC UNAVAILABLE: Click here 

2. Roadway Access  

 No use will be permitted to have direct access to a street or road except as specified below. 

 Access spacing shall be measured from existing or approved accesses on either side of a street 

 or road. The lowest functional classification street available to the legal lot, including alleys 

 within a public easement, shall take precedence for new access points. 

  a. Local Streets:  

 Minimum right-of-way radius is fifteen (15) feet. Access will not be permitted within ten (10) 

 feet of Point "B," if no radius exists, access will not be permitted within twenty-five (25) feet of 

 Point "A." Access points near an intersection with a Neighborhood Route, Collector or Arterial 

 shall be located beyond the influence of standing queues of the intersection in accordance with 

 AASHTO standards. This requirement may result in access spacing greater than ten (10) feet. 

 b. Neighborhood Routes:  

76



 

   
 

 Minimum spacing between driveways (Point "C" to Point "C") shall be fifty (50) feet with the 

 exception of single family residential lots in a recorded subdivision. Such lots shall not be subject 

 to a minimum spacing requirement between driveways (Point "C" to Point "C"). In all instances, 

 access points near an intersection with a Neighborhood Route, Collector or Arterial shall be 

 located beyond the influence of standing queues of the intersection in accordance with AASHTO 

 standards. This requirement may result in access spacing greater than fifty (50) feet. 

  c. Collectors:  

 All commercial, industrial and institutional uses with one-hundred-fifty (150) feet or more of 

 frontage will be permitted direct access to a Collector. Uses with less than one-hundred-fifty 

 (150) feet of frontage shall not be permitted direct access to Collectors unless no other 

 alternative exists.  

 There Where joint access is available it shall be used, provided that such use is consistent with 

 Section  16.96.040, Joint Access. No use will be permitted direct access to a Collector within one-

 hundred (100) feet of any present Point "A." Minimum spacing between driveways (Point "C" to 

 Point "C") shall be one-hundred (100) feet. In all instances, access points near an intersection 

 with a Collector or Arterial shall be located beyond the influence of standing queues of the 

 intersection in accordance with AASHTO standards. This requirement may result in access 

 spacing greater than one hundred (100) feet. 

  d. Arterials and Highway 99W - Points of ingress or egress to and from Highway 99W and 

 arterials designated on the Transportation Plan Map, attached as Figure 1 of the Community 

 Development Plan, Part II, shall be limited as follows: 

  (1) Single and two-family uses and manufactured homes on individual residential lots 

 developed after the effective date of this Code shall not be granted permanent driveway ingress 

 or egress from Highway 99W or arterials. If alternative public access is not available at the time 

 of development, provisions shall be made for temporary access which shall be discontinued 

 upon the availability of alternative access. 

  (2) Other private ingress or egress from Highway 99W and arterial roadways shall be 

 minimized. Where alternatives to Highway 99W or arterials exist or are proposed, any new or 

 altered uses developed after the effective date of this Code shall be required to use the 

 alternative ingress and egress. Alternatives include shared or crossover access agreement 

 between properties, consolidated access points, or frontage or backage roads. When 

 alternatives do not exist, access shall comply with the following standards: 

  (a) Access to Highway 99W shall be consistent with ODOT standards and policies per OAR 

 734, Division 51, as follows: Direct access to an arterial or principal arterial will be permitted 

 provided that Point 'A' of such access is more than six hundred (600) feet from any intersection 

 Point 'A' or other access to that arterial (Point 'C'). 

77



 

   
 

  (b) The access to Highway 99W will be considered temporary until an alternative access to 

 public right-of-ways is created. When the alternative access is available the temporary access to 

 Highway 99W shall be closed. 

  (3) All site plans for new development submitted to the City for approval after the effective 

 date of this Code shall show ingress and egress from existing or planned local, neighborhood 

 route  or collector streets, including frontage or backage roads, consistent with the 

 Transportation Plan Map and Chapter 6 of the Community Development Plan. 

 3. Exceptions to Access Criteria for City-Owned Streets 

  a.  Alternate points of access may be allowed if an access management plan which   

  maintains the classified function and integrity of the applicable facility is submitted to  

  and reviewed and  approved by the City Engineer  after considering the applicant's  

  compliance with this Chapteras Tthe access management plan must be included as part  

  of the part of land use submittal or an application for modification as described in §  

  16.106.020 E. (Transportation  Facilities Modifications) and the Engineering Design   

  Manual. 

  b. An application for an Access Management Plan shall explain the need for the 

 modification and demonstrate that the modification maintains the classified function and 

 integrity of the facility. References to standards or publications used to prepare the Access 

 Management Application shall be included with the application, including citations and numbers 

 of engineering publications used to demonstrate compliance. 

  c. An access management plan shall address the safety and operational problems which 

 would be encountered should a modification to the access spacing standards be granted. An 

 access management plan shall be prepared and certified by a traffic or civil engineer registered 

 in the State of Oregon. An access management plan shall at minimum contain the following: 

  (1) The minimum study area shall include the length of the site's frontage plus the distance 

 of the applicable access spacing standard on each side of the subject property, as set forth in 

 Section 16.108.050.N.2. measured from the property lines or access point(s), whichever is 

 greater. For example, a property with 500 feet of frontage on an arterial (required 600 foot 

 access spacing standard) shall have a minimum study area which is 1,700 (1,200 + 500) feet in 

 length. 

  (2) The access management plan shall address the potential safety and operational 

 problems associated with the proposed access point. The access management plan shall review 

 both existing and future access for all properties within the study area as defined above. 

  (3) The access management plan shall include a comparison of all alternatives examined. At 

 a minimum, the access management plan shall evaluate the proposed modification to the access 

 spacing standard and the impacts of a plan utilizing the County standard for access spacing. 

78



 

   
 

 Specifically, the access management plan shall identify any impacts on the operations and/or 

 safety of the various alternatives. 

  (4) The access management plan shall include a list of improvements and recommendations 

 necessary to implement the proposed access modification, specifically addressing all safety and 

 operational concerns identified. 

  (5) Notice for a proposed access management plan shall include all property owners within 

 the study area defined above.4 

 b. . Access in the Old Town (OT) Overlay Zone 

  a. Access points in the OT Overlay Zone shown in an adopted plan such as the   

  Transportation System Plan, are not subject to the access spacing standards and do not  

  need a  variance. However, the applicant shall submit a partial access management plan 

  for approval by  the City Engineer. The approved plan shall be implemented as a   

  condition of development approval. 

  b. Partial Access Management Plan. 

  (1) A partial access management plan shall include: 

  (a) Drawings identifying proposed or modified access points. 

  (b) A list of improvements and recommendations necessary to implement the proposed or  

  modified access. 

  (c) A written statement identifying impacts to and mitigation strategies for facilities related  

  to the proposed access points, especially considering safety impacts to all travel modes,  

  operations, and the streetscape including on-street parking, tree spacing and pedestrian 

  and bike facilities. The lowest functional classification street available to the lot,   

  including alleys  within a public easement, shall take precedence for new access points. 

  (2) Access permits shall be required even if no other land use approval is requested.  

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 2006-021; Ord. 2005-009, § 5; 2005-006, § 5; Ord. 86- 851) 

16.118.050 N. Private Streets  

1.  The construction of a new private streets, serving a single-family residential  developments 

 shall be is prohibited  unless it provides principal access to two or fewer  residential lots 

or  parcels (i.e. flag lots).  

2.   Provisions shall be made to assure private responsibility for future access and    

 maintenance through recorded easements. Unless otherwise specifically authorized, a   

 private street shall comply with the same standards as a public street identified in the   

 Community Development Code and the Transportation System Plan. 

79



 

   
 

3.   A private street shall be distinguished from public streets and reservations or    

 restrictions relating to the private street shall be described in land division documents   

 and deed records. 

4.   A private street shall also be signed differently from public streets and include the words  

 "Private Street".  

 

16.108106.060 Sidewalks 

A.  Required Improvements 

 1. Except as otherwise provided, sidewalks shall be installed on both sides of a public   

 street and in any special pedestrian way within new development.  

2. For Highway 99W, major or minor arterials, or in special industrial districts, the    

 Commission City Manager or designee may approve a development without sidewalks if 

 alternative pedestrian routes are available. 

 3. In the case of approved cul-de-sacs serving less than fifteen (15) dwelling units,    

 sidewalks on one side only may be approved by the Review AuthorityCity Manager or   

 designee.  

B.  Sidewalk Design Standards 

1. Arterial and Collector Streets  

 Arterial and collector streets shall have minimum eight (8) foot wide sidewalks/multi-  

 use path, located as required by this Code. 

2. Local Streets  

 Local streets shall have minimum five (5) foot wide sidewalks, located as required by this Code. 

3. Handicapped Ramps  

 Sidewalk handicapped ramps shall be provided at all intersections. 

C.  Pedestrian and Bicycle Paths 

  Provide bike and pedestrian connections on public easements or right-of-way when full   

 street connections are not possible, with spacing between connections of no more than 330 feet 

 except where prevented by topography, barriers such as railroads or highways, or 

 environmental constraints such as rivers and streams.  

 (Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 2005-009, § 5; 2000-1103; Ord. 86-851) 

80



 

   
 

   Chapter 16.106108-  

IMPROVEMENT PLAN REVIEW*  

Sections: 

16.106108.010 Preparation and Submission 

16.106108.020 Construction Permit 

16.106108.030 Construction 

16.106108.040 Acceptance of Improvements 

* Editor's Note: Some sections may not contain a history. 

16.106108.010 Preparation and Submission  

Required An improvement plans shall be prepared and stamped by a Registered Civil Engineer certifying 

compliance with City specifications. Two (2) sets of said the plans shall be submitted to the City for 

review. An iImprovements plans shall be accompanied by a review fee as per this Section. 

 A. Review Fee  

 Plan review fees are calculated as a percentage of the estimated total cost of improvements and 

 are set by the "Schedule of Development and Business Fees" adopted by Resolution of the 

 Council. This schedule is included herein for the purposes of information, but is deemed to be 

 separate from and independent of this Code. 

 B. Engineering Agreement  

 A copy of an agreement or contract between the applicant and Registered Civil Engineer for: 

 1. Surveying sufficient to prepare construction plans. 

 2. Preparation of construction plans and specifications. 

 3. Construction staking, and adequate inspection. 

 4. Construction notes sufficient to develop accurate as-built plans. 

 5. Drawing of accurate as-built plans and submission of reproducible mylars for finals to   

 the City. 

 6. Certificate stating that construction was completed in accordance with required plans   

 and specifications.  

 (Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 91-922, § 3; Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

16.106108.020 Construction Permit 

A.  Approval  

81



 

   
 

The City will return one (1) set of plans to the applicant marked "approved," or “approved as noted” or 

"modify and resubmit." Plans marked for re-submittal must be corrected in accordance  with notations 

or instructions. After correction and approval, additional plans shall be  provided the City for office use, 

field inspection and submittal to affected agencies. 

B.  Permit and Fee  

Upon approval the applicant shall obtain a construction permit. The construction permit fee is set by the 

"Schedule of Development Fees", adopted by Resolution of the Council. This schedule is included herein 

for the purposes of information, but is deemed to be separate from and  independent of this Code. 

C.  Easement Documents  

Necessary construction and/or permanent eEasements shall be provided in a form acceptable to 

 the City prior to issuance of a construction permit. 

D.  Improvement Guarantees  

Prior to issuance of a construction permit the applicant shall file the following documents with the City: 

 1. Liability Insurance  

 Evidence of public liability and property damage insurance adequate to protect the   

 applicant and the City from all claims for damage or personal injury. 

 2. Performance Bond  

 To assure full and faithful performance in the construction of required improvements in   

 accordance with approved construction plans, the applicant shall provide security in an   

 amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the estimated cost of the    

 improvements. In the event the applicant fails to carry out all provisions of the approved  

 improvements plans and the City has non-reimbursed costs or expenses resulting from   

 such failure, the City shall call on the security for reimbursement. Security may be   

 provided in the form of a surety bond executed by a surety company authorized to  

 transact business in the State of Oregon, or a cash deposit, or irrevocable letter of credit, or 

 other form of security acceptable to the City. 

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 91-922, § 3; Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

16.106108.030 Construction 

A.  Initiation of Construction  

Actual construction of improvements shall not begin, or after a discontinuance, be restarted until the 

City is notified in writing. 

B.  Inspection  

82



 

   
 

All construction shall be done to the City's specifications. The City shall perform inspections to verify 

compliance with approved plans and shall make a final inspection of the construction at such time as the 

improvements are complete. The City may require changes in typical sections and details, if unusual 

conditions warrant the change. 

C.  As-Built Plans  

A complete set of reproducible plans and an electronic copy of the base files in “AutoCad” or PDF format 

showing the public improvements as built shall be filed with the City upon completion of the 

improvements. 

D.  Suspension of Improvements Activity  

The City shall have the authority to may cause a suspension of improvement construction or engineering 

when, in the opinion of the City, work is not being done to the City's satisfaction.  

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

16.106108.040 Acceptance of Improvements 

A.  Final Inspection  

At such time as all public improvements, except those specifically approved for later installation, have 

been completed, the applicant shall notify the City of the readiness for final inspection. 

B.  Notification of Acceptance  

The City shall give written notification notice of the acceptance of the improvements upon finding that 

the applicant has met the requirements of this Chapter and the specifications of all approved plans. 

C.  Maintenance Bond  

Prior to At the time of City acceptance of public improvements, the applicant shall file with provide the 

City a maintenance bond computed at ten percent (10%) of the full value of the improvements, for the 

purpose of correcting to provide for correction of any defective work or maintenance that becomesing 

apparent or arisesing within one two (12) years after final acceptance of the public improvements.  

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

 

 

 

 

 

83



 

   
 

  Division VII.-LAND DIVISIONS 

SUBDIVISIONS,  AND PARTITIONS, LOT LINE ADJUSTMENTS AND MODIFICATIONS 

  Chapter 16.120 

GENERAL PROVISIONSSUBDIVISIONS*  

Sections: 

16.120.010 Purpose 

16.120.020 General Subdivision Provisions 

16.120.030 Platting AuthorityApproval Procedure: Preliminary Plat 

16.120.040 Approval Criteria: Preliminary Plat 

16.120.050 Final Subdivision Plat  

16.120.060 Improvement Agreement 

16.120.070 Bond 

16.120.080 Filing and Recording 

 

* Editor's Note: Some sections may not contain a history. 

16.120.010 Purpose  

Subdivision and land partitioning regulations are intended to promote the public health, safety and 

general welfare; lessen traffic congestion; provide adequate light and air; prevent overcrowding of land; 

and facilitate adequate water supply, sewage and drainage.  

(Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

16.120.020 General Subdivision Provisions 

A. Approval of a subdivision occurs through a two-step process: the preliminary plat and the final plat.  

1. The preliminary plat shall be approved by the Approval Authority before the final plat can be 

submitted for approval consideration; and  

2. The final plat shall reflect all conditions of approval of the preliminary plat.  

B. All subdivision proposals shall conform to all state regulations set forth in ORS Chapter 92, 

Subdivisions and Partitions.  

C. Future re-division  

When subdividing tracts into large lots, the Approval Authority shall require that the lots be of such size 

and shape as to facilitate future re-division in accordance with the requirements of the zoning district 

and this Division.  

84



 

   
 

D. Future Partitioning  

When subdividing tracts into large lots which may be resubdivided, the City shall require that the lots be 

of a size and shape, and apply additional building site restrictions, to allow for the subsequent division of 

any parcel into lots of smaller size and the creation and extension of future streets. 

E. Lot averaging  

Lot size may be averaged to allow lots less than the minimum lot size allowed in the underlying zoning 

district subject to the following regulations: 

 1.  The average lot area for all lots is not less than allowed by the underlying zoning district.  

 2. No lot created under this provision shall be less than 80% of the minimum lot size allowed in 

 the underlying zoning district.  

F.  Required Setbacks  

All required building setback lines as established by this Code, shall be shown in the preliminary 

subdivision plat or included in the deed restrictions. 

DG.  Property Sales  

No property shall be disposed of, transferred, or sold until required subdivision approvals are obtained, 

pursuant to this Code.  

 

16.120.020 030 Platting AuthorityApproval Procedure-Preliminary Plat 

A.  Approval Authority 

1. The approving authority for preliminary and final plats of subdivisions shall be in accordance 

 with Section 16.72.010 of this Code. 

 a. A subdivision application for 4-10 lots will follow a Type II review process. 

 b. A subdivision application for 11-50 lots will follow a Type III review process. 

 c. A subdivision application for over 50 lots will follow a Type IV review process. 

2. Approval of subdivisions and partitions is required in accordance with this Code before a plat for 

 any such subdivision or partition may be filed or recorded with Washington County. Appeals to a 

 decision may be filed pursuant to Chapter 16.76. 

B.  Future Partitioning  

85



 

   
 

When subdividing tracts into large lots which may be resubdivided, the City shall require that the lots be 

of a size and shape, and apply additional building site restrictions, to allow for the subsequent division of 

any parcel into lots of smaller size and the creation and extension of future streets. 

C.  Required Setbacks  

All required building setback lines as established by this Code, shall be shown in the subdivision plat or 

included in the deed restrictions. 

D.  Property Sales  

No property shall be disposed of, transferred, or sold until required subdivision or partition approvals 

are obtained, pursuant to this Code. 

 B.  Phased Development 

1.  The Approval Authority may approve a time schedule for developing a subdivision in phases, but 

 in no case shall the actual construction time period for any phase be greater than two years 

 without reapplying for a preliminary plat. 

2.  The criteria for approving a phased subdivision review proposal are:  
 a. The public facilities shall be scheduled to be constructed in conjunction with or prior to each 
 phase to ensure provision of public facilities prior to building occupancy;  
  
 b. The development and occupancy of any phase shall not be dependent on the use of 
 temporary public facilities:  
  
 (1) For purposes of this subsection, a temporary public facility is an interim facility not 
 constructed to the applicable City or district standard; and  
 
 (2) The phased development shall not result in requiring the City or other property owners to 
 construct public facilities that were required as a part of the approval of the preliminary plat.  
 

3.  The application for phased development approval shall be reviewed concurrently with the 

 preliminary plat application and the decision may be appealed in the same manner as the 

 preliminary plat. 

C.  Required Findings16.120.040 Approval Criteria: Preliminary Plat  

No preliminary plat shall be approved unless: 

1A.. Streets and roads conform to plats approved for adjoining properties as to widths, alignments, 

grades, and other standards, unless the City determines that the public interest is served by modifying 

streets or road patterns. 

 

86



 

   
 

2B. Streets and roads held for private use are clearly indicated on the plat and all reservations or 

restrictions relating to such private roads and streets are set forth thereon. 

 

3C.. The plat complies with applicable zoning district standards and design standards in Division II, 

and all provisions of Divisions IV, VI, VIII and IX. The subdivision complies with Chapter 16.128 (Land 

Division Design Standards).. 

4D.. Adequate water, sanitary sewer, and other public facilities exist to support the use of land 

proposed in the plat. 

5.E. Development of additional, contiguous property under the same ownership can be 

accomplished in accordance with this Code. 

6F. Adjoining land can either be developed independently or is provided access that will allow 

development in accordance with this Code. 

7G. Tree and woodland inventories have been submitted and approved as per Section 16.142.060.  

IH. The preliminary plat clearly shows the proposed lot numbers, setbacks, dedications and easements. 

8. JI. A minimum of five percent (5%) open space has been provided per § 16.44.B.8 (Townhome-

Standards) or §16.142.020(Parks, Open Spaces and Trees-Single-Family Residential Subdivisions), if 

applicable. *NOTE: Added with PA 11-02- Parks and Open Space in New Subdivisions. 

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 98-1053, § 1; Ord. 94-991, § 1; Ord. 91-922, § 3; Ord. 86-851) 

 

Chapter 16.122 

PRELIMINARY PLATS*  

Sections: 

16.122.010 Generally 

* Editor's Note: Some sections may not contain a history. 

16.122.010 Generally 

A.  Approval Required  

All subdivisions and partitions are subject to preliminary plat approval through the Type II, Type III or 

Type IV review processes. Approval of the preliminary plat shall not constitute final acceptance of the 

plat for recording. Approval shall however, be binding upon the City for the purpose of preparation of 

87



 

   
 

the final plat or map, and the City may only require such changes in the plat or map as are necessary for 

compliance with the terms of preliminary plat approval. 

B.  Action  

The City shall review preliminary plat applications submitted in accordance with Section 16.70 and 

approve, approve with conditions, or deny the application. Conditions may be imposed by the Hearing 

Authority if necessary to fulfill the requirements of the adopted Comprehensive Plan, Transportation 

System Plan or the Zoning and Community Development Code. The action of the City shall be noted on 

two (2) copies of the preliminary plat, including references to any attached documents describing any 

conditions or restrictions. One (1) copy shall be returned to the applicant with a notice of decision and 

one (1) retained by the City along with other applicable records. 

  Chapter 16.124 

FINAL PLATS*  

Sections: 

16.124.010 Generally 

16.124.020 Final Plat Review 

16.124.030 Creation of Streets 

* Editor's Note: Some sections may not contain a history. 

16.124.010 Generally 16.120.050 Final Subdivision Plat 

 

A.  Time LimitsProcedure  

1.  Unless otherwise noted below, Within two (2) years after approval of the preliminary plat, a 

final plat shall be submitted.final subdivision approval includes meeting all conditions from the land use 

 approval, review and approval by County, and the signature of the City’s designee on the mylar.  

2.  The subdivider shall submit to the City six (6) copies of the final plat, and all supplementary 

 information required by the Planning Department or pursuant to this Code.  

3.  Upon approval of the final plat drawing, the applicant may submit the mylar for final 

 signature. 

4.  All requirements for signature of the mylar shall be completed within two years of approval of 

 the final plat.  

B.  Extensions  

88



 

   
 

After the expiration of the two (2) year period following preliminary plat approval, the plat must be 

resubmitted for new approval.If the final plat is not approved within two (2) years, the preliminary plat 

approval shall expire and a new plat must be submitted. However,  Tthe City may, upon written request 

by the applicant, grant a single extension up to one (1) year upon a written finding that the facts upon 

which approval was based have not changed to an extent sufficient to warrant refiling of the preliminary 

plat and that no other development approval would be affected. For preliminary plat approvals granted 

on or afterbetween January 1, 2007 through and December 31, 2009, the approval shall be extended 

until December 31, 2013. 

C.  Staging  

The City may authorize platting and development to proceed in stages that exceed two (2) years, but in 

no case shall the total time period for all stages be greater than five (5) years. Each stage shall conform 

to the applicable requirements of this Code. Portions platted or developed after the passage of two (2) 

years may be required to be modified in accordance with any change to the Comprehensive Plan or this 

Code. 

DC.  Shown on PlatApproval Criteria: Final Plat  

 

The following information shall be shown on the final plat:By means of a Type I procedure, the City shall 

review the final plat based on findings regarding compliance with the following criteria: 

1. The final plat is consistent in design (e.g., number and dimensions of lots, easements, tracts, 

right-of-way) with the approved preliminary plat, and all conditions of approval have been 

satisfied; 

2. All public improvements required by the preliminary plat have been installed and approved by 

the City Engineer or appropriate service provider (e.g., road authority).  Alternatively, the 

developer has provided a performance guarantee in accordance with § 16.120.070. 

3. The streets and roads for public use are dedicated without reservation or restriction other than 

reversionary rights upon vacation of any such street or road and easements for public utilities; 

4. The plat and deed contain a dedication to the public of all public improvements, including but 

not limited to streets, public pathways and trails, access reserve strips, parks, sewage disposal, 

storm drainage and water supply systems; 

5. The applicant has provided copies of all recorded homeowners association Covenants, 

Conditions and Restrictions (CC&R’s); deed restrictions; private easements and agreements 

(e.g., for access, common areas, parking, etc.); and other recorded documents pertaining to 

common improvements recorded and referenced on the plat; 

6. The plat complies with the applicable Sections of this code (i.e., there have been no changes in 
land use or development resulting in a code violation since preliminary plat approval); 

89



 

   
 

 
7. Certification by the City or service district, as applicable, that water and sanitary sewer service is 

available to every lot depicted on the plat; or bond, contract or other assurance has been 
provided by the subdivider/partitioner to the City that such services will be installed in 
accordance Division VI of this Code, and the bond requirements of 16.120.070.The amount of 
the bond, contract or other assurance by the subdivider/partitioner shall be determined by a 
registered professional engineer, subject to review and approval by the City; 

 
8. The plat contains an affidavit by the surveyor who surveyed the land, represented on the plat to 

the effect the land was correctly surveyed and marked with proper monuments as provided by 
ORS Chapter 92, indicating the initial point of the survey, and giving the dimensions and kind of 
such monument and its reference to some corner established by the U.S. Geological Survey, or 
giving two or more permanent objects for identifying its location.   

1. Date of approval, scale, north arrow, legend, and controlling topography such as creeks, 

highways, and railroads. 

2. Legal description of the plat boundaries. 

3. Existing surveys related to the plat by distances and bearings, and referenced as follows: 

 a. The location and description of all stakes, monuments, and other evidence used to 

 determine the boundaries of the subdivision. 

 b. Adjoining corners of all contiguous subdivisions. 

 c. Section, township, range, donation land claim lines and boundaries of any lots within 

 previously recorded subdivision plats within or adjacent to the plat. 

 d. Location and description of all monuments found or established in making the survey of 

 the subdivision or required to be installed by the provisions of this Code. 

4. Tract, block and lot boundary lines, and street rights-of-way and centerlines, with dimensions, 

bearings, radii, arcs, delta angles, points of curvature and tangent bearings. Normal highwater lines for 

any creek or other body of water shall be shown. Error of closure shall be within the limits of one (1) 

foot in four thousand (4,000) feet. No ditto marks shall be used. Lots containing one (1) acre or more 

shall be shown to the nearest 0.01 feet. Bearings shall be shown to the nearest thirty (30) seconds with 

basis of bearings. 

5. The width of streets being dedicated, the width of any existing rights-of-way, and the widths on 

each side of the centerline. For streets on curvature, curve data shall be based on the street centerline, 

and in addition to centerline dimensions shall indicate the radius and central angle. This data may be 

shown in a table. 

6. Easements within or adjacent to the plat denoted by fine dotted lines, clearly identified, and, if 

already of record, a recorded reference. If any easement is not of record, a statement of the easement 

90



 

   
 

showing the widths of the easement and the lengths and bearings of the lines thereof, and sufficient ties 

thereto, shall be properly referenced in the certificate of dedication. 

7. Lot numbers beginning with the number "1" and numbered consecutively in each block. Block 

numbers, if used, should begin with the number "1" and continue consecutively without omission or 

duplication. The numbers shall be solid, of sufficient size and thickness to stand out, and so placed as 

not to obliterate any figure. Block numbers in addition to a subdivision of the same name shall be a 

continuation of the numbering in the plat last filed. 

8. Land parcels to be dedicated for any purpose are to be distinguished from lots intended for sale, 

and titled to identify their intended use. 

9. The following certificates, which may be combined where appropriate: 

  a. A certificate signed and acknowledged by all parties having any record title interest in 

 and to the land subdivided, consenting to the preparation and recording of the map and 

 dedicating all parcels of land shown on the final map and intended for public use. 

  b. An affidavit signed by the engineer or the surveyor responsible for the survey and final 

 map, the signature of such engineer or surveyor to be accompanied by a professional seal. 

  c. Provisions for all other certifications required. 

E.  Submitted With Plat  

The following information shall be submitted with the final plat: 

 1. A preliminary title report issued by a title insurance company in the name of the owner  of the 

land, showing the interest of all parties. 

2. Sheets and drawings showing the following: 

 a. Traverse data showing the error of closure, including the coordinates of the boundary of 

 the subdivision and ties to section corners and donation land claim corners. 

 

  b. Ties to existing monuments, proposed monuments, adjacent subdivisions, street 

 corners, and state highway stationing. 

 

 3. Copies of any deed restrictions and dedications, including building setbacks. 

 

 4. Proof that all taxes and assessments on the tract are paid for the current year.  

91



 

   
 

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. No. 2010-06, § 2, 4-6-2010; Ord. 2003-1148, § 3; Ord. 98-1053 

§ 1; Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

 

16.120.060 Improvement Agreement 

16.124.020 Final Plat Review 

A.  Subdivision Agreement  

The subdivider shall either install required improvements and repair existing streets and other public 

facilities damaged in the development of the subdivision pursuant to the Division VI, or execute and file 

with the City an agreement specifying the period within which all required improvements and repairs 

shall be completed, and providing that if such work is not completed within the period specified, the City 

may complete the same and recover the full cost and expense thereof from the subdivider. Such 

agreement may also provide for the construction of the improvements in stages. 

B.  Performance Security  

The subdivider shall provide monetary assurance of full and faithful performance in the form of a bond, 

cash, or other security acceptable to the City in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the 

estimated cost of the improvements.  

A.  Approval  

The final plat shall provide for the dedication of all streets for which approval has been given by 

the City. Approval of the final plat shall constitute acceptance of street dedications. 

B.  Exceptions  

The Council, upon recommendation by the City Manager, may approve the creation and 

dedication of a street without full compliance with this Code. The applicant may be required to 

submit additional information and justification necessary to determine the proposal's 

acceptability. The City may attach such conditions as necessary to provide conformance to the 

standards of this Code. One or more of the following conditions must apply: 

1. The street creation is required by the City and is essential to general traffic circulation. 

2. The tract in which the road or street is to be dedicated is an isolated ownership of one 

(1) acre or less. 

C.  Easements  

Any access which is created to allow partitioning for the purpose of development, or transfer of 

ownership shall be in the form of a dedicated street, provided however that easements may be 

allowed when: 

92



 

   
 

1. The access is to a parcel exceeding five (5) acres in size, and used for agriculture, 

horticulture, grazing, or timber growing, or 

2. The easement is the only reasonable method by which the rear portion of an unusually 

deep lot, large enough to warrant partitioning into two (2) or more parcels, may obtain access. 

Such easement shall conform to all other access provisions of this Code.  

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

c.  Utilities  

Easements for sewers, drainage, water mains, electric lines, or other utilities shall be dedicated 

or provided for by deed. Easements shall be a minimum of ten (10) feet in width and centered 

on rear or side lot lines; except for tie-back easements, which shall be six (6) feet wide by twenty 

(20) feet long on side lot lines at the change of direction. 

d.  Drainages  

Where a subdivision is traversed by a watercourse, drainage way, channel or street, drainage 

easements or rights-of-way shall be provided conforming substantially to the alignment and size 

of the drainage.  

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

16.120.070 Bond  
A. Performance guarantee required. As required by Section 16.120.060, the subdivider shall file with the 
agreement an assurance of performance supported by one of the following:  
 
1.  A surety bond executed by a surety company authorized to transact business in the state of 
 Oregon which remains in force until the surety company is notified by the City in writing that it 
 may be terminated or cash. 
 
 
2.  Determination of sum. The assurance of performance shall be for a sum determined by the 
 City Engineer as required to cover the cost of the improvements and repairs, including related 
 engineering and incidental expenses.  
 
3.  Itemized improvement estimate. The subdivider shall furnish to the City Engineer an itemized 
 improvement estimate, certified by a registered civil engineer, to assist the City Engineer in 
 calculating the amount of the performance assurance.  
 
4.  When subdivider fails to perform. In the event the subdivider fails to carry out all provisions of 
 the agreement and the City has un-reimbursed costs or expenses resulting from such failure, the 
 City shall call on the bond, cash deposit for reimbursement.  
 
5.  Termination of performance guarantee. The subdivider shall not cause termination of nor allow 
 expiration of said guarantee without having first secured written authorization from the City.  

93



 

   
 

 

C.  Staff Review  

If City review determines that the final plat is in full conformance with the preliminary plat and this 

Code, the final plat shall be referred to the City Manager or his/her designee for final approval. If the 

final plat is not in full conformance, the subdivider shall be advised of necessary changes or additions. 

16.120.080 Filing and Recording of Final Subdivision Plat 

D.  Plat Approval  

A.  County Review 

When the City Manager or his/her designee determines that the plat conforms to all requirements, the 

plat shall be authorized for review by the County.pproved. Approval of the plat does not constitute an 

acceptance by the City of the responsibility for maintenance or development of any street or other 

easement shown on the plat. 

EB.  County ApprovalRecording the Plat  

After approval, the City shall authorize the transmittal of the final map, tracing, and other data to 

Washington Countythe County, to determine that there has been compliance with all provisions of State 

and local statutes. The County may make such checks in the field as necessary to verify that the map is 

sufficiently correct on the ground. When the County finds the documents in full conformance and has 

been paid the statutory fee for such service, approval of the plat shall be given by applicable County 

officers. Approval of the final plat shall be null and void if the plat is not recorded within sixty (60) days 

after the date of the last required approving signatures have been obtained. 

FC.  Effective Date  

Subdivision approval shall become final upon the recording with the County of the approved subdivision 

plat or partition map together with any required documents. Development permits may be issued only 

after final approval, except for activities at the preliminary plat phase, specifically authorized by this 

Code. 

 G.  Required Findings  

No final subdivision plat shall be approved unless: 

1. All required public streets and floodplain areas are dedicated without any reservation or 

restriction other than easements for public utilities and facilities. 

2. Streets and roads held for private use have been approved by the City. 

3. The plat complies with the standards of the underlying zoning district and other applicable 

standards of this Code and is in conformity with the approved preliminary plat. 

94



 

   
 

4. The plat dedicates to the public all required common improvements and areas, including but not 

limited to streets, floodplains, parks, sanitary sewer, storm water, and water supply systems. 

5. Adequate water, sanitary sewer and other public facilities exist to support the proposed use of 

the subdivided land, as determined by the City and are in compliance with City standards. For the 

purposes of this section: 

a. Adequate water service shall be deemed to be connection to the City water supply system. 

b. Adequate sanitary sewer service shall be deemed to be connection to the City sewer system. 

c. The adequacy of other public facilities such as storm water and streets shall be determined by 

the City based on applicable City policies, plans, and standards for said facilities. 

6. Adjoining land can be developed, or is provided access that will allow future development, in 

accordance with this Code.  

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 98-1053 § 1; 94-991; Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

 

16.124.030 Creation of Streets 

  Chapter 16.126 

DESIGN STANDARDS*  

Sections: 

16.126.010 Blocks 

16.126.020 Easements 

16.126.030 Pedestrian and Bicycle Ways 

16.126.040 Lots 

* Editor's Note: Some sections may not contain a history. 

16.126.010 Blocks 

A.  Connectivity 

1. Block Size. The length, width, and shape of blocks shall be designed to provide adequate 

building sites for the uses proposed, and for convenient access, circulation, traffic control and safety. 

 

95



 

   
 

2. Block Length. Block length standards shall be in accordance with Section 16.108.040. Generally, 

blocks shall not exceed five-hundred thirty (530) feet in length, except blocks adjacent to principal 

arterial, which shall not exceed one thousand eight hundred (1,800) feet. The extension of streets and 

the formation of blocks shall conform to the Local Street Network map contained in the Transportation 

System Plan. 

3. Pedestrian and Bicycle Connectivity. Paved bike and pedestrian accessways shall be provided on 

public easements or right-of-way consistent with Figure 7.401. 

Figure 7.401 -- Block Connectivity 

GRAPHIC UNAVAILABLE: Click here  

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 2006-021; 2005-009, § 5; 2000-1103, § 3; Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

16.126.020 Easements 

A.  Utilities  

Easements for sewers, drainage, water mains, electric lines, or other utilities shall be dedicated or 

provided for by deed. Easements shall be a minimum of ten (10) feet in width and centered on rear or 

side lot lines; except for tie-back easements, which shall be six (6) feet wide by twenty (20) feet long on 

side lot lines at the change of direction. 

B.  Drainages  

Where a subdivision is traversed by a watercourse, drainage way, channel or street, drainage easements 

or rights-of-way shall be provided conforming substantially to the alignment and size of the drainage.  

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

16.126.030 Pedestrian and Bicycle Ways  

Pedestrian or bicycle ways may be required to connect cul-de-sacs, divide through an unusually long or 

oddly shaped block, or to otherwise provide adequate circulation.  

(Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

16.126.040 Lots 

A.  Size and Shape  

Lot size, width, shape, and orientation shall be appropriate for the location and topography of the 

subdivision, and shall comply with applicable zoning district requirements, with the following 

exceptions: 

1. Lots in areas not served by public sewer or water supply, shall conform to any special 

Washington County Health Department standards. 

96



 

   
 

B.  Access  

All lots in a subdivision shall abut a public street, except as allowed for infill development under Chapter 

16.68. 

C.  Double Frontage  

Double frontage and reversed frontage lots are prohibited except where essential to provide separation 

of residential development from railroads, traffic arteries, adjacent nonresidential uses, or to overcome 

specific topographical or orientation problems. A five (5) foot wide or greater easement for planting and 

screening may be required. 

D.  Side Lot Lines  

Side lot lines shall, as far as practicable, run at right angles to the street upon which the lots face, except 

that on curved streets side lot lines shall be radial to the curve of the street. 

E.  Grading  

Grading of building sites shall conform to the following standards, except when topography of physical 

conditions warrant special exceptions: 

1. Cut slopes shall not exceed one and one-half (1 1/2) feet horizontally to one (1) foot vertically. 

2. Fill slopes shall not exceed two (2) feet horizontally to one (1) foot vertically.  

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 2006-021; Ord. 86-851 § 3) 

  Chapter 16.128122  

LAND PARTITIONS*  

Sections: 

16.128122.010 Generally 

16.122.020 Approval Criteria: Preliminary Partition Plat  

16.122.030 Approval Criteria: Final Plat 

16.128122.020 040 Subdivision Partition Compliance 

16.128122.030 050 Dedications 

16.128122.040 060 Filing Requirements 

* Editor's Note: Some sections may not contain a history. 

16.128122.010 Generally 

97



 

   
 

A.  Approval Required  

A tract of land or contiguous tracts under a single ownership shall not be partitioned into two (2) or 

more parcels until a partition application has been approved by the City Manager or his/her designee. 

B.  City Action  

The City Manager or his/her designee shall review the partition applications submitted in accordance 

with Section 16.70 and shall approve, approve with conditions or deny the application. The action of the 

City Manager or his/her designee shall be noted on two (2) copies of the partition, including references 

to any attached documents describing any conditions or restrictions. One (1) copy shall be returned to 

the applicant with a notice of decision and one (1) retained by the City with other applicable records. 

C.  16.122.020 Required FindingsApproval Criteria: Preliminary Plat  

Partitions shall not be approved unless: 

1A. The partition complies with applicable zoning district standards and design standards in Division 

II, and all provisions of Divisions IV, VI, VIII and IX., and complies with Chapter 16.128 (Land Division 

Design Standards). with the standards of the underlying zoning district and other applicable standards of 

this Code. 

2B. The partition dedicates to the public all required common improvements and areas including 

but not limited to streets, parks, floodplains, and sanitary sewer, storm water, and water supply 

systems. 

3C. Adequate water, sanitary sewer and other public facilities exist to support the proposed use of 

the partitioned land, as determined by the City and are in compliance with City standards. For the 

purposes of this section: 

a1. Connection to the City water supply system shall be deemed to be Adequate adequate water 

 service shall be deemed to be connection to the City water supply system. 

b2. Connection to the City sewer system shall be deemed to be adequate Adequate sanitary sewer 

 service shall be deemed to be connection to the City sewer system if sewer lines are within one-

 hundred fifty (150) three- hundred (300) feet of the partition or if the lots created are less than 

 15,000 square feet in area. Installation of private sewage disposal facilities shall be deemed 

 adequate on lots of 15,000 square feet or more if the private system is permitted by County 

 Health and City sewer lines are not within one hundred fifty (150) three hundred (300) feet. 

c3. The adequacy of other public facilities such as storm water and streets shall be determined by 

 the City Manager or his/her designee based on applicable City policies, plans and standards for 

 said facilities. 

 4D. Adjoining land can be developed, or is provided access that will allow future development, in 

 accordance with this Code. 

98



 

   
 

DE.  Future Development Ability  

In addition to the findings required by Section 16.128122.010, the City Manager or his/her designee 

must find, for any partition creating lots averaging one (1) acre or more, that the lots may be re-

partitioned or resubdivided in the future in full compliance with the standards of this Code. The City 

Manager or his/her designee may require the applicant to submit partition drawings or other data 

confirming that the property can be resubdivided. If re-partitioning or resubdividing in full compliance 

with this Code is determined not to be feasible, the City Manager or his/her designee shall either deny 

the proposed partition, require its redesign, or make a finding and condition of approval that no further 

partitioning or subdivision may occur, said condition to be recorded against the property.  

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 2006-021; Ord. 98-1053, § 1; 91-922, § 3; Ord. 86-851) 

  16.122.030: Final Partition Plat 

By means of a Type I procedure, the City shall review the final plat based on findings regarding 

compliance with the following criteria: 

A. The final plat is consistent in design (e.g., number, area, dimensions of lots, easements, tracts, 

right-of-way) with the approved preliminary plat, and all conditions of approval have been 

satisfied; 

B. All public improvements required by the preliminary plat have been installed and approved by 

the City Engineer or appropriate service provider (e.g., road authority).  Alternatively, the 

developer has provided a performance guarantee in accordance with § 16.120.070. 

C. The streets and roads for public use are dedicated without reservation or restriction other than 

reversionary rights upon vacation of any such street or road and easements for public utilities; 

D. The plat and deed contain a dedication to the public of all public improvements, including but 

not limited to streets, public pathways and trails, access reserve strips, parks, sewage disposal 

storm drainage and water supply systems; 

E. The applicant has provided copies of all recorded homeowners association Covenants, 

Conditions and Restrictions (CC&R’s); deed restrictions; private easements and agreements 

(e.g., for access, common areas, parking, etc.); and other recorded documents pertaining to 

common improvements recorded and referenced on the plat; 

F. The plat complies with the applicable Sections of this code (i.e., there have been no changes in 
land use or development resulting in a code violation since preliminary plat approval); 

 
G. The plat contains an affidavit by the surveyor who surveyed the land, represented on the plat to 

the effect the land was correctly surveyed and marked with proper monuments as provided by 
ORS Chapter 92, indicating the initial point of the survey, and giving the dimensions and kind of 
such monument and its reference to some corner established by the U.S. Geological Survey, or 
giving two or more permanent objects for identifying its location.   

99



 

   
 

 

16.128122.020 040 Future Subdivision Compliance 

A.  Generally  

If a partition exceeds two (2) acres and within one (1) year is re-partitioned into more than two (2) 

parcels, and any single parcel is less than one (1) acre in size, full compliance with the subdivision 

regulations of this Code may be required.  

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

16.128.030 Dedications 

A.  Generally  

The City's requirements for dedication of public lands as per this Code, including road rights-of-way and 

greenways, shall apply to partitions. Actual public improvements may not be required at the time of 

partition, at the discretion of the City Manager or his/her designee. 

B.  Dedications Acceptance  

The City Manager shall accept all public dedications by his or her signature on the partition plat prior to 

filing with the County. 

 C.  Owner Declaration  

If a property is being dedicated or donated for public use, the mortgage of trust deed holder of the 

property shall sign a declaration to that effect on the partition plat, or file an affidavit consenting to the 

plat.  

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 98-1053 § 1; Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

 

16.128122.040 050 Filing and Recording Requirements 

A.  Generally  

Within twelve (12) months after City approval of a land partition, a partition plat shall be submitted to 

Washington the County in accordance with its final partition plat and recording requirements. 

B. Time Limit 

The applicant shall submit the copy of the recorded partition to the City within 30 days of recording, and 

shall be completed prior to the issuance of any building permits on the re-configured lots. 

C.  Extension  

100



 

   
 

After expiration of the twelve (12) months period following partition approval, the partition must be 

resubmitted for new approval. The City Manager or his/her designee may, upon written request by the 

applicant, grant an extension up to twelve (12) months upon a written finding that the facts have not 

changed to an extent sufficient to warrant refiling of the partition and that no other development 

approval would be affected. For partitions granted on or afterbetween January 1, 2007 and through 

December 31, 2009, the approval shall be extended until December 31, 2013.  

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. No. 2010-06, § 2, 4-6-2010; Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

  Chapter 16.130124 

PROPERTY LINE ADJUSTMENTS AND LOT CONSOLIDATIONS*  

Sections: 

16.124.010 Approval Process 
16.130124.010 020 GenerallyApproval Criteria 
16.130124.020 030 Filing and Recording Requirements 
* Editor's Note: Some sections may not contain a history. 

16.130124.010 GenerallyApproval Process 

A.  The City Manager or his or her designee may approve a property line adjustment without public 

notice or a public hearing provided that: by means of a Type I procedure as governed by Chapter 16.72, 

using approval criteria contained in this Chapter. 

B.  Time Limit on Approval 

The property line adjustment decision shall be effective for one year from the date of approval. 

C.  Extension of Approval 

If the adjustment is not recorded with the County within one year, the land use approval expires and 

must be resubmitted. The City Manager or his/her designee may, upon written request by the applicant, 

grant an extension up to one year upon a written finding that the facts have not changed to an extent 

sufficient to warrant refiling of the property line adjustment and that no other development approval 

would be affected.,  

16.124.020 Approval Criteria 

A.  The City Manager or his/her designee shall approve or deny a request for a property line 

 adjustment in writing based on findings that the following criteria are satisfied: 

1. No new lots are created 

2. The adjusted lots comply with the applicable zone requirements. 

101



 

   
 

3. The adjusted lots continue to comply with other regulatory agency or department 

 requirements. 

B.  If the property line adjustment is processed with another development application, all 

 applicable standards of the Code shall apply.  

(16.130124.020 030 Filing and Recording Requirements  

A.  Recording Requirements If a property line adjustment is approved by the City, it does not 

 become final until reviewed and approved by Washington County in accordance with its 

 property line adjustment recording requirements.  

B.  Time Limit The applicant shall submit the copy of the recorded property line adjustment survey 

 map to the City within 30 days of recording and shall be completed prior to the issuance of any 

 building permits on the re-configured lots.  

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

 

16.126 REPLATTING, LOT CONSOLIDATIONS AND VACATION OF PLATS  
16.126.010. Generally 
16.126.020 Basis for Denial.  
16.126.030. Timing of Vacations.  
16.126.040 After Sale of Lots. 
16.126.050 Lot Consolidations 

 
16.126.010. Generally 
A.   Any plat or portion thereof may be re-platted, consolidated or vacated upon receiving an 
 application signed by all of the owners as appearing on the deed. 
 
B.  All applications for a plat shall be made in accordance with the subdivision or the partition 
 provisions within this Division and processed under the Type I procedure. 
 
16.126.020 Basis for Denial  
The application may be denied if it abridges or destroys any public right in any of its public uses, 
improvements, streets or alleys.  
 
16.126.030. Timing of Vacations 
All approved plat vacations shall be recorded in accordance with Section 16.122.010:  
 
A.  Once recorded, the vacation shall operate to eliminate the force and effect of the plat prior to 
 vacation; and  
 
B.  The vacation shall also divest all public rights in the streets, alleys and public grounds, and all 
 dedications laid out or described on the plat.  
 

102



 

   
 

16.126.040 After Sale of Lots 
 
When lots have been sold, the plat may be vacated in the manner herein provided by all of the owners 
of lots within the platted area.  
 
16.126.050 Lot Consolidations 

Upon approval of a Type I lot consolidation by the City Manager or designee, and upon demonstrating 

compliance with approval conditions:  

A.  For the consolidation of lots or parcels of a recorded plat, the lot consolidation shall be 

 finalized by a replat of the subdivision or partition.  

B.  The County may consolidate parcels or tracts of land that are not within a recorded plat.  

 

  Chapter 16.126128 LAND DIVISION DESIGN STANDARDS *  

16.126128.010 Blocks 
16.126128.020 Pedestrian and Bicycle Ways 
16.126128.030 Lots 
* Editor's Note: Some sections may not contain a history. 
16.126128.010 Blocks 
 

A.  Connectivity 

1. Block Size. 

  The length, width, and shape of blocks shall be designed to provide adequate building sites for 

 the uses proposed, and for convenient access, circulation, traffic control and safety. 

2. Block Length 

 Block length standards shall be in accordance with Section 16.108.040. Generally, blocks shall 

 not exceed five-hundred thirty (530) feet in length, except blocks adjacent to principal arterial, 

 which shall not exceed one thousand eight hundred (1,800) feet. The extension of streets and 

 the formation of blocks shall conform to the Local Street Network map contained in the 

 Transportation System Plan. 

3. Pedestrian and Bicycle Connectivity. Paved bike and pedestrian accessways shall be provided on 

 public easements or right-of-way consistent with Figure 7.401. 

Figure 7.401 -- Block Connectivity 

 (Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 2006-021; 2005-009, § 5; 2000-1103, § 3; Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

103



 

   
 

A.B.  Utilities  

Easements for sewers, drainage, water mains, electric lines, or other utilities shall be dedicated or 

provided for by deed. Easements shall be a minimum of ten (10) feet in width and centered on rear or 

side lot lines; except for tie-back easements, which shall be six (6) feet wide by twenty (20) feet long on 

side lot lines at the change of direction. 

BC.  Drainages  

Where a subdivision is traversed by a watercourse, drainage way, channel or street, drainage easements 

or rights-of-way shall be provided conforming substantially to the alignment and size of the drainage.  

(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10-5-2010; Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

16.126128.020 Pedestrian and Bicycle Ways  

Pedestrian or bicycle ways may be required to connect cul-de-sacs, divide through an unusually long or 

oddly shaped block, or to otherwise provide adequate circulation.  

(Ord. 86-851, § 3) 

16.126128.030 Lots 

A.  Size and Shape  

Lot size, width, shape, and orientation shall be appropriate for the location and topography of the 

subdivision or partition, and shall comply with applicable zoning district requirements, with the 

following exceptions: 

1. Lots in areas not served by public sewer or water supply shall conform to any special  Washington  

County Health Department standards. 

B.  Access  
 All lots in a subdivision shall abut a public street, except as allowed for infill development under 
 Chapter 16.68. 
 
C.  Double Frontage  

 Double frontage and reversed frontage lots are prohibited except where essential to provide 

 separation of residential development from railroads, traffic arteries, adjacent nonresidential 

 uses, or to overcome specific topographical or orientation problems. A five (5) foot wide or 

 greater easement for planting and screening may be required. 

D.  Side Lot Lines Side lot lines shall, as far as practicable, run at right angles to the street upon 

 which the lots face, except that on curved streets side lot lines shall be radial to the curve of the 

 street. 

104



 

   
 

E.  Grading  

 Grading of building sites shall conform to the following standards, except when topography of 

 physical conditions warrants special exceptions: 

1. Cut slopes shall not exceed one and one-half (1 1/2) feet horizontally to one (1) foot vertically. 

2. Fill slopes shall not exceed two (2) feet horizontally to one (1) foot vertically.  

  

105



 

   
 

Chapter 16.72  PROCEDURES FOR PROCESSING DEVELOPMENT PERMITS* 
Sections: 
16.72.010  Generally  
16.72.020  Public Notice and Hearing  
16.72.030  Content of Notice  
16.72.040  Planning Staff Reports  
16.72.050  Conduct of Public Hearings  
16.72.060  Notice of Decision  
16.72.070  Registry of Decisions  
16.72.080  Final Action on Permit or Zone Change  
 
16.72.010  Generally 
A.   Classifications 
Except for Final Development Plans for Planned Unit Developments, which are reviewed per Section 
16.40.030, all quasi-judicial development permit applications and legislative land use actions shall be 
classified as one of the following: 
 
1.   Type I 
The following quasi-judicial actions shall be subject to a Type I review process: 
a.   Signs 
b.   Property Line Adjustments 
c.   Interpretation of Similar Uses 
d.   Temporary Uses 
e.   Final subdivision and partition plats 
f.   Final Site Plan Review 
g.   Time extensions of approval, per Sections 16.90.020; 16.124.010 
h.   Class A Home Occupation Permits 
i.   Interpretive Decisions by the City Manager or his/her designee 
j.   Tree Removal Permit - a street trees over five (5) inches DBH, per Section 16.142.050.B.2 and 3. 
k.   Adjustments 
l. Replatting, Lot Consolidations and Vacations of Plats 
m. Minor Modifications to Approved Site Plans 
 
2.   Type II 
The following quasi-judicial actions shall be subject to a Type II review process: 
a.   Land Partitions 
b.   Expedited Land Divisions - The Planning Director shall make a decision based on the information 
presented, and shall issue a development permit if the applicant has complied with all of the relevant 
requirements of the Zoning and Community Development Code. Conditions may be imposed by the 
Planning Director if necessary to fulfill the requirements of the adopted Comprehensive Plan, 
Transportation System Plan or the Zoning and Community Development Code. 
c.   "Fast-track" Site Plan review, defined as those site plan applications which propose less than 15,000 
square feet of floor area, parking or seating capacity of public, institutional, commercial or industrial use 
permitted by the underlying zone, or up to a total of 20% increase in floor area, parking or seating 
capacity for a land use or structure subject to conditional use permit, except as follows: auditoriums, 
theaters, stadiums, and those applications subject to Section 16.72.010.4, below. 
d.   "Design Upgraded" Site Plan review, defined as those site plan applications which propose between 
15,001 and 40,000 square feet of floor area, parking or seating capacity and which propose a minimum 

106

http://library3.municode.com/default-now/DocView/16625/1/21/24#0-0-0-1919
http://library3.municode.com/default-now/DocView/16625/1/21/24#0-0-0-1921
http://library3.municode.com/default-now/DocView/16625/1/21/24#0-0-0-1923
http://library3.municode.com/default-now/DocView/16625/1/21/24#0-0-0-1925
http://library3.municode.com/default-now/DocView/16625/1/21/24#0-0-0-1927
http://library3.municode.com/default-now/DocView/16625/1/21/24#0-0-0-1929
http://library3.municode.com/default-now/DocView/16625/1/21/24#0-0-0-1931
http://library3.municode.com/default-now/DocView/16625/1/21/24#0-0-0-1933


 

   
 

of eighty percent (80%) of the total possible points of design criteria in the "Commercial Design Review 
Matrix" found in Section 16.90.020.4.G.4. 
e.   Industrial "Design Upgraded" projects, defined as those site plan applications which propose 
between 15,001 and 60,000 square feet of floor area, parking or seating capacity and which meet all of 
the criteria in 16.90.020.4.H.1. 
f.   Class B Variance 
g. Street Design Modification  
h. Subdivisions between 4-10 lots 
 
3.   Type III 
The following quasi-judicial actions shall be subject to a Type III review process: 
a.   Conditional Uses 
b.   Site Plan Review -- between 15,001 and 40,000 square feet of floor area, parking or seating capacity 
except those within the Old Town Overlay District, per Section 16.72.010.4, below. 
c.   Subdivisions -- Less thanbetween 11- 50 lots. 
 
4.   Type IV 
The following quasi-judicial actions shall be subject to a Type IV review process: 
a.   Site Plan review and/or "Fast Track" Site Plan review of new or existing structures in the Old Town 
Overlay District. 
b.   All quasi-judicial actions not otherwise assigned to a Hearing Authority under this section. 
c.   Site Plans -- Greater than 40,000 square feet of floor area, parking or seating capacity. 
d.   Site Plans subject to Section 16.90.020.4.G.6. 
e.   Industrial Site Plans subject to Section 16.90.020.4.H.2. 
f.   Subdivisions -- More thanover 50 lots. 
g.   Class A Variance 
 
5.   Type V 
The following legislative actions shall be subject to a Type V review process: 
a.   Plan Map Amendments 
b.   Plan Text Amendments 
c.   Planned Unit Development -- Preliminary Development Plan and Overlay District. 
 

 

107


	City Council Packet Cover 10.04
	City Council Agenda for 10.04
	09.12.11 Draft City Council Minutes
	09.20.11 Draft City Council Minutes
	Resolution 2011-083 Approving Leasing of Police Vehicles-STAFF REPORT 10.01
	Resolution 2011-083 Approving Leasing of Police Vehicles-DRAFT 10.04
	Resolution 2011-084 Authorizing Signature on UASI Agreement-STAFF REPORT 10.04
	Resolution 2011-084 Authorizing Signature on UASI Agreement-DRAFT 10.04
	Resolution 2011-084 Authorizing Signature on UASI Agreement EXH A 10.04.11
	Resolution 2011-085 for On-Call Enviro Eng. Services-STAFF REPORT 10.04
	Resolution 2011-085 for On-Call Enviro Eng. Services-DRAFT 10.04
	Resolution 2011-085 for On-Call Enviro Eng. Services-EXh A & B 10.04.11
	Resolution 2011-086 City Manager pro tem out of class-DRAFT
	Ordinance 2011-011 Amending Muni Code Chap 16 Code Update-Executive Summary 10.04
	Ordinance 2011-011 Amending Muni Code Chap 16 Code Update-Staff memo 10.04.11
	Ordinance 2011-011 Amending Muni Code Chap 16 Code Update PA 11-03-DRAFT 10.04
	Ordinance 2011-011 Amending Muni Code Chap 16 Code Update PC Recommendation 10.04
	17  Ordinance 2011-011 Amending Muni Code Chap 16 Code Update-EXh A 10.04.11



